

School of Psychology Ysgol Seicoleg

# A Meta-Review exploring Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) and Eating Disorders and a Grounded Theory Analysis Investigating experiences of Negative Childhood Events and the Anorexic Voice

Thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirement for the

degree of:

## **Doctorate of Clinical Psychology (DClinPsy)**

South Wales Doctoral Programme in Clinical Psychology

Cardiff University

**Georgette Morrison** 

Supervised by: Professor John Fox and Dr Marc Williams

30<sup>th</sup> July 2021

## **Table of Contents**

Acknowledgements	iii
Preface	iv
Paper 1 Associations between Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) and Eating Disorders: A Meta-Review	1
Abstract	3
Introduction	4
Method	9
Protocol and Registration	9
Systematic Literature Search	9
Eligibility Criteria	9
Study Selection	12
Results of the search strategy	12
Quality Assessment	14
Quality of included Reviews	17
Critical Domains Non-Critical Domains	20
Review Overlap	21
Results	22
Characteristics of Reviews	22
Participants	22
Sample Formation	22
Designs included in Reviews	23
ACEs Included in Reviews	23
ACE Assessment Tools	26
Eating Disorder Assessment Tools	28
Results of Reviews	30
Discussion	37
ACEs and Eating Disorders	39

Methodological Variability	41
Limitation	44
Clinical Implications	45
Conclusion	46
References	48

Paper 2 The Role of Negative Childhood Events in the Development of the Anorexic Voice: A Grounded theory Study	75
Abstract	77
Introduction	78
Methods	84
Design	84
Recruitment of Participants	84
Participants	85
Data Collection and Procedures	87
Data collection	87
Interview schedule	87
Measures	88
Ethical Considerations	89
Data Analysis	90
Coding	90
Theoretical Sampling	91
Methods to ensure and control Quality	92
Reflexivity	94
Respondent Validation	95
Results	96
Discussion	109
Limitations and Future Research	111
Clinical Implications	113

Conclusion	113
References	116

List of Appendices						
Appendix A. Journal guidelines: International Journal of Eating Disorders	137					
Appendix B. PROSPERO registration confirmation email	161					
Appendix C. Example of AMSTAR assessments	162					
Appendix D. Table of ACEs and definitions	170					
Appendix E. Search Strategy	173					
Appendix F. Table of Outcome Measures included in Reviews	175					
Appendix G. Table of overlapping articles	176					
Appendix H. Operationalised plan of risk assessment and management	181					
Appendix I. Online Qualtrics questionnaire: Participant Information sheet, Consent Form, Demographic questions	188					
Appendix J. Eating Disorder examination questionnaire (EDE-Q 6.0)	200					
Appendix K. The Childhood Traumatic Events Scale (CTES)	201					
Appendix L. Participant debrief sheet	204					
Appendix M. Cardiff University Ethical approval	207					
Appendix N. Extracts of transcribed interviews	208					
Appendix O. Examples of Theoretical Sampling	216					
Appendix P. Coding examples	217					
Appendix Q. Memo examples	221					
Appendix R. Interview schedule	225					
Appendix S. Reflective Journal Excerpts	227					

## Acknowledgements

To the twelve women who shared their experiences. Your bravery and strength were inspiring. It was a privilege to be trusted with your stories, you will always inspire and motivate me.

To my supervisors Prof John Fox and Dr Marc Williams, I cannot put into words my gratitude and appreciation of you both. Your guidance and supervision has been invaluable. There were many times when I didn't think I would get there, your support and containment got me through. Thank you.

My west Wales girls, what an incredible journey we have been on. Thank you for always being alongside me. Thanks to my cohort for keeping me going (and most importantly laughing) during the past three years. It has been a privilege to be part of such an inspiring group. Also, my sincerest thanks to all the staff and supervisors who have guided me and supported me to develop, both clinically, academically, and personally.

Sarah, I could not have imagined this experience without you. You have been there every step of the way. For all the times you listened to me, laughed and cried with me, and supported me in ways you cannot even imagine. I am so glad to have made a friend for life.

To Cara, Natalie, Rhian, Jallaina, Kat, Charlotte, and Robyn, thank you for all your support during the past three years. Thank you for keeping me going, for the care packages, for being understanding, for making me laugh and for having faith in me. My tribe and my biggest supporters. I will be forever grateful and cannot wait to celebrate with you all.

My wonderful parents. I do not know where to begin with thanking you. You have always believed in me and taught me that the stars are the limit. You are always there for me no matter what. My pillars of strength. This career path would never have happened without you, and for that I am forever grateful. Thank you for everything.

Adam, my rock. I could not have done this without you. Thank you for believing in me and supporting me when my confidence wavered. You have no idea how much you have grounded me during this process. I cannot wait for all the adventures we are going to have again!

My darling Maureen, I am so sad that you are not here to celebrate. Writing this thesis on the last gift you gave me has kept you close and with me all the way. This thesis is dedicated to you. I hope I have made you proud.

'As the river flows Gently to the sea Darling so we go Some things were meant to be'

#### Preface

Over 700,000 people in the UK develop an eating disorder every year, 90% of whom are female. The aetiology of eating disorders is not fully understood but is generally considered to involve a combination of genetic, neurobiological, and sociocultural factors. Research has also indicated that adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) may be influential in the development of eating disorders, but the reviews present conflicting results.

Paper one reports a meta-review of the literature which aimed to better understand the link between ACEs and eating disorders. ACEs have been defined as 'potentially traumatic events or chronic stressors that occur before the age of 18 and are uncontrollable to the child' (Felliti et al., 1998). These experiences have been linked to the development of mental health difficulties in adulthood. One suggested potential vulnerability for developing an eating disorder is experiencing early traumatic and stressful events in childhood. Previous systematic reviews (SR) and meta-analyses (MA) have investigated the association between individual types of childhood adversity and eating disorders. However, the results drawn are inconsistent and inconclusive, with differing definitions and assessment tools. This makes understanding the association difficult thus limiting our understanding of the associations between ACEs and eating disorders. This paper builds on previous reviews by including a narrative synthesis of results and a quality assessment using the Assessment of Multiple Systematic Reviews 2 (AMSTAR 2; Shea et al., 2017) with the aim of providing clarity on conclusions. Results from high-moderate quality reviews show a link between certain ACEs concepts, such as abuse, and a range of later eating disorder symptoms and diagnoses. The implications of these findings are discussed.

Another poorly understood aspect of eating disorders is the anorexic voice (AV), in which a large proportion of people with Anorexia Nervosa describe hearing an internal voice related to body shape, exercise and calorie intake.

Paper two reports a grounded theory analysis of individuals perceptions of the role of negative childhood experiences on the AV. Twelve women took part in a semi-structured interview which explored their experience of the AV, their childhood, and their emotions. The interview material was analysed using constructivist grounded theory. This approach acknowledges the role of the researcher in the analysis process and fits with the researcher's position on the social construction of knowledge and understanding. The theory that emerged posits that the AV provides a sense of safety amid life experiences that generate a sense of unsafety. However, the safety provided by the AV is conditional, and in this way mirrors a perfectionistic coping style. A further insight is that the relational dynamics of the AV appear to reflect the adversity encountered in earlier relational experiences. The AV reinforces obedience with praise but becomes hostile when disobeyed. This activates individuals' unpleasant emotions from childhood, such as guilt and disgust. Following a similar strategy when attempting to placate abusers or bullies in childhood, individuals adopt a submissive position to the critical and attacking AV. Gradually, the AV strengthened individuals' self-identity as being 'anorexic'. The analyses provided support for existing theories relating to AN, and corroborated previous empirical findings.

vii

Methodological limitations are discussed in both papers, such as being unable to confirm Anorexia Nervosa diagnoses with a professional due to recruitment limitations. Despite this, there are methodological strengths to this LSRP, including an exploratory method to understand a poorly researched phenomenon. This LSRP has implications for clinical psychology and the wider healthcare context, which are discussed.

Preface wordcount - 566

## Paper 1

## Associations between Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) and Eating Disorders: A Meta-Review

Word Count Abstract: 250

Word count excluding tables, figures and references: 7,904

This paper is prepared in accordance with the author guidelines for *International journal of Eating Disorders* (Appendix A). For the purposes of thesis submission, the DClinPsy word limit of 8000 words has been used to ensure all relevant information could be demonstrated. APA 7<sup>th</sup> style has been used for references. Tables and Figures have also been embedded in the main body of the paper, however will be placed in supplementary information for journal submission.

## Associations between Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) and Eating

## **Disorders:** A Meta-review

## **Georgette Morrison**

Cardiff university

## Dr John Fox

Cardiff and Vale University Health board

#### Dr Marc Williams

Cardiff and Vale University Health board

Please address any correspondence to Georgette Morrison, South Wales Doctoral Programme in Clinical Psychology, School of Psychology, Cardiff University, Cardiff, CF10 3AT.

Email: morrisonga@cardiff.ac.uk

## Abstract

**Objective:** Adverse childhood experiences (ACEs; Felliti et al., 1998) have been linked to the development of mental health difficulties in adulthood. One potential vulnerability for developing an Eating Disorder is experiencing early traumatic events in childhood (Solmi et al., 2020). Systematic reviews and meta-analyses have been published on the effects of ACEs. Health care providers and policymakers look to this literature to provide a coherent overview and guide decision making. However, reviews vary in their quality and provide conflicting results. Method: A meta-review of 13 systematic reviews and/or meta-analyses was conducted on the association between ACEs and Eating Disorder symptoms and diagnoses. To ensure a transparent and systematic approach, this paper adhered to the PRISMA statement (Moher, Liberati Tetzlaff & Altman 2009) and preregistered a protocol with PROSPERO. A narrative synthesis was employed to describe the methodology and conclusions of the included reviews. The Assessment of Multiple Systematic Reviews 2 (AMSTAR 2; Shea et al., 2017) was used to assess quality. Results: Four high-moderate quality reviews demonstrated that ACEs are associated with Eating Disorder symptoms and diagnoses. However, firm conclusions about subcategories of ACEs are not demonstrated from the existing evidence due to a lack of reporting of specific ACEs and statistical controls to pinpoint the effects of individual ACEs. Discussion: Based on these findings, it is recommended that clinicians assess for the impact of ACEs in individuals with eating disorders. High quality research is recommended that allows for the unique effects of individual types of ACE to be discerned.

## Introduction

Eating disorders (EDs) affect over 1.25 million people in the UK, 75% of whom are female (UK; Beating Eating Disorders, 2021). Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM– 5) identifies four main categories of EDs: Anorexia Nervosa (AN), Bulimia Nervosa (BN), Binge Eating Disorder (BED) and Other Specified Feeding or Eating Disorder (OSFED) (American Psychiatric Association [APA], 2013). The current evidence base (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence [NICE], 2018) indicates that there are several effective psychological interventions for EDs, such as Cognitive Behavioural Therapy. Nevertheless, many continue to present with difficulties following intervention. Causes, triggers, and risk factors are complex, and often vary between individuals and ED subcategories. A comprehensive understanding of the risk factors underlying these presentations is essential to best support intervention (Cooper, 2012).

One identified vulnerability for developing an ED is experiencing early traumatic and stressful events in childhood (Solmi et al., 2020). The study of adverse childhood experiences (ACEs; Felliti et al., 1998) was the first to demonstrate a framework of numerous connections between childhood adversity and chronic mental and physical health conditions in adulthood within a framework of healthcare expenses. ACEs have been defined as 'potentially traumatic events or chronic stressors that occur before the age of 18 and are uncontrollable to the child' (Felliti et al., 1998). Exposure to ACEs has commonly been operationalised in research as a ten experiences: domestic violence; parental separation/divorce; having a parent with a mental health condition;

being the victim of abuse (physical, sexual and/or emotional); being the victim of physical or emotional neglect; having a member of the household in prison; and growing up in a household where adults use drugs or alcohol harmfully. One of the main criticisms of the ACEs model is that it might lead to important socioeconomic factors being overlooked (Taylor-Robinson et al 2018, Anderson, 2019). Another criticism is that the differential experience of adversity across racial and ethnic subgroups has been largely absent from the ACEs literature, despite a widespread understanding that disadvantage is not distributed equally across groups (Maguire-Jack et al., 2020. There has been an attempt to expand ACEs to include a more diverse population and additional adversities occurring in communities, such as poverty and bullying (Finkelhor et al., 2013).

Data examining the prevalence of ACEs in England and Wales has highlighted that one in five adults (8.5 million people) have experienced at least one form of abuse, including witnessing domestic violence (ONS, 2020). In addition, 481,000 adults have experienced physical neglect (ONS, 2020). A Public Health Wales report suggested that if no individuals in Wales experienced an ACE, there would potentially be a 27% reduction in reports of poorer adult mental health (Public Health Wales, 2016). This acknowledgement has led Scotland and Wales to aim to become the 'first ACE-Aware Nations' (ACEawareScotland, 2018; ACEawareWales, 2019).

Childhood trauma has been the most widely researched in terms of EDs (Afifi et al., 2017; Seubert & Virdi, 2018; Quilliot et al., 2019; Rai et al., 2019). Rodriguez et al. (2005) found that 45% of the patients with EDs had a history of sexual abuse or other forms of childhood abuse, while Carter et al. (2006) found that 48% of the inpatients in an ED unit reported a history of childhood sexual abuse. On the other hand, some ACEs are relatively poorly investigated, e.g., neglect (Allison et al., 2007; Coffino et al., 2020). The quality of these reviews has also not been explored in relation to EDs, nor has there been any attempt to refine whether the same concepts are being measured across reviews.

The evaluation of adversities and EDs presents certain problems, the first being difficulties with defining adversities under the framework of ACEs. Childhood adversity is a term that has been used due to terms such as abuse, maltreatment and trauma often being used interchangeably (Corso et al., 2008; Heitkemper et al., 2011; McLaughlin et al., 2019). Individual components of ACEs are also used interchangeably. For example, child emotional abuse is also named in the literature as psychological abuse (Infurna et al. 2016) and emotional trauma (Fernandes & Osorio, 2015). A potential cause of this interchangeability is the criticism that reliance on the definition of adversity by Felitti et al. (1998) obscures efforts to widen and deepen understanding of adverse conditions and experiences affecting children's development. Inconsistency in terminology and definitions leads to difficulties in comparison and collation of empirical findings.

A related problem is how the construct of ACEs has been conceptualised and defined across and within studies (Trottier & MacDonald, 2017). Some studies have considered all childhood abuse together as a single construct, whereas other studies have differentiated between different types of ACEs, e.g. abuse and physical and/or emotional neglect (Trottier & MacDonald, 2017). It is a challenge for studies to consider isolated effects of particular ACEs, as individuals often

experience overlapping adversities occurring simultaneously (Chartier et al., 2010). For example, emotional abuse is thought to underlie all other ACEs, although it can also occur independently (Browne & Winkleman, 2007). In addition, it is common for sexual abuse to be accompanied by some form of physical abuse (Pérez-Fuentes et al., 2013). There are indications of a doseresponse effect of the number of childhood adversities on the severity of EDs (Guillaume et al., 2016), suggesting that each adversity adds extra risk or has an interactive effect in the development of ED. Adversities also occur in context, such as neglect in the context of poverty (Bywaters et al., 2016), which makes it difficult to disentangle their unique effects.

The second challenge in evaluating the association between adversities and EDs is that reviews have included articles reporting several different tools for measuring ACEs. The ACEs questionnaire was derived from the ACEs Study of Felitti and colleagues (1998). Unfortunately, several concerns have been raised regarding its validity, reliability, and response interpretability (McLennan et al., 2020). One critique is that a systematic process does not appear to have been utilised in the selection of items, furthermore, additional ACEs were not included e.g. bullying (Finkelhor et al., 2015). This has potentially led researchers and clinicians to seek other, more accommodating assessment tools such as the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire (Bernstein et al., 1997) or the World Health Organisation ACE International Questionnaire (ACE-IQ) which include additional adversities such as bullying, war and parental death (WHO, 2018). Many additional child adversity tools have been developed and tested for validity and reliability with the goal of improving these measures (Saini et al., 2019). However, the multitude of assessment tools now available to measure the same construct makes drawing clear conclusions of any

association between ACEs and EDs difficult as it raises the question of whether the same constructs are being compared.

#### The current review

Previous systematic reviews (SR) and meta-analyses (MA) have investigated the association between individual types of childhood adversity and EDs. However, the results drawn are inconsistent and inconclusive, with differing definitions, assessment tools, and variable attempts to consider the unique effects of specific ACEs. This makes understanding the association between ACEs and EDs difficult. This review builds on previous reviews by conducting a metareview, or review of reviews (Hartling et al., 2012). The aim is to synthesise the evidence and compare findings across SRs and MAs to provide a summary of the current information available that takes review quality into account. The meta-review will also attempt to summarise the highest-quality evidence with regard to variables that mediate the association between ACEs and EDs, and evidence for the unique impact of specific types of ACE where possible. A metareview based on quality appraisals might allow for identifying the reasons for conflicting conclusions between existing reviews. The clinical implications resulting from the current literature, as well as the broader implications for public health initiatives, will be discussed.

#### Method

#### **Protocol and Registration**

This meta-review was conducted using the Preferred Reporting Items of Systematic Reviews and Meta-analysis (PRISMA) guidelines (Moher et al., 2009). A pre-written protocol was registered on the international prospective register of systematic reviews (PROSPERO, CRD42021243891; Appendix B).

#### Systematic Literature Search

A systematic literature search was conducted in five databases including PsycInfo, MEDLINE, Web of Science, Cochrane and Scopus. The reference lists of included reviews were also searched. An academic librarian was consulted in developing the primary search strategy. Full search strategies are included in Appendix E. The search strategy was adapted for the different databases.

#### Eligibility Criteria

Reviews were selected based on the criteria illustrated in Table 1. The term ACEs here refers to the definition of 'potentially traumatic events or chronic stressors that occur before the age of 18 and are uncontrollable to the child' (Felliti et al., 1998). This incorporates a broad set of adverse childhood experiences that include abuse (emotional, physical, or sexual), neglect (emotional or physical), serious household dysfunction (e.g. witnessing domestic violence, household member drug use, family member mental illness, and parental separation and incarceration), and peer, community, and collective violence (World Health Organization, 2016).

There were no restrictions placed on the year of publication or age restriction. The primary outcome for the present systematic review was the association between ACEs and EDs.

#### Table 1

Inclusion and exclusion criteria applied to each review

Considerations	Inclusion	Exclusion criteria
Adverse Childhood experiences	Reviews focusing on ACEs (based	Focusing on adversity in adulthood
	on definition above)	
	Studies including an outcome	Studies that have not focused on
	measure of ACE (e.g. Childhood	the factors associated with ACEs
	Trauma Questionnaire)	(e.g. genetics and epigenetics,
		McDonald, 2019)
		Studies whose main focus has not
		been ACEs (e.g. Treatment
		outcome)
Eating Disorders	Reviews focusing on investigating	Studies not investigating eating
	eating disorders or disordered	disorders or disordered eating
	eating	
Review Type	Systematic Reviews and Meta	Non-review articles
	Analyses	
	Peer reviewed research and able to	Studies which do not report the
	access full text	analysis methods employed
	Mixed methods design	'Grey' Literature
Language	Mixed methods design	·
Language	Studies written or translated into	Studies written in another language
	English	or not translated into English

#### **Review Selection**

Eligibility assessment was performed by the first author. After extracting all the results from each database, duplicate references were removed. Titles and abstracts were then screened against the inclusion criteria and studies that clearly did not meet criteria were removed. Full text reviews of the remaining studies were read to determine whether full inclusion criteria were met.

#### **Results of the Search Strategy**

The search strategy used the preferred reporting items for SRs and MAs (PRISMA; Moher et al., 2009), shown in Figure 1. The first author reviewed all titles, abstracts and read full text (if applicable). Of the 13 studies, half were selected and reviewed by two independent reviewers (both clinical psychologists in training) to assess their adherence to inclusion and exclusion criteria. No discrepancies were found during this process.

#### Figure 1

PRISMA flow diagram of search process and selection strategy (Moher et al., 2009)



#### **Quality Assessment**

Eligible SR and MAs were assessed for their methodological quality using the Assessment of Multiple Systematic Reviews 2 rating scale (AMSTAR 2, Shea et al. 2017). The AMSTAR 2 contains 16 items to appraise the methodological aspects of reviews. The reliability of the AMSTAR-2 as a quality assessment tool for meta-reviews has been assessed and found to be valid and reliable (Lorenz et al.,2019). The authors designed the tool not to provide an overall score but to assess whether a domain should be considered critical or non-critical in determining review quality, as an overall score can mask critical weaknesses in specific domains. The items deemed critical for the current review are outlines in Table 2.

The AMSTAR 2 was designed for critically appraising reviews of health care interventions, and many of the items included were not appropriate for the current review. For the purposes of the current aims, the research team decided to modify the tool to be more applicable to the eligible reviews in review (Table 2).

#### Table 2

#### AMSTAR2 Critical and Non critical Domains included in the current review

Item	Domains
1	Did the research questions and inclusion criteria for the review include the components of PICO? (modified)
2 (Critical)	Was there an explicit statement that the review methods were established prior to conduct of the review and did the report justify any significant deviations from the protocol?
4 (Critical)	Did the review authors use a comprehensive literature search strategy?
5	Did the review authors perform article selection in duplicate?
6	Did the review authors perform data extraction in duplicate?
7 (Critical)	Did the review authors provide a list of excluded studies and justify the exclusions? (modified)
8	Did the review authors describe the included studies in adequate detail?
9 (Critical)	Did authors use a satisfactory technique for assessing Risk of Bias (RoB), and did they include high RoB studies in their MA/SR? Did they discuss this?
10	Did the review authors report on the sources of funding for the studies included in the review? (Merged with item 16)
14	Did the review authors provide a satisfactory explanation for, and discussion of, any heterogeneity observed in the results of the review?
15 (critical)	If they performed quantitative synthesis did the review authors carry out an adequate investigation of publication bias (small study bias) and discuss its likely impact on the results of the review?

The authors suggest rating the overall quality using the following suggested criteria (Shea et al., 2017, p. 6):

- High The systematic review includes zero or one non-critical weakness. Specifically, the review offers an "accurate and comprehensive summary of the results of the available studies"
- Moderate The systematic review has no critical weaknesses but more than one noncritical weakness. "It may offer an accurate summary of the outcomes of the available studies that were included in the review"
- Low The systematic review has one critical weakness with or without non-critical weaknesses: The review includes a critical weakness and potentially does not offer an accurate and comprehensive overview of the included studies.
- Critically low The systematic review has more than one critical weakness with or without non-critical weaknesses. The review has two or more critical weaknesses and should not be relied on to provide an accurate and comprehensive summary of the available studies.

The reviewer performed the quality appraisal for all the included reviews. A second and third rater (two clinical psychologists in training) were recruited to independently rate six of the reviews. Agreement between the raters was 100% for these reviews (See Appendix C)

16

#### **Quality of Included Reviews**

The quality assessment of included reviews is presented in Table 5 (below). Overall, three reviews were rated as high quality (Grogan et al., 2020; Norman et al., 2012; Molendijk et al., 2017) and one review was moderate quality (Menzel et al., 2010). Five reviews were assessed as low quality (Caslini et al., 2016; Chen et al., 2010; Kimber et al., 2017; Pignatelli et al., 2017; Wonderlich et al., 1997). Four reviews were critically low quality (Connors & Morse, 1993; Lie et al., 2019; Pope & Hudson, 1992; Smolak & Murnen, 2002).

The aim of this meta-review is to synthesis the current evidence to better understand any association between ACEs and EDs. In keeping with this assessing quality was not used to exclude studies. Instead, the quality ratings were utilised to provide an insight into the standard of the research used in the synthesis

#### Table 3

AMSTAR-2 Quality Assessment

Authors	РІСО	Explicit statement and justification of review methods/protocol	Comprehensive literature search strategy	Article selection in duplicate	Data extraction in duplicate	Excluded studies and justify the exclusions	Describe studies in adequate detail	Assessing RoB	Funding and potential sources of conflict of interest	Heterogeneity	Publication bias	QUALITY
Caslini et al. (2016)	Yes	Yes	Partial Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Partial Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Low
Chen et al. (2010)	Yes	Yes	Partial Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Low
Connors and Morse (1993)	Yes	No	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	No	No	No	No MA	Critically Low
Grogan et al.(2020)	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	yes	No MA	Yes	Yes	No MA	High
Kimber et al. (2017)	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	No MA	Yes	No MA	No MA	Low
Lie et al. (2019)	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Partial Yes	Yes	No	Yes	No	Critical Low
Menzel et al. (2010)	Yes	Yes	Partial Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Partial Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Moderate
Molendijk et al. (2017)	Yes	Yes	Partial Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Partial Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	High

Norman et al. (2012)	Yes	Yes	Partial Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Partial Yes	Partial Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	High
(2012)							1 08					
Pignatelli et al.	Yes	Yes	Partial Yes	No	No	Yes	Yes	Partial Yes	No	Yes	No	Low
(2017)	105	105	i ui ciui i cij	110	110	105	105	i ur trur i tes	110	105	110	1011
Pope and Hudson	Yes	Partial Yes	No	No	No	No	Yes	No MA	No	No MA	No MA	Critically
(1992)	105	r artiar res	INU	INO	INO	NO	1 65	NUMA	INO	NO MA	NU WIA	Low
Smolak and	Yes	Vas	No	No	No	No	Yes	No	No	Yes	No	Critically
Murnen (2002)	ies	Yes	INO	INO	INO	No	res	110	INO	i es	INU	Low
Wonderlich et al.	Yes	Ne	Douting Vog	Vaa	Vaa	Doutiol Vog	Partial	No. MA	No	No MA	No MA	Low
(1997)	res	No	Partial Yes	Yes	Yes	Partial Yes	Yes	No MA	100	No MA	No MA	Low

\*RoB = Risk of Bias, PICO = Population, Intervention, Comparator, Outcome. **BOLD** = Critical Domain

#### **Critical Domains**

Most reviews conducted a comprehensive search of the literature and provided justification for excluded articles. Six reviews completed or partially completed a risk of bias assessment and discussed the implications of results. Additionally, four reviews did not provide an explicit statement of a predetermined protocol nor register the protocol.

Three reviews (Chen et al., 2010; Molendijk et al., 2017; Norman et al., 2012) assessed risk of bias using the Newcastle Ottawa Scale (Wells et al., 2010). None of these reviews used the quality assessment as inclusion/exclusion criterion. Norman et al. (2012) included a quality effects model statistic that assigned greater weight to studies of high quality versus studies of lesser quality. Grogan et al. (2020) used the Mixed Methods Appraisal Tools (MMAT; Hong et al., 2018). Kimber et al., (2017) used the Quality in Prognosis Studies (QUIPS; Hayden, van der Windt, Cartwright, Cote & Bombardier, 2013).

#### **Non-Critical Domains**

All reviews, except Lie et al. (2019), described the required elements of the PICO (Population, Intervention, Comparison, Outcome). Twelve reviews described articles in sufficient detail. Seven reviews declared their source of funding and/or no conflict of interest. All but one review met the heterogeneity criteria. The majority of reviews either did not perform data selection or extraction in duplicate. All but two of the reviews (Lie et al., 2019; Pignatelli et al., 2017) that performed a MA included an assessment of publication bias. Lie et al., (2019) noted that due to the low number of effects sizes reported in the primary studies the review was unable to assess publication bias.

Most reviews tested for statistical heterogeneity reviews (Caslini et al., 2016; Chen et al., 2010; Lie et al., 2019; Menzel et al., 2010; Molendijk et al., 2017; Norman et al., 2012; Smolak & Murnen, 2002). Three reviews did not test for heterogeneity (Connors & Morse, 1993; Pope & Hudson, 1992; Wonderlich et al, 1997).

#### **Review Overlap**

Overall conclusions and results may be biased as many articles are included in more than one review. To assess and understand the potential impact of this overlap, the degree of overlap within and between reviews was measured using the validated Corrected Cover Area (CCA) method (Pieper et al., 2014). A CCA score of 0–5 is considered slight overlap, 6–10 moderate, 11–15 high and >15 very high (Pieper et al., 2014). Over the thirteen reviews, there was a total of three hundred and eighty-four primary reviews. Fifty-two of the studies were repeated in more than one review (See Appendix G). The overall CCA was 0.041 which was considered slight.

## Results

#### **Review Characteristics**

#### Participants

Over one hundred and fifty thousand participants were included across the thirteen reviews. Female participants outnumbered males in every review. In the studies that reported age, the range of participants' age was 16 to 65 years. Ethnicity was rarely discussed with ten of the included studies not reporting on ethnicity. One review highlighted a proportion of racial and ethnic minorities ranging from 1% to 97.4% (Kimber, et al.,2017)

#### **Sample Formation**

Reviews used a variety of recruitment settings and countries in the formation of samples. Participants were recruited from a) clinical setting (Caslini et al., 2016; Kimber, et al.,2017; Lie et al., 2019; Menzel et al., 2010; Pope & Hudson, 1992; Smolak & Murnen, 2002) b) community (Caslini et al., 2016, Kimber, et al., 2017; Lie et al., 2019; Menzel et al., 2010) c) outpatient (Molendijk et al., 2017) d) inpatient (Pope & Hudson, 1992). Reviews included articles undertaken across four continents: Austria, Australia, Belgium, Canada, China, Finland, Germany, Italy, Japan, New Zealand, Norway, Portugal, Slovenia, Spain, South Korea, Sweden, Switzerland, The Netherlands, Taiwan, Turkey, UK and USA.

#### **Designs included in Reviews**

Three hundred and eighty-four articles were included across thirteen reviews. The reviews included articles with a variety of different designs, e.g., case control (Caslini et al., 2016; Chen et al., 2010; Connors & Morse, 1992; Lie et al., 2019; Norman et al., 2012; Pope & Hudson, 1992), cross-sectional (Caslini et al., 2016; Connors & Morse, 1992; Kimber et al., 2017; Lie et al., 2019; Menzel et al., 2010; Norman et al., 2012; Pignatelli et al., 2017) and longitudinal (Kimber et al., 2017; Lie et al., 2019; Menzel et al., 2010). All reviews included articles of people with eating disorders/disordered eating, and the majority also included a comparator group (Grogan et al., 2020). Examples include participants from the general population or services users with other mental health diagnosis (Lie et al., 2019; Pope & Hudson, 1992). One review did not include details of comparator groups (Kimber et al., 2017). It was not always clear whether the specific article of interest had comparator groups (Menzel et al., 2010).

#### ACEs included in Reviews

There was a lack of consistent definition across the reviews (See Appendix D). Despite this, each of the definitions given would be applicable to the definition of ACEs proposed by Felliti et al. (1998). Each of the three categories of ACEs were highlighted in the search strategy and included articles in the results. Abuse (n=9) and Neglect (n=3) yielded the majority of reviews, either exclusively or combined, with only one review focusing on the household dysfunction category. As previously mentioned, this review expanded ACEs to include additional adverse experiences suggested by Finkelhor and colleagues (2015). Two articles focused on reviewing the association between bullying/teasing and EDs.

#### ACE subcategory- Abuse

Two reviews combined all forms of abuse (Caslini et al., 2016; Molendijk et al., 2017). Caslini et al. (2016) provided separate definitions of CSA, CPA and CSE, drawing on definitions from previous investigations (Doyle, 1997; Treuer et al., 2005; Wonderlich et al., 1997). In contrast, the second review combined neglect and emotional abuse into one construct which was termed "emotional child maltreatment" (Molendijk et al., 2017). The authors also included the terms physical and sexual childhood maltreatment (WHO, 2016b) instead of CPA and CSA (Molendijk et al., 2017).

Five reviews focused exclusively on childhood sexual abuse (CSA) (Chen et al., 2010; Connors & Morse, 1992; Pop & Hudson, 1992; Smolak & Murnen, 2002; Wonderlich et al., 1997). There was inconsistency regarding the definition of CSA across and within the reviews. Two reviews provided broad definitions of CSA in their inclusion criteria (Chen et al., 2010; Wonderlich et al., 1997). The remaining reviews relied on outcome measures to define CSA throughout the review (Connors & Morse, 1992; Pop & Hudson, 1992; Smolak & Murnen, 2002). No review utilised the same definition of CSA. There was some variability in terms of whether articles were restricted their inclusion of CSA to incest, contact incidents, or age of perpetrator and victim (Smolak & Murnen, 2002).

#### ACE subcategory - Abuse and Neglect

Two reviews investigated abuse and neglect (Kimber et al., 2017; Norman et al., 2012). Both provided definitions for both abuse and neglect. Kimber et al. (2017) separate emotional abuse from emotional neglect whereas Norman et al. (2012) do not differentiate a separate 'emotional

neglect' category. It is clear from their definitions that childhood emotional neglect (CEN) falls under a larger 'neglect' category, and therefore by implication they are measuring a combination of CEN and CPN (Norman et al., 2012). Both Kimber et al. (2017) and Norman et al. (2012) found risk of bias in the association of interest. The authors explained that, because of this, the reported statistics may be overstated, and the former did not discuss implications.

#### ACE subcategory - Neglect

One review investigated both emotional and physical neglect (Pignatelli et al., 2017). The authors highlight the importance of separating forms of neglect and offer a definition provided by the WHO (1999).

#### ACE subcategory - Household Dysfunction

One article investigated the impact of adversities occurring in the context of home and family environments on EDs (Grogan et al., 2020). The authors included a range of family factors including family disharmony, familial mental health issues and family disruptions which they refer to as "adverse life experiences" (Grogan et al., 2020).

#### ACE subcategory - *Bullying/Teasing*

Two reviews included reviews that had assessed bullying/teasing (Lie et al., 2019; Menzel et al., 2010). Lie et al. (2019) differentiate between bullying and teasing. Using a definition provided by Olweus (1994) the authors refer to bullying as behaviours against a person who cannot defend themselves whereas teasing is a form of verbal bullying (Lie et al., 2019). The review also includes cyber bullying (online, social media) (Lie et al., 2019). Menzel et al. (2010) focused

solely on teasing which they related to the concept of appearance related feedback (Thompson et al., 1999). They suggest teasing is "good natured" appearance related feedback.

#### **ACE Assessment Tools**

The most used measure was the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire (CTQ; Bernstein & Fink, 1998) which has been shown to be reliable and validated across clinical and nonclinical populations and in different languages (Karos et al., 2014; Lochner et al., 2010). It has also been validated against therapist trauma ratings and objective measures (Bernstein et al., 1997). Other self-report measures are included in Table 4 (Also see Appendix F).

Smolak and Murnen, (2002) did not state the measures used by the included articles but suggested CSA was defined according to a scale like Finkelhor and Browne (1986). Norman et al. (2012) included articles where participants had self-reported adverse childhood experiences without the use of assessment tools. Chen et al. (2010) included articles which ascertained exposure to sexual abuse through clinical interviews and official records (e.g., notes from social services). Additionally, some reviews also included single item yes/no questions about whether someone had experienced a particular adverse experience (Lie et al., 2019; Menzel et al., 2010).

#### Table 4

ACE Assessment Tools

ACE assessment Tool	Authors using this measure
Childhood Trauma Questionnaire (CTQ; Bernstein & Fink, 1998)	Caslini et al.(2016)
	Kimber et al. (2017)
	Molendijk et al. (2017)
	Norman et al. (2012)
	Pignatelli et al. (2017)
Child Abuse and Trauma Scale (Sanders & Becker-Lausen, 1995)	Kimber et al. (2017)
Traumatic Experiences Checklist (Nijenhuis, Van Der Hart, & Kruger, 2002)	Pignatelli et al. (2017)
Sexual Life events questionnaire (Finkelhor, 1979)	Caslini et al.(2016)
	Connors & Morse (1992)
	Pope & Hudson (1992)
	Wonderlich et al. (1997)
Perception of Teasing Scale (POTS, Thompson, Fowler & Fisher, 1995)	Menzel et al. (2010);
	Lie et al. (2019)
Physical Appearance Related Teasing Scale (PARTS, Thompson, Heinberg & Taantleff, 1991)	Menzel et al. (2010)
McKnight Risk Factor Survey-III (MRFS-III, Shisslak et al., 1999)	Menzel et al. (2010)
Teasing Subscale of the Inventory of Peer Influence on Eating Concerns (IPIEC, Oliver & Thelen, 1996)	Menzel et al. (2010)
The Stressful Life Events Screening Questionnaire (SLESQ; Goodman, Corcoran, Turner, Yuan, & Green, 1998)	Caslini et al.(2016)
Family Environment Scale (FES; Moos & Moos, 1984)	Caslini et al.(2016)
	Grogan et al. (2020)
The Physical and Sexual Abuse Questionnaire (PSA; Nagata et al. (2000)	Caslini et al. (2016)
Parental Bonding Instrument (Parker, G., Tupling, H., & Brown, L. B. (1979)	Grogan et al. (2020);
	Kimber et al. (2017)
Essen Trauma Inventory (Tagay et al., 2011)	Grogan et al. (2020)
Trauma Antecedents Questionnaire (Herman, Perry & Van der Kolk, 1989)	Kimber et al. (2017)
Body image victimization experiences scale (BIVES; Duarte & Pinto-Gouveia,2017).	Lie et al. (2019)
The Conflict Tactics Scale (Straus, 1979)	Norman et al (2012)

#### **Eating Disorder Assessment Tools**

Many reviews investigated each of the most common eating disorder diagnoses: AN, BN and BED (Caslini et al., 2016; Grogan et al., 2020; Lie et al., 2019; Molendijk et al., 2017; Pignatelli et al., 2017; Smolak & Murnen, 2002) with one including Eating Disorder Not Otherwise Specified (EDNOS) (Molendijk et al., 2017). Pope and Hudson (1992) focused solely on BN where Wonderlich et al. (1997) did not include BED disorder. Kimber et al (2017) included subclinical eating disordered behaviours in addition to clinical ED diagnoses. One review only explored disordered eating behaviours (Menzel et al., 2010). Two reviews investigated a range of psychological and health conditions which included EDs (Chen et al., 2010; Norman et al., 2012). Some reviews included articles which reported on generic or mixed ED in addition to subcategories such as BN or AN (Chen et al., 2010; Kimber et al., 2017; Lie et al., 2019; Molendijk et al., 2017; Norman et al. 2012; Smolak & Murnen, 2002)

Overall reviews included articles using a validated diagnostic instrument or screening instrument for EDs (See Table 5). Chen et al. (2010) did not report how ED diagnosis or symptoms were ascertained or measured by the articles included in their review. Single self-report item were utilised by some articles included by Kimber et al. (2007). There were varying editions of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual included in the reviews, from DSM-III to DSM-V as well as the ICD-10 (International Centre for Diseases). This is reflective of the breadth of time captured across the literature.
# Table 5

Eating disorder and disordered eating Assessment Tool

Bulimia Test (BUILT; Smith & Thelan, 1984)Caslini et al.(2016) Connors & Morse (1992)Minnesota Eating Behavior Survey (MEBS; Von Ranson et al., 2005)Caslini et al.(2016) Menzel et al. (2010)Binge Eating Scale (BES; Gormally, Black, Daston, & Rardin, 1982).Caslini et al.(2016)	Eating disorder assessment Tool	Authors	
Kimber et al.(2017)Lie et al., (2019)Menzel et al. (2010)Menzel et al. (2010)Menzel et al. (2017)Pope & Fluxton (1992)Smolak & Munne (2002)Wonderlich et al (1997)Kimber et al. (2017)Lie et al. (2019)Menzel et al. (2019)Nerna et al. (2012)Wonderlich et al. (1997)Eating Patterns Questionnaire (EPQConnors & Morse (1992)Pope & Hudson (1992)Structured Inventory for Anorexic and Bulimic Syndromes (SIAB-EX, Fitcher 1998)Pignatelli et al. (2010)The Fating Disorder Risk Composite (EDRC; Gardner, 2004)Bulimia Test (BUILT; Smith & Thelan, 1984)Connors & Morse (1992)Minnesota Eating Behavior Survey (MEBS; Von Ranson et al., 2005)Gaslini et al.(2016)Connors & Morse (1992)The Bulimia Test-Revised (BULIT-R; Thelan, Farmer, Wonderlich, & Smith, 1991)Caslini et al.(2016)Menzel et al. (2010)Bulimic Investigatory Test, Edinburgh (BITE). The BITE (Henderson & Freeman, 1987)Caslini et al.(2016)Menzel et al. (2017)Pope & K Hudson (1992)Structured Inventory for Anorexic and Bulimic Syndromes (SIAB-EX; Fitcher, 1998)Caslini et al.(2016)Menzel et al. (2017)Pope & Lindson (1992)Structured Inventory for Anorexic and Bulimic Syndromes (SIAB-EX; Fitcher, 1998)Caslini et al.(2016)Menze	Eating Disorders Inventory; (EDI; Garner, 2004),	Connors & Morse (1992)	
Menzel et al. (2010) Pope & Hudson (1992) Smoldar & Muler (2017) Pope & Hudson (1992) Smoldar & Muner (2002) Wonderlich et al (1997) Kimber et al. (2017) Lie et al. (2017) Lie et al. (2019) Menzel et al. (2017) Lie et al. (2019) Menzel et al. (2017) Eating Patterns Questionnaire (EPQWonderlich et al (1997) Connors & Mose (1992) Pope & Hudson (1992)Eating Patterns Questionnaire (EPQWonderlich et al. (2017) Connors & Mose (1992) Pope & Hudson (1992)Structured Inventory for Anorexic and Bulimic Syndromes (SIAB-EX, Fitcher 1998)Pignatelli et al. (2017)The Eating Disorder Risk Composite (EDRC; Gardner, 2004)Menzel et al. (2010)Bulimia Test (BUILT; Smith & Thelan, 1984)Connors & Mose (1992)Minnesota Eating Behavior Survey (MEBS; Von Ranson et al., 2005)Caslini et al.(2016) Menzel et al. (2010)Bilimia Test (BUILT; Smith & Thelan, 1984)Caslini et al.(2016) Menzel et al. (2010)The Bulimia Test-Revised (BULIT-R; Thelan, Farmer, Wonderlich, & Smith, 1991)Caslini et al.(2016) Menzel et al. (2010)Bulimic Investigatory Test, Edinburgh (BITE). The BITE (Henderson & Freeman, 1987)Caslini et al.(2016) Menzel et al. (2017) Pope & Fludson (1992) Smoldak & Muner (2002) Smoldak & Muner (2002) Caslini et al.(2017) Pope & Fludson (1992) Smoldak & Muner (2002) Caslini et al.(2017) Pope & Fludson (1992) Smoldak & Muner (2002) Caslini et al.(2017) Pope & Kindson (1992) Smoldak & Muner (2002) Caslini et al.(2017) Pope & Fludson (1992) Smoldak & Muner (2002) Caslini et al.(2017) Pope & Fludson (199	5		
Molendije tal. (2017) Pope & Hudson (1992) Smolak & Muren (2002) Wonderlich et al. (1997) Lie et al. (2017) Lie et al. (2018)Eating Patterns Questionnaire (EPQVenderlich et al. (1997) Comors & Morse (1992) Pope & Hudson (1992)Structured Inventory for Anorexic and Bulimic Syndromes (SIAB-EX, Fitcher 1998)Pignatelli et al. (2017) Pope & Hudson (1992)The Eating Disorder Risk Composite (EDRC; Gardner, 2004)Menzel et al. (2010) Menzel et al. (2010)Bulimia Test (BUILT; Smith & Thelan, 1984)Caslini et al. (2016) Connors & Morse (1992)Bulimia Test (BUILT; Smith & Thelan, 1984)Caslini et al. (2016) Menzel et al. (2010)Binge Eating Scale (BES; Gormally, Black, Daston, & Rardin, 1982).Caslini et al. (2016) Menzel et al. (2010)The Bulimia Test-Revised (BULIT-R; Thelan, Farmer, Wonderlich, & Smith, 1991)Caslini et al. (2016) Menzel et al. (2010)Bulimic Investigatory Test, Edinburgh (BITE). The BITE (Henderson & Freeman, 1987)Caslini et al. (2017) Menzel et al. (2010) Molendijk et al. (2017) Pope & Hudson (1992) Structured Inventory for Anorexie and Bulimic Syndromes (SIAB-EX; Fitcher, 1998)Caslini et al. (2017) Pope & Hudson (1992) Caslini et al. (2016)Structured Inventory for Anorexie and Bulimic Syndromes (SIAB-EX; Fitcher, 1998)Caslini et al. (2017) Menzel et al. (2010) Molendijk et al. (2017) Pope & Hudson (1992) Structured Inventory for Anorexie and Bulimic Syndromes (SIAB-EX; Fitcher, 1998)Caslini et al. (2017) Pope & Hudson (1992) Structured Inventory for Anorexie and Bulimic Syndromes (SIAB-EX; Fitcher, 1998)Duth Eating Behaviour Questionnair		Lie et al., (2019)	
Pope & Hudson (1992) Smolak & Murnen (2002) Wonderlich et al (1997) Kimber et al. (2017) Lie et al. (2017) Lie et al. (2019) Menzel et al. (2017) Lie et al. (2019) Wonderlich et al. (1997) Kimber et al. (2010) Norman et al. (2012) Wonderlich et al. (2012) Wonderlich et al. (2013) Structured Inventory for Anorexic and Bulimic Syndromes (SIAB-EX, Fitcher 1998)Pignatelli et al. (2017)The Eating Disorder Risk Composite (EDRC; Gardner, 2004)Menzel et al. (2010)Menzel et al. (2010)Bulimia Test (BUILT; Smith & Thelan, 1984)Caslini et al. (2010)Comors & Morse (1992)Bulimia Test (BUILT; Smith & Thelan, 1984)Caslini et al. (2016)Consors & Morse (1992)Binge Eating Scale (BES; Gormally, Black, Daston, & Rardin, 1982).Caslini et al. (2016)Caslini et al. (2016)The Bulimia Test -Revised (BULIT-R; Thelan, Farmer, Wonderlich, & Smith, 1991)Caslini et al. (2016)Menzel et al. (2010)Bulimic Investigatory Test, Edinburgh (BITE). The BITE (Henderson & Freeman, 1987)Caslini et al. (2016)Caslini et al. (2017) Menzel et al. (2010)The Eating Attitudes Test (EAT; Garner, D. M., & Garfinkel, P. E. (1979)Caslini et al. (2017) Molendijk et al		Menzel et al. (2010)	
Smiolak & Murmen (2002) Wonderlich et al (1997) Kimber et al. (2017) Lie et al. (2019) Menzel et al. (2010) Norman et al. (2017) Connors & Morse (1992) Pope & Hudson (1992)Structured Inventory for Anorexic and Bulimic Syndromes (SIAB-EX, Fitcher 1998)Pignatelli et al. (2017)The Eating Disorder Risk Composite (EDRC; Gardner, 2004)Menzel et al. (2010)Bulimia Test (BUILT; Smith & Thelan, 1984)Caslini et al.(2016) Connors & Morse (1992)Minnesota Eating Behavior Survey (MEBS; Von Ranson et al., 2005)Caslini et al.(2016) Menzel et al. (2010)Bilimia Test-Revised (BULIT-R; Thelan, Farmer, Wonderlich, & Smith, 1991)Caslini et al.(2016) Menzel et al. (2010)Bulimia Test-Revised (BULIT-R; Thelan, Farmer, Wonderlich, & Smith, 1991)Caslini et al.(2016) Menzel et al. (2010)The Eating Attitudes Test (EAT; Garner, D. M., & Garfinkel, P. E. (1979)Caslini et al.(2016) Menzel et al. (2017) Molendijk et al. (2017) Menzel et al. (2010)Dutch Eating Behaviour Questionnaire (Van Strien et al., 1986)Kimber et al. (2017) Menzel et al. (2010)		Molendijk et al. (2017)	
The Eating Disorder Examination Questionnaire (EDEQ; Fairburn & Beglin, 1993; 2008)Wonderlich et al (1997) Lie et al. (2017) Lie et al. (2019) Menzel et al. (2010) Menzel et al. (2012) Wonderlich et al. (2017) Comoras et Ausz Pope & Hudson (1992) Pope & Hudson (1992)Eating Patterns Questionnaire (EPQConnors & Morse (1992) Pope & Hudson (1992)Structured Inventory for Anorexic and Bulimic Syndromes (SIAB-EX, Fitcher 1998)Pignatelli et al. (2017)The Eating Disorder Risk Composite (EDRC; Gardner, 2004)Menzel et al. (2010)Bulimia Test (BUILT; Smith & Thelan, 1984)Caslini et al.(2016) Connors & Morse (1992)Minnesota Eating Behavior Survey (MEBS; Von Ranson et al., 2005)Caslini et al.(2016) Menzel et al. (2010)Bige Eating Scale (BES; Gormally, Black, Daston, & Rardin, 1982).Caslini et al.(2016) Menzel et al. (2010)The Bulimia Test-Revised (BULIT-R; Thelan, Farmer, Wonderlich, & Smith, 1991)Caslini et al.(2016) Menzel et al. (2010)Bulimic Investigatory Test, Edinburgh (BITE). The BITE (Henderson & Freeman, 1987)Caslini et al.(2016) Menzel et al. (2010) Menzel et al. (2010) Molendijk et al. (2010) Molendijk et al. (2010) Molendijk et al. (2017) Pope & Hudson (1992) Smolak & Murren (2002) Caslini et al.(2016)Structured Inventory for Anorexic and Bulimic Syndromes (SIAB-EX; Fitcher, 1998)Caslini et al.(2016) Menzel et al. (2010) Molendijk et al. (2017) Pope & Hudson (1992) Smolak & Murren (2002) Caslini et al.(2016)Dutch Eating Behaviour Questionnaire (Van Strien et al., 1986)Kimber et al. (2017) Menzel et al. (2010)			
The Eating Disorder Examination Questionnaire (EDEQ; Fairburn & Beglin, 1993; 2008)Kimber et al. (2017) Lie et al. (2010) Norman et al. (2012) Norman et al. (2017)Eating Patterns Questionnaire (EPQComors & Morse (1992) Pope & Hudson (1992)Structured Inventory for Anorexic and Bulimic Syndromes (SIAB-EX, Fitcher 1998)Pignatelli et al. (2017)The Eating Disorder Risk Composite (EDRC; Gardner, 2004)Menzel et al. (2010)Bulimia Test (BUILT; Smith & Thelan, 1984)Caslini et al.(2016) Comors & Morse (1992)Winnesota Eating Behavior Survey (MEBS; Von Ranson et al., 2005)Caslini et al.(2016) Menzel et al. (2010)Binge Eating Scale (BES; Gormally, Black, Daston, & Rardin, 1982).Caslini et al.(2016) Menzel et al. (2010)The Bulimia Test-Revised (BULIT-R; Thelan, Farmer, Wonderlich, & Smith, 1991)Caslini et al.(2016) Menzel et al. (2010)Bulimic Investigatory Test, Edinburgh (BITE). The BITE (Henderson & Freeman, 1987)Caslini et al.(2016) Menzel et al. (2010)Structured Inventory for Anorexic and Bulimic Syndromes (SIAB-EX; Fitcher, 1998)Caslini et al.(2016) Menzel et al. (2017) Pope & Hudson (1992) Smolak & Murnen (2002) Caslini et al.(2017) Molendijk et al. (2017) Molendijk et al. (2017) Menzel et al. (2017) Menzel et al. (2016)Dutch Eating Behaviour Questionnaire (Van Strien et al., 1986)Kimber et al. (2017) Menzel et al. (2016)		Smolak & Murnen (2002)	
Lie et al. (2019) Menzel et al. (2010) Norman et al. (2012) Wonderlich et al. (2012) Wonderlich et al. (2012) Wonderlich et al. (2012) Wonderlich et al. (1997) Comors & Morse (1992) Pope & Hudson (1992) Pope & Hudson (1992)Eating Disorder Risk Composite (EDRC; Gardner, 2004)Pignatelli et al. (2010)The Eating Disorder Risk Composite (EDRC; Gardner, 2004)Menzel et al. (2010)Bulimia Test (BUILT; Smith & Thelan, 1984)Caslini et al.(2016) Commors & Morse (1992)Winnesota Eating Behavior Survey (MEBS; Von Ranson et al., 2005)Caslini et al. (2010)Binge Eating Scale (BES; Gormally, Black, Daston, & Rardin, 1982).Caslini et al. (2016) Menzel et al. (2010)The Bulimia Test-Revised (BULIT-R; Thelan, Farmer, Wonderlich, & Smith, 1991)Caslini et al. (2016) Menzel et al. (2010)Bulimic Investigatory Test, Edinburgh (BITE). The BITE (Henderson & Freeman, 1987)Caslini et al. (2016) Menzel et al. (2017) Pope & Hudson (1992) Smolak & Murnen (2002) Caslini et al. (2017) Pope & K. Hudson (1992) Smolak & Murnen (2002) Caslini et al. (2017) Menzel et al. (2010) Molendijk et al. (2017) Pope & K. Hudson (1992) Smolak & Murnen (2002) Caslini et al. (2016) Menzel et al. (2016) Menzel et al. (2017) Pope & K. Hudson (1992) Smolak & Murnen (2002) Caslini et al. (2016)Dutch Eating Behaviour Questionnaire (Van Strien et al., 1986)Kimber et al. (2017) Menzel et al. (2017) Menzel et al. (2016)		Wonderlich et al (1997)	
Menzel et al. (2010) Norman et al. (2012) Wonderlich et al. (1997) Connors & Morse (1992) Pope & Hudson (1992)Structured Inventory for Anorexic and Bulimic Syndromes (SIAB-EX, Fitcher 1998)Pignatelli et al. (2017)The Eating Disorder Risk Composite (EDRC; Gardner, 2004)Menzel et al. (2010)Bulimia Test (BUILT; Smith & Thelan, 1984)Caslini et al.(2016) Connors & Morse (1992)Minnesota Eating Behavior Survey (MEBS; Von Ranson et al., 2005)Caslini et al.(2016) Menzel et al. (2010)Binge Eating Scale (BES; Gormally, Black, Daston, & Rardin, 1982).Caslini et al.(2016) Menzel et al. (2010)The Eating Attitudes Test (EAT; Garner, D. M., & Garfinkel, P. E. (1979)Caslini et al.(2016) Menzel et al. (2017) Menzel et al. (2017) Menzel et al. (2017) Smolak & Murnen (2002) Smolak & Murnen (2002) Sm	The Eating Disorder Examination Questionnaire (EDEQ; Fairburn & Beglin, 1993; 2008)	Kimber et al. (2017)	
Eating Patterns Questionnaire (EPQNorman et al. (2012) Wonderlich et al. (1997) Connors & Morse (1992) Pope & Hudson (1992)Structured Inventory for Anorexic and Bulimic Syndromes (SIAB-EX, Fitcher 1998)Pignatelli et al. (2017)The Eating Disorder Risk Composite (EDRC; Gardner, 2004)Menzel et al. (2010)Bulimia Test (BUILT; Smith & Thelan, 1984)Caslini et al. (2016) Connors & Morse (1992)Minnesota Eating Behavior Survey (MEBS; Von Ranson et al., 2005)Caslini et al. (2016) Menzel et al. (2010)Binge Eating Scale (BES; Gormally, Black, Daston, & Rardin, 1982).Caslini et al. (2016) Menzel et al. (2010)The Bulimia Test-Revised (BULIT-R; Thelan, Farmer, Wonderlich, & Smith, 1991)Caslini et al. (2016) Menzel et al. (2010)Bulimic Investigatory Test, Edinburgh (BITE). The BITE (Henderson & Freeman, 1987)Caslini et al. (2016) Menzel et al. (2010)The Eating Attitudes Test (EAT; Garner, D. M., & Garfinkel, P. E. (1979)Caslini et al. (2016) Molendijk et al. (2017) Molendijk et al. (2017) Pope & Hudson (1992) Smolak & Murnen (2002) Caslini et al. (2016)Dutch Eating Behaviour Questionnaire (Van Strien et al., 1986)Kimber et al. (2017) Menzel et al. (2017) Molendijk et al. (2017) Menzel et al. (2017)		Lie et al. (2019)	
Eating Patterns Questionnaire (EPQWonderlich et al. (1997) Connors & Morse (1992) Pope & Hudson (1992)Structured Inventory for Anorexic and Bulimic Syndromes (SIAB-EX, Fitcher 1998)Pignatelli et al. (2017)The Eating Disorder Risk Composite (EDRC; Gardner, 2004)Menzel et al. (2010)Bulimia Test (BUILT; Smith & Thelan, 1984)Caslini et al.(2016) Connors & Morse (1992)Minnesota Eating Behavior Survey (MEBS; Von Ranson et al., 2005)Caslini et al.(2016) Menzel et al. (2010)Binge Eating Scale (BES; Gormally, Black, Daston, & Rardin, 1982).Caslini et al.(2016) Menzel et al. (2010)The Bulimia Test-Revised (BULIT-R; Thelan, Farmer, Wonderlich, & Smith, 1991)Caslini et al.(2016) Menzel et al. (2010)Bulimic Investigatory Test, Edinburgh (BITE). The BITE (Henderson & Freeman, 1987)Caslini et al.(2016) Menzel et al. (2017) Pope & Hudson (1992) Smolak & Murmen (2002) Caslini et al.(2016)The Eating Attitudes Test (EAT; Garner, D. M., & Garfinkel, P. E. (1979)Caslini et al.(2016) Menzel et al. (2017) Pope & Hudson (1992) Smolak & Murmen (2002) Caslini et al.(2016)Dutch Eating Behaviour Questionnaire (Van Strien et al., 1986)Kimber et al. (2017) Menzel et al. (2016)		Menzel et al. (2010)	
Eating Patterns Questionnaire (EPQConnors & Morse (1992) Pope & Hudson (1992)Structured Inventory for Anorexic and Bulimic Syndromes (SIAB-EX, Fitcher 1998)Pignatelli et al. (2017)The Eating Disorder Risk Composite (EDRC; Gardner, 2004)Menzel et al. (2010)Bulimia Test (BUILT; Smith & Thelan, 1984)Caslini et al.(2016) Connors & Morse (1992)Minnesota Eating Behavior Survey (MEBS; Von Ranson et al., 2005)Caslini et al.(2010)Binge Eating Scale (BES; Gormally, Black, Daston, & Rardin, 1982).Caslini et al.(2016) Menzel et al. (2010)The Bulimia Test-Revised (BULIT-R; Thelan, Farmer, Wonderlich, & Smith, 1991)Caslini et al.(2016) Menzel et al. (2010)Bulimic Investigatory Test, Edinburgh (BITE). The BITE (Henderson & Freeman, 1987)Caslini et al.(2016) Menzel et al. (2010)The Eating Attitudes Test (EAT; Garner, D. M., & Garfinkel, P. E. (1979)Caslini et al.(2016) Menzel et al. (2017) Pope & Hudson (1992) Smolak & Murnen (2002) Caslini et al.(2016)Dutch Eating Behaviour Questionnaire (Van Strien et al., 1986)Kimber et al. (2017) Menzel et al. (2017) Menzel et al. (2016)			
Eating Patterns Questionnaire (EPQConnors & Morse (1992) Pope & Hudson (1992)Structured Inventory for Anorexic and Bulimic Syndromes (SIAB-EX, Fitcher 1998)Pignatelli et al. (2017)The Eating Disorder Risk Composite (EDRC; Gardner, 2004)Menzel et al. (2010)Bulimia Test (BUILT; Smith & Thelan, 1984)Caslini et al.(2016) Connors & Morse (1992)Minnesota Eating Behavior Survey (MEBS; Von Ranson et al., 2005)Caslini et al.(2010)Binge Eating Scale (BES; Gormally, Black, Daston, & Rardin, 1982).Caslini et al.(2016)The Bulimia Test-Revised (BULIT-R; Thelan, Farmer, Wonderlich, & Smith, 1991)Caslini et al.(2016) Menzel et al. (2010)Bulimic Investigatory Test, Edinburgh (BITE). The BITE (Henderson & Freeman, 1987)Caslini et al.(2016) Menzel et al. (2010)The Eating Attitudes Test (EAT; Garner, D. M., & Garfinkel, P. E. (1979)Caslini et al.(2016) Menzel et al. (2017) Pope & Hudson (1992) Smolak & Murnen (2002) Caslini et al.(2016)Structured Inventory for Anorexic and Bulimic Syndromes (SIAB-EX; Fitcher, 1998)Kimber et al. (2017) Menzel et al. (2016)Dutch Eating Behaviour Questionnaire (Van Strien et al., 1986)Kimber et al. (2017) Menzel et al. (2010)			
Pope & Hudson (1992)Structured Inventory for Anorexic and Bulimic Syndromes (SIAB-EX, Fitcher 1998)Pignatelli et al. (2017)The Eating Disorder Risk Composite (EDRC; Gardner, 2004)Menzel et al. (2010)Bulimia Test (BUILT; Smith & Thelan, 1984)Caslini et al.(2016) Connors & Morse (1992)Minnesota Eating Behavior Survey (MEBS; Von Ranson et al., 2005)Caslini et al.(2016) Menzel et al. (2010)Bige Eating Scale (BES; Gormally, Black, Daston, & Rardin, 1982).Caslini et al.(2016) Menzel et al. (2010)The Bulimia Test-Revised (BULIT-R; Thelan, Farmer, Wonderlich, & Smith, 1991)Caslini et al.(2016) Menzel et al. (2010)Bulimic Investigatory Test, Edinburgh (BITE). The BITE (Henderson & Freeman, 1987)Caslini et al.(2016) Menzel et al. (2010)The Eating Attitudes Test (EAT; Garner, D. M., & Garfinkel, P. E. (1979)Caslini et al.(2016) Molencilik et al. (2017) Pope & Hudson (1992) Smolak & Murnen (2002) Caslini et al. (2017) Pope & Hudson (1992) Smolak & Murnen (2002) Caslini et al.(2016)Dutch Eating Behaviour Questionnaire (Van Strien et al., 1986)Kimber et al. (2017) Menzel et al. (2010)	Eating Patterns Questionnaire (EPQ		
The Eating Disorder Risk Composite (EDRC; Gardner, 2004)Menzel et al. (2010)Bulimia Test (BUILT; Smith & Thelan, 1984)Caslini et al.(2016) Connors & Morse (1992)Minnesota Eating Behavior Survey (MEBS; Von Ranson et al., 2005)Caslini et al.(2016) Menzel et al. (2010)Binge Eating Scale (BES; Gormally, Black, Daston, & Rardin, 1982).Caslini et al.(2016) Menzel et al. (2010)The Bulimia Test-Revised (BULIT-R; Thelan, Farmer, Wonderlich, & Smith, 1991)Caslini et al.(2016) Menzel et al. (2010)Bulimic Investigatory Test, Edinburgh (BITE). The BITE (Henderson & Freeman, 1987)Caslini et al.(2016) Menzel et al. (2010)The Eating Attitudes Test (EAT; Garner, D. M., & Garfinkel, P. E. (1979)Caslini et al.(2016) Menzel et al. (2017) Pope & Hudson (1992) Smolak & Murnen (2002) Caslini et al.(2016)Structured Inventory for Anorexic and Bulimic Syndromes (SIAB-EX; Fitcher, 1998)Kimber et al. (2017) Menzel et al. (2010)Dutch Eating Behaviour Questionnaire (Van Strien et al., 1986)Kimber et al. (2017) Menzel et al. (2010)			
Bulimia Test (BUILT; Smith & Thelan, 1984)Caslini et al.(2016) Connors & Morse (1992)Minnesota Eating Behavior Survey (MEBS; Von Ranson et al., 2005)Caslini et al.(2016) Menzel et al. (2010)Binge Eating Scale (BES; Gormally, Black, Daston, & Rardin, 1982).Caslini et al.(2016)The Bulimia Test-Revised (BULIT-R; Thelan, Farmer, Wonderlich, & Smith, 1991)Caslini et al.(2016)Bulimic Investigatory Test, Edinburgh (BITE). The BITE (Henderson & Freeman, 1987)Caslini et al.(2016)The Eating Attitudes Test (EAT; Garner, D. M., & Garfinkel, P. E. (1979)Caslini et al.(2016) Menzel et al. 2010) Molendijk et al. (2017) Pope & Hudson (1992) Smolak & Murmen (2002)Structured Inventory for Anorexic and Bulimic Syndromes (SIAB-EX; Fitcher, 1998)Caslini et al.(2016) Kimber et al. (2017) Menzel et al. (2010)Dutch Eating Behaviour Questionnaire (Van Strien et al., 1986)Kimber et al. (2017) Menzel et al. (2010)	Structured Inventory for Anorexic and Bulimic Syndromes (SIAB-EX, Fitcher 1998)	Pignatelli et al. (2017)	
Minnesota Eating Behavior Survey (MEBS; Von Ranson et al., 2005)Connors & Morse (1992)Minnesota Eating Behavior Survey (MEBS; Von Ranson et al., 2005)Caslini et al.(2016) Menzel et al. (2010)Binge Eating Scale (BES; Gormally, Black, Daston, & Rardin, 1982).Caslini et al.(2016)The Bulimia Test-Revised (BULIT-R; Thelan, Farmer, Wonderlich, & Smith, 1991)Caslini et al.(2016) Menzel et al. (2010)Bulimic Investigatory Test, Edinburgh (BITE). The BITE (Henderson & Freeman, 1987)Caslini et al.(2016) Menzel et al. (2016)The Eating Attitudes Test (EAT; Garner, D. M., & Garfinkel, P. E. (1979)Caslini et al.(2016) Menzel et al. 2010) Molendijk et al. (2017) Pope & Hudson (1992) Smolak & Murnen (2002) Caslini et al.(2016)Structured Inventory for Anorexic and Bulimic Syndromes (SIAB-EX; Fitcher, 1998)Kimber et al. (2017) Menzel et al. (2010)	The Eating Disorder Risk Composite (EDRC; Gardner, 2004)	Menzel et al. (2010)	
Minnesota Eating Behavior Survey (MEBS; Von Ranson et al., 2005)Caslini et al.(2016) Menzel et al. (2010)Binge Eating Scale (BES; Gormally, Black, Daston, & Rardin, 1982).Caslini et al.(2016)The Bulimia Test-Revised (BULIT-R; Thelan, Farmer, Wonderlich, & Smith, 1991)Caslini et al.(2016) Menzel et al. (2010)Bulimic Investigatory Test, Edinburgh (BITE). The BITE (Henderson & Freeman, 1987)Caslini et al.(2016)The Eating Attitudes Test (EAT; Garner, D. M., & Garfinkel, P. E. (1979)Caslini et al.(2016) Menzel et al. (2017) Pope & Hudson (1992) Smolak & Murnen (2002) Caslini et al.(2016)Structured Inventory for Anorexic and Bulimic Syndromes (SIAB-EX; Fitcher, 1998)Kimber et al. (2017) Menzel et al. (2017) Menzel et al. (2016)Dutch Eating Behaviour Questionnaire (Van Strien et al., 1986)Kimber et al. (2017) Menzel et al. (2010)	Bulimia Test (BUILT; Smith & Thelan, 1984)		
Menzel et al. (2010)Binge Eating Scale (BES; Gormally, Black, Daston, & Rardin, 1982).Caslini et al. (2016)The Bulimia Test-Revised (BULIT-R; Thelan, Farmer, Wonderlich, & Smith, 1991)Caslini et al. (2016)Bulimic Investigatory Test, Edinburgh (BITE). The BITE (Henderson & Freeman, 1987)Caslini et al. (2010)The Eating Attitudes Test (EAT; Garner, D. M., & Garfinkel, P. E. (1979)Caslini et al. (2016)Menzel et al. (2017)Pope & Hudson (1992)Structured Inventory for Anorexic and Bulimic Syndromes (SIAB-EX; Fitcher, 1998)Caslini et al. (2017)Dutch Eating Behaviour Questionnaire (Van Strien et al., 1986)Kimber et al. (2017)		Connors & Morse (1992)	
Menzel et al. (2010)Binge Eating Scale (BES; Gormally, Black, Daston, & Rardin, 1982).Caslini et al. (2016)The Bulimia Test-Revised (BULIT-R; Thelan, Farmer, Wonderlich, & Smith, 1991)Caslini et al. (2016)Bulimic Investigatory Test, Edinburgh (BITE). The BITE (Henderson & Freeman, 1987)Caslini et al. (2010)The Eating Attitudes Test (EAT; Garner, D. M., & Garfinkel, P. E. (1979)Caslini et al. (2016)Menzel et al. (2017)Pope & Hudson (1992)Structured Inventory for Anorexic and Bulimic Syndromes (SIAB-EX; Fitcher, 1998)Caslini et al. (2017)Dutch Eating Behaviour Questionnaire (Van Strien et al., 1986)Kimber et al. (2017)	Minnesota Eating Behavior Survey (MEBS; Von Ranson et al., 2005)	Caslini et al.(2016)	
The Bulimia Test-Revised (BULIT-R; Thelan, Farmer, Wonderlich, & Smith, 1991)Caslini et al.(2016) Menzel et al. (2010)Bulimic Investigatory Test, Edinburgh (BITE). The BITE (Henderson & Freeman, 1987)Caslini et al.(2016)The Eating Attitudes Test (EAT; Garner, D. M., & Garfinkel, P. E. (1979)Caslini et al.(2016) Menzel et al. 2010) Molendijk et al. (2017) Pope & Hudson (1992) Smolak & Murnen (2002)Structured Inventory for Anorexic and Bulimic Syndromes (SIAB-EX; Fitcher, 1998)Caslini et al.(2016) Menzel et al. (2017) Molendijk et al. (2010)Dutch Eating Behaviour Questionnaire (Van Strien et al., 1986)Kimber et al. (2017) Menzel et al. (2010)			
Menzel et al. (2010)Bulimic Investigatory Test, Edinburgh (BITE). The BITE (Henderson & Freeman, 1987)Caslini et al. (2016)The Eating Attitudes Test (EAT; Garner, D. M., & Garfinkel, P. E. (1979)Caslini et al. (2016) Menzel et al. 2010) Molendijk et al. (2017) Pope & Hudson (1992) Smolak & Murnen (2002) Caslini et al.(2016)Structured Inventory for Anorexic and Bulimic Syndromes (SIAB-EX; Fitcher, 1998)Stimber et al. (2017) Menzel et al. (2016)Dutch Eating Behaviour Questionnaire (Van Strien et al., 1986)Kimber et al. (2017) Menzel et al. (2010)	Binge Eating Scale (BES; Gormally, Black, Daston, & Rardin, 1982).	Caslini et al.(2016)	
Bulimic Investigatory Test, Edinburgh (BITE). The BITE (Henderson & Freeman, 1987)Caslini et al.(2016)The Eating Attitudes Test (EAT; Garner, D. M., & Garfinkel, P. E. (1979)Caslini et al.(2016) Menzel et al. 2010) Molendijk et al. (2017) Pope & Hudson (1992) Structured Inventory for Anorexic and Bulimic Syndromes (SIAB-EX; Fitcher, 1998)Caslini et al.(2016) Menzel et al. (2017) Pope & Hudson (1992) Smolak & Murnen (2002) Caslini et al.(2016)Dutch Eating Behaviour Questionnaire (Van Strien et al., 1986)Kimber et al. (2017) Menzel et al. (2010)	The Bulimia Test-Revised (BULIT-R; Thelan, Farmer, Wonderlich, & Smith, 1991)	Caslini et al.(2016)	
The Eating Attitudes Test (EAT; Garner, D. M., & Garfinkel, P. E. (1979)Caslini et al.(2016) Menzel et al. 2010) Molendijk et al. (2017) Pope & Hudson (1992) Smolak & Murnen (2002)Structured Inventory for Anorexic and Bulimic Syndromes (SIAB-EX; Fitcher, 1998)Caslini et al.(2016)Dutch Eating Behaviour Questionnaire (Van Strien et al., 1986)Kimber et al. (2017) Menzel et al. (2017) Menzel et al. (2010)			
Menzel et al. 2010) Molendijk et al. (2017) Pope & Hudson (1992) Smolak & Murnen (2002) Caslini et al.(2016) Dutch Eating Behaviour Questionnaire (Van Strien et al., 1986) Kimber et al. (2017) Menzel et al. (2017) Menzel et al. (2017)	Bulimic Investigatory Test, Edinburgh (BITE). The BITE (Henderson & Freeman, 1987)	Caslini et al.(2016)	
Menzel et al. 2010) Molendijk et al. (2017) Pope & Hudson (1992) Smolak & Murnen (2002) Caslini et al.(2016) Dutch Eating Behaviour Questionnaire (Van Strien et al., 1986) Kimber et al. (2017) Menzel et al. (2017) Menzel et al. (2017)	The Eating Attitudes Test (EAT: Garner, D. M., & Garfinkel, P. F. (1979)	Caslini et al (2016)	
Molendijk et al. (2017) Pope & Hudson (1992) Smolak & Murnen (2002)Structured Inventory for Anorexic and Bulimic Syndromes (SIAB-EX; Fitcher, 1998)Smolak & Murnen (2002) Caslini et al.(2016)Dutch Eating Behaviour Questionnaire (Van Strien et al., 1986)Kimber et al. (2017) Menzel et al. (2010)	The Eating Autodes Test (EAT, Garner, D. W., & Garninker, T. E. (1979)		
Pope & Hudson (1992)Structured Inventory for Anorexic and Bulimic Syndromes (SIAB-EX; Fitcher, 1998)Smolak & Murnen (2002)Dutch Eating Behaviour Questionnaire (Van Strien et al., 1986)Kimber et al. (2017)Menzel et al. (2010)			
Structured Inventory for Anorexic and Bulimic Syndromes (SIAB-EX; Fitcher, 1998)Smolak & Murnen (2002) Caslini et al.(2016)Dutch Eating Behaviour Questionnaire (Van Strien et al., 1986)Kimber et al. (2017) Menzel et al. (2010)			
Structured Inventory for Anorexic and Bulimic Syndromes (SIAB-EX; Fitcher, 1998)Caslini et al.(2016)Dutch Eating Behaviour Questionnaire (Van Strien et al., 1986)Kimber et al. (2017) Menzel et al. (2010)			
Dutch Eating Behaviour Questionnaire (Van Strien et al., 1986) Kimber et al. (2017) Menzel et al. (2010)	Structured Inventory for Anorovic and Dulimic Structures (CIAD EV. Eitshor, 1000)		
Menzel et al. (2010)	Survey inventory for Anorexic and Builline Syndromes (SIAD-EA; Filcher, 1998)		
Menzel et al. (2010)	Dutch Eating Behaviour Questionnaire (Van Strien et al., 1986)	Kimber et al. (2017)	
Eating Disorder Diagnostic Scale (Stice, Fisher, & Martinez, 2004). Kimber et al. (2017)			
	Eating Disorder Diagnostic Scale (Stice, Fisher, & Martinez, 2004).	Kimber et al. (2017)	

# **Results of Reviews**

# Abuse

One high quality review focused on combined abuse (Molendijk et al., 2017). The results showed people with EDs were more likely to report a history of adversity than psychiatric controls (OR 1.31, 95% CI 1.08–1.58, p < 0.001). Compared to healthy controls, people with BN more often reported CSA (OR=2.57, 96% CI= 1.62-4.01, P<.001) and CEA (OR=5.13, 96% CI= 2.80-9.40, P<.001). Individuals with BED were more likely to report all forms of abuse compared to healthy controls - CSA (OR=1.88, 96% CI= 1.38-2.55, P<.001), CPA (OR=2.57, 96% CI= 1.99–3.31, P<.001) and CEA (OR=2.44, 96% CI= 1.73–3.43, P<.001). Individuals with AN were more likely to report CPA (OR=2.42, 96% CI= 1.34-4.35, P<.001) and CEA (OR=3.81, 95% CI = 22.05-7.08, p < .001) than controls. Molendijk et al. (2017) provide nuance in their results by comparing subtypes of AN to healthy controls to find that those with binge-purge subtype were more likely to report CSA than restrictive subtype or healthy controls. Molendijk et al. (2017) were the only review to provide evidence of association between abuse and EDNOS. The results suggest a significant association between EDNOS and CSA (OR=5.11, 95% CI = 1.94-13.64, p < .01) but not with combined child abuse, CP or CEA. The low quality review (Caslini et al., 2016) found a number of similar associations. Caslini et al. (2016) suggested an association between combined abuse and ED (OR=3.21, 95% CI = 2.29-4.51, p <.00) in comparison to healthy controls. Similarly to the other review, Caslini et al (2016) investigated associations between separate abuse categories and ED subtypes in comparison to healthy controls. BN was found to be associated with CSA (OR=2.73, 95% CI = 1.96-3.79, p < 100.001), CPA (OR of 3.44, 95% CI = 2.56–4.61) and CEA (OR =4.15, 95% CI = 2.71–6.37,

p<.001). This was replicated with BED - CSA (OR=2.31, 95% CI = 1.66-3.20, p < .001), CPA (OR=3.10, 95% CI = 2.49-3.88, p < .001) and CEA (OR=3.70, 95% CI = 2.07-6.60, p < .001). However, in comparison to healthy controls, individuals with AN were only more likely to report CPA (OR=3.35, 95% CI = 1.43-7.85, p = .005).

There were methodological discrepancies between these reviews when defining abuse criteria. Caslini et al. (2016) drew on definitions suggested in previous research (Doyle, 1997; Treuer et al., 2005; Wonderlich et al., 1997) whereas Molendijk et al. (2017) use a modified definition of adversity put forward by the WHO (2016b). Molendijk et al. (2017) included emotional neglect as a component of emotional abuse whereas Caslini et al. (2016) did not appear to. This may have led to potentially different concepts being measured. It is also noted that there was an overlap of sixteen articles included in both reviews potentially creating overlap in some of the results.

Five reviews focused on the relationship between CSA and EDs, two low quality (Chen et al., 2010; Wonderlich et al., 1997) and three critically low (Connors & Morse, 1993; Pope & Hudson, 1992; Smolak & Murnen, 2002). Wonderlich et al. (1997) suggested that CSA was associated with BN, particularly when there are comorbid diagnoses. They also noted that there was a stronger relationship between CSA and BN than there was with the restrictive subtype of AN. Chen et al. (2010) MA found a significant association between a history of CSA and a lifetime diagnosis of EDs (OR, 2.72; 95% CI, 2.04- 3.63). Chen et al. conducted a sensitivity analysis to determine whether the type of abuse (rape vs all forms of sexual abuse) would impact the association. A history of rape was found to strengthen the association of sexual abuse with

lifetime diagnoses of ED (OR, 21.69; 95% CI, 1.26-373.39) (Chen et al., 2010). The two critically low reviews utilised similar narrative methodologies to conclude comparable rates of historical CSA between individuals with ED and the general population (Connors & Morse, 1993; Pope & Hudson, 1992). Pope and Hudson (1992) included only populations with a BN diagnosis compared to Connors and Morse (1993) who included all ED subtypes. A critically low-quality MA (Smolak & Murnen, 2002) compared sexually abused with non-abused individuals on ED measures to find a significant effect size (z = 16.73, p < .001); however, significant heterogeneity was detected ( $x^2(29) = 201.04$ , p < .01). Effect sizes were larger for EAT or EDI (r = .284, k = 13) than using a subcategory specific measure such as a BN measure (r = .107, k = 6);  $x^2(2) = 51.51$ , p < .05. The MA also found a significant effect size (r = .07, z = 13.28, p < .01) comparing ED with psychiatric controls on sexual abuse measures. Again heterogeneity was found across studies,  $x^2(22) = 100.94$ , p < .01. A diagnosis of BN was shown to have larger effect sizes than controls (r = .082, k = 18) compared with those with a more general ED diagnosis (r = .023, k = 5) (general ED diagnosis was defined by the authors).

## Abuse and Neglect

A high quality MA (Norman et al., 2012) found that CPA (OR = 2.58; CI = 1.17-5.70), CEA (OR = 2.56; CI= 1.14-4.65) and neglect (OR=2.99; CI= 1.53-5.83) were associated with an almost three-fold increased risk for developing an ED. CPA was associated with a five-fold increased risk for developing BN and a dose–response relationship was also observed, with BN more likely with more severe and repeated physical abuse (Norman et al., 2012).

A low-quality systematic review (Kimber et al., 2017) investigated the relationship between child exposure to intimate partner violence (IPV), CEA, neglect and adult eating

disorders and eating-disordered behaviour. They reported an association between CEA and ED ranging from weak (r=0.16) to exceptionally strong (r=0.89), and an association between CEA and eating disordered behaviour ranging from very weak (r=0.003) to moderately strong (r=0.47). An additional association was found between emotional neglect and ED ranging from weak-to-moderate (r=0.21) to very strong (r=0.76) and eating disordered behaviour ranging from very weak (r=0.03) to moderately strong (r=0.34). Kimber et al. (2017) also commented on a moderately strong (r=0.32) relationship between witnessing domestic violence and EDs as well as a weak relationship to disordered eating (very weak r=0.04 to weak-to-moderate r=0.21.

Both reviews investigated CEA and neglect. There were several discrepancies and inconsistencies between the two reviews which will be further considered in the discussion section.

# Neglect

One review of low quality (Pignatelli et al., 2017) reported an association between eating disorders and emotional neglect (OR 53.5%, 95% CI=42.3%, 64.3%) and physical neglect (OR 45.4%; 95% CI=33.1%,58.2%). Despite these findings being based on over 1,000 participants, the authors only reported for general ED and did not report associations with specific types of ED. Pignatelli et al. (2017) tested for homogeneity and found that this assumption was not met, Q(6) = 71.53, p < .001.

### **Household Dysfunction**

One high quality review investigated the impact of adversities occurring in the context of home and family environments on eating disorders e.g. family conflict or disturbance; death of a family

member or significant person; familial mental health issues; receiving comments from family on eating, or shape, weight and appearance (Grogan et al., 2020). Grogan et al. (2020) chose not to conduct a MA, citing high levels of heterogeneity across the included articles. The authors reported overall higher associations between household dysfunctions and BN and BED rather than AN. Family disharmony, family comments about eating or physical appearance and disruptions in family structure (family members leaving or joining the family) were associated with BN and BED compared to controls. Parental indifference and negative parent-child interactions were experienced more by individuals with BN compared to those with AN. The studies included by Grogan et al. (2020) were highly heterogeneous due to the scope of the aims and inclusion of diverse research designs, measures of adversity and ED population.

# **Bullying/Teasing**

One moderate quality review reported several associations with moderate-large effect sizes: weight teasing and body dissatisfaction, weight teasing and dietary restraint, weight teasing and body dissatisfaction and appearance teasing and bulimic behaviours (Menzel et al., 2010). Menzel et al. (2010) draw attend to several moderating factors, shown in Table 6. The authors suggested that teasing measure type indicated that single-item measures of teasing consistently underestimate the strength of associations. This result may partly be accounted for by the limited variance in a single item which then restricts the range of calculated correlations (Menzel et al., 2010). These results must be interpreted with caution. Measures of bullying/teasing varied considerably in context (e.g., timeframe, type, and perpetrator). Many studies included in the reviews did not include a definition of bullying/teasing in their measures and used the terms "bullying" or "teasing" without further definition. It was also often unclear what type of bullying experiences participants reported (e.g., verbal, physical, etc.). This was supported by a critically low quality review (Lie et al., 2019) which highlighted that individuals with ED were two to three times more likely to have experienced generic bullying victimization (OR=2.22, CI: 1.53– 3.22; p<0.01) and appearance-related teasing (OR=2.93, CI: 1.97–4.37; p<0.01) in childhood before the onset of ED diagnosis. Heterogeneity was present for associations with appearancerelated teasing (I2 = 82.89%, p < 0.0001).

# Table 6

Moderators of weight teasing and appearance teasing in the review of Menzel et al. (2010)

Association	Moderator and effect		
weight teasing and body dissatisfaction	strengthened by		
	• Multi-item measures as opposed to single-item measures, Qbetween(1, 49) =		
	72.06, p < .001		
	• cross-sectional studies as opposed to longitudinal studies, Qbetween(1, 49)		
	= 127.93, p < .001		
	• Age		
	$\circ$ Child and adolescents than in adults Qbetween(1, 49) = 22.57, p <		
	.001		
	• Gender		
	$\circ$ Female sample than in male samples (Qbetween(1, 49) = 50.35, p <		
	.001)		
weight teasing and dietary restraint	Strengthened by		
	• Age		
	• Child and adolescents than in adult samples $Qbetween(1, 49) =$		
	22.57, p < .001		
weight teasing and bulimic behaviours	Strengthened by		
	• multi-item measures as opposed to single-item measures Qbetween(1, 21) =		
	11.85, p < .001,		
	• community samples as opposed to clinical samples Qbetween(1, 22) = 5.34,		
	p < .05		
appearance teasing and body dissatisfaction	• multi-item measures of teasing as opposed to single item measure		
	Qbetween $(1, 23) = 3.93, p < .05$		
	• cross-sectional studies as opposed to longitudinal Qbetween(1, 23) = 71.42,		
	p < .001		

# Discussion

This is the first meta-review to attempt to synthesise the current evidence and provide a comprehensive summary of associations between childhood adversity and eating disorders under an ACEs framework. This review provided a narrative synthesis and quality appraisal of thirteen articles. This meta-review emphasises the complexities of this literature and affords an opportunity to expand ACEs research in the context of ED.

### Table 7

Evidence of association between ACEs and eating disorders from High or Moderate Quality Reviews

ABUSE	Neglect (Emotional/Physical)	Household Dysfunction	Bullying and Teasing
• CSA	• Norman et al., (2012)	• Bulmia and binge eating	• Disordered eating (Menzel
• Molendijk et al. (2017)		(Grogan et al.,2020)	et al., 2010)
• CPA			
• Molendijk et al. (2017)			
• Norman et al., (2012)			
• CEA			
• Norman et al., (2012)			
• Molendijk et al. (2017)			

High quality Reviews - Grogan et al. (2020); Molendijk et al. (2017), Norman et al. (2012); Moderate Quality Reviews - Mezel et al. (2010)

#### Georgette Morrison – Large Scale Research Project (LSRP) – DClinPsy– July 2021

The findings of this meta-review suggest that there is high to moderate quality evidence of an association between ACEs and EDs (Table 7). The high to moderate quality reviews found an overall relationship between EDs and CSA (Molendijk et al., 2017), CEA (Molendijk et al., 2017; Norman et al., 2012), CPA (Molendijk et al., 2017; Norman et al. 2012), neglect (Norman et al., 2012), household dysfunction (Grogan et al., 2020). Reviews that were not considered high quality also reported a relationship between ACEs and EDs.

# ACEs and specific ED subtypes

Of the high and moderate quality reviews that separated associations of ACEs with subtypes of EDs, BN and BED appeared to have the most consistent associations. BN and BED were associated with all three forms of abuse: CSA (Molendijk et al., 2017), CPA (Norman et al., 2012; Molendijk et al., 2017), CEA (Molendijk et al., 2017). There was also a relationship found with Household dysfunction (Grogan et al., 2020). AN was suggested to have a more complex relationship with ACEs categories. AN was found to have a consistent relationship with CPA (Molendijk et al., 2017), however an association was only found between CSA and binge-purge subtype but not for restrictive subtype. Furthermore, there were conflicting results regarding the association between AN and CEA with only Molendijk et al. (2017) finding a relationship. The evidence appears to suggest that abuse (CSA, CPA, CEA), neglect and aspects of household dysfunction are specifically linked to developing BN or BED behaviour. ACEs often involve the extreme deprivation of basic necessities for children, e.g., food and security (Coffino et al., 2020). Research suggests that poverty-induced food restriction may be related to cyclical access to food through monthly pay checks or allocation of benefits (Becker et al., 2017) Low food security was associated with increased likelihood of BED and BN diagnoses (Lyndecker &

Grilo, 2019; Rasmusson et al., 2019). This may provide suggestion of some moderators of the associations found between ACEs and EDs.

Few reviews included reviews that assessed potential mechanisms. Kimber et al. (2017) reported on studies which demonstrated that emotional regulation mediates the relationship between CEA and ED, one article which reported anger and self-criticism mediate this relationship and another which found that depression and anxiety did. Caslini et al. (2016) suggest that EDs may be both a reaction to abuse and a strategy for coping with emotions resulting from experiencing adversity. For example, CSA may be too stressful for the individual to tolerate without developing ED (Dworkin et al., 2014). Similarly, Pignatelli et al. (2017) propose ED as a way of experiencing control in contrast to the abuse/neglect context over which the individual has had no control. Theoretical models have claimed both bingeing–vomiting and restriction are emotion suppression strategies, helping the individual to dissociate from negative experiences such as ACEs (Cooper et al., 2004). Thus, ED may offer a coping strategy to bring about internal control and affective modulation in the presence of poor emotional regulation and stress responses resulting from ACEs.

The literature has suggested an interaction between genes and environment to explain the underlying processes between ACEs and EDs. Early life experiences of adversity have the capacity to influence cortisol reactivity to stress, which may explain why some individuals are at increased risk of developing stress-reactive psychopathologies, such as EDs (Hankin et al., 2015). Literature has shown elevated cortisol in individuals with AN and BN who had been exposed to ACEs compared to those with AN and BN who had not been exposed to ACEs

(Monteleone et al., 2015). Rozenblat et al. (2017) suggest that individuals with the 'risky' genotype may be relatively resilient to low levels of environmental risk, but disproportionately affected by greater environmental adversity (e.g., experiencing numerous types of ACEs). It is possible that this would lead to reduced availability of serotonin in the stress response system resulting in poor stress and emotional regulation (van Eekelen et al., 2012). Research has noted a reduction in cortisol awakening response in women with AN or BN (Monteleone et al., 2015) with a possible dose-dependent effect of childhood trauma (Monteleone et al., 2018b). These findings provide evidence that early adverse experiences have a long-lasting detrimental effect on both the basal activity and the stress reactivity of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis (HPA) in AN and BN (Monteleone et al., 2018). However, it is difficult to disentangle the influence of ACEs from the nutritional and metabolic consequences of an ED. This could be a potential area for further research.

Not all the ACEs have been measured in association with EDs. This was most evident in the Household Dysfunction category, e.g. having an incarcerated parent was not measured. Preliminary literature has suggested that household dysfunction, such as parental incarceration, increases the risk for poorer child health difficulties, chronic physical conditions, developmental disorders, and mental health conditions including ED compared to children who have not been exposed to parental incarceration (Jackson & Vaughn, 2017; Jackson et al., 2021). This represents an important gap in the ACEs and ED literature for researchers to address.

### **Methodological Variability**

There were several methodological discrepancies across the literature which appeared to moderate the results of the reviews. This made drawing consistent conclusions difficult and may

#### Georgette Morrison - Large Scale Research Project (LSRP) - DClinPsy-July 2021

account for the high prevalence of heterogeneity across the reviews. Methodological moderators highlighted the following themes: assessment tools, definitions, population, and design.

Potential sources of heterogeneity were highlights. One review suggested the inclusion of varied designs, both qualitative and quantitative methods, diverse ED diagnoses (AN, BN and BED) and range of control populations (clinical and non-clinical) could account for the heterogeneity (Grogan et al., 2020). For example, it may be that participants are more or less likely to disclose sensitive information depending on the method used. An additional source of heterogeneity could include the diverse outcome measures used for ACEs. Heterogeneity of methodologies limits the certainty with which the reported associations can be stated.

A range of methods were used for measuring both ACEs and EDs. The most appropriate strategy for assessing ACEs is still under debate. None of the included reviews used the Adverse Childhood Experience Questionnaire (ACE-Q; Felitti et al., 1998) instead showing preference for measures such as Childhood Trauma Questionnaire (CTQ; Bernstein et al., 1994) and clinical interview. This is potentially reflective of the original ACE study which adapted their questions from several previous questionnaires and studies. There are benefits and costs to the assessment methods utilised. Benefits of clinical interviews include the opportunity to capture greater detail and elicit sensitive information that might not otherwise be disclosed. Alternatively, self-report measures are less time consuming and costly, especially for large scale research (Boyle et al., 2017). Nevertheless, including a range of assessment tools to measure ACEs would improve the reliability of conclusions drawn as the potential to measure contrasting constructs is increased.

#### Georgette Morrison - Large Scale Research Project (LSRP) - DClinPsy-July 2021

This criticism is also applicable to the variety of assessment tools utilised to measure ED. Many reviews included a DSM or ICD diagnosis. This provided some homogeneity; however, other assessment tools were also utilised across the included reviews. Menzel et al. (2010) noted in their review that the type of tool used to assess ED (EDI or EAT) moderated the size of the effect. They noted the moderating effect in their analysis of using more narrowly defined ED tools, such as BUILT, produced a smaller effect size than broader assessment tools such as EDI and EAT. This has the potential to underestimate the association between ACEs and EDs.

All the SRs and MAs included defined concepts of adversity in line with the definition of ACEs provided by this review. However, authors used slightly different definitions of the ACEs included in their review such as child maltreatment or child trauma. Some did not include a definition and only stated the concept whereas others chose to combine categories into overarching concepts. This may be due to the original review providing a broad definition of its terminology (Feletti et al., 1998). This conceptual inconsistency makes it less clear whether the same construct was being measured across studies, potentially impacting on the complexity of the literature. Furthermore, reliability and replicability become problematic. It is recommended that researchers decide on a clear, standardised definition of each component of ACEs, and the best way to measure it, to increase consistency and make results more comparable across studies. It must also be noted that different types of abuse frequently co-occur (Dong et al., 2004; Feletti et al., 1998, Finkelhor, 1998). Although reviews have reported the association of separate or combined ACEs with EDs, no summary analysis of the interrelationships among multiple forms of ACEs has been reported. In order to better understand the effects of ACEs, an in-depth investigation of the interrelationships is critical (Dong et al., 2004).

In most reviews there was a reliance on cross sectional design studies, in which participants retrospectively self-report adversity. Recall bias in the report of ACEs can artificially cause an association between self-reported child abuse and later outcomes (Talmon & Widom, 2021). Authors have argued that retrospective studies do not provide data about child abuse experiences that is as accurate as prospective studies and have cautioned against sole reliance on retrospective accounts (Baldwin et al., 2019). Nevertheless, methodologically, prospective studies of ACEs would be practically challenging and highlight ethical concerns in practical application. Longitudinal research has shown that retrospectively recorded ACEs are more strongly associated with health outcomes than those that were objectively assessed prospectively (Reuben et al., 2016), which might reflect a degree of bias. Limited studies have examined ACEs as risk factors for eating disorders using a longitudinal prospective design (Johnson et al., 2002; Li et al., 2019). The implications are that the associations reported in this meta-review may be stronger than those that would have been found had reviews focused on longitudinal studies.

### Limitations

Limitations of this review include the use of the AMSTAR 2 (Shea et al. 2017). This tool is primarily designed for quality assessing SRs and MAs that include randomised and or nonrandomised studies of healthcare interventions, or both. Due to the nature of the research question, included studies are observational, and therefore, some of the items in the AMSTAR 2 had to be modified or omitted, potentially affecting reliability. To account for this all the included reviews were assessed by three additional independent raters, with 100% agreement. The AMSTAR 2 was chosen because to the author's knowledge there are no tools for qualityassessing SRs and MAs that has had its psychometric qualities tested (Shea et al., 2017) and

#### Georgette Morrison - Large Scale Research Project (LSRP) - DClinPsy-July 2021

which gives a more detailed appraisal than a checklist with a total score (a method that may obscure any weaknesses in critical areas). It is also a tool recommended in the Cochrane handbook for conducting overviews of reviews, (Pollock et al., 2018).

The SRs and MAs included in this review did not appear to control for the co-occurrence of types of ACEs. It is possible that when reporting separate analyses, e.g. neglect, there may have been the potential influence of another ACE, e.g. CEA. Future research should only include participants who report high levels of one type of ACE and low levels of another or to statistically control for possible co-occurring ACEs.

This review exposes several prospects for future research, e.g. consistent measurement and definitions of ACEs. A further potential gap in the literature is attention to diversity (i.e., gender, race, and sexual orientation). Attention to diversity is essential because of potential societal bias regarding who is at risk for experiencing ACEs and developing EDs. Men and racial minorities are less likely than their female and white counterparts to be assessed for EDs (Gordon et al., 2002; MacCaughelty et al., 2016). At a time when conversations and activism related to social justice, diversity, equity, and inclusion are occurring around the globe it is important to understand how diversity might moderate the association between ACEs and ED.

### **Clinical Implications**

This meta-review includes sufficient reviews of sufficient quality to conclude with some certainty that ACEs are associated with later onset of ED, and tentatively we can conclude some specific associations between ACEs and types of ED. Given the lack of differentiation between types of adversity and controlling for the co-occurrence of types of adversity, more research is

#### Georgette Morrison - Large Scale Research Project (LSRP) - DClinPsy-July 2021

required to verify their unique contributions to EDs, and ED subtypes. However, there is sufficient evidence to conclude that clinicians should investigate the impact of ACEs in the presentations of the individuals seen in clinic. Unfortunately, research suggests that clinicians do not routinely assess trauma history (Read et al., 2007). Early identification of trauma history for people with EDs may provide relevant and valuable information for individualised psychological formulation and trauma informed interventions to reduce psychological distress and increase coping skills. It can also provide an understanding of difficulty within the therapeutic relationship A person who has experienced ACEs may find building a therapeutic relationship particularly challenging (Anderson et al., 2019). The foundational trust in relationships is disrupted when children experience relationships as unsafe. This can have a detrimental impact on the rate of dropout, help seeking and protection (Golden et al., 2003) and the ability to maintain a therapeutic relationship (Mahon et al., 2001). However, research suggests when asked about prior trauma, services users appreciate opportunities of talking about their experiences and do not experience an increase in symptoms (Sweeney et al., 2018).

### Conclusion

This meta-review provides an up-to-date account of the quality of literature between ACEs and EDs. The findings suggest there is high to moderate quality evidence of an association between ACEs and EDs. The high to moderate quality reviews found an overall relationship between EDs and CSA (Molendijk et al., 2017), CEA (Molendijk et al., 2017; Norman et al., 2012), CPA (Molendijk et al., 2017; Norman et al., 2012), neglect (Norman et al., 2012) and household dysfunction (Grogan et al., 2020). Reviews not considered high quality also reported a relationship between ACEs and EDs. Despite the need for further research into theoretical pathways and mechanisms of this association, clinicians should not overlook ACEs in their

assessment of people with EDs. Furthermore, researchers should aim to provide a distinct and consistent definition of each ACE to increase consistency and reliability.

# References

Afifi, T. O., Sareen, J., Fortier, J., Taillieu, T., Turner, S., Cheung, K., & Henriksen, C. A. (2017). Child maltreatment and eating disorders among men and women in adulthood: Results from a nationally representative United States sample. *International journal of eating disorders, 50*(11), 1281-1296. https://doi.org/10.1002/eat.22783

Allison, K. C., Grilo, C. M., Masheb, R. M., & Stunkard, A. J. (2007). High self-reported rates of neglect and emotional abuse, by persons with BED disorder and night eating syndrome. *Behaviour research and therapy*, *45*(12), 2874-2883. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2007.05.007

Allen, M., & Donkin, A. (2015). The impact of adverse experiences in the home on the health of children and young people, and inequalities in prevalence and effects. *London: UCL Institute of Health Equity.* 

American Psychological Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (5th ed.)*. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association.

Anda, R. F., Felitti, V. J., Bremner, J. D., Walker, J. D., Whitfield, C. H., Perry, B. D., ... &
Giles, W. H. (2006). The enduring effects of abuse and related adverse experiences in childhood. *European archives of psychiatry and clinical neuroscience, 256*(3), 174-186.
https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00406-005-0624-4. Medline:16311898

#### Georgette Morrison - Large Scale Research Project (LSRP) - DClinPsy-July 2021

Anderson, S. (2019), 'Rethinking adverse childhood experiences', Howard League for Penal Reform, Early Career Academics Network Bulletin, April 2019, Issue 41. Retrieved from: https://howardleague.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/ECAN-bulletin-Spring-2019.pdf

Anderson, S. R., Banford Witting, A., Tambling, R. R., Ketring, S. A., & Johnson, L. N. (2020). Pressure to attend therapy, dyadic adjustment, and adverse childhood experiences: Direct and indirect effects on the therapeutic alliance in couples therapy. *Journal of marital and family therapy*, *46*(2), 366-380. https://doi.org/10.1111/jmft.12394

Backholm, K., Isomaa, R., & Birgegård, A. (2013). The prevalence and impact of trauma history in eating disorder patients. *European Journal of Psychotraumatology*, *4*(1), 22482. https://doi.org/10.3402/ejpt.v4i0.22482

Baldwin, J. R., Reuben, A., Newbury, J. B., & Danese, A. (2019). Agreement between prospective and retrospective measures of childhood maltreatment: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA psychiatry*, *76*(6), 584-593. doi:10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2019.0097

Beat, U. K. (2015). The costs of eating disorders: Social, health and economic impacts. Retrieved from : <u>https://www.beateatingdisorders.org.uk/uploads/documents/2017/10/the-costs-of-eating-disorders-final-original.pdf</u>. Accessed 27 February 2021

Becker, D. F., & Grilo, C. M. (2011). Childhood maltreatment in women with binge-eating disorder: Associations with psychiatric comorbidity, psychological functioning, and eating

pathology. Eating and Weight Disorders-Studies on Anorexia, *Bulimia and Obesity*, *16*(2), e113-e120. doi: 10.1007/BF03325316

Bellis, M. A. (2014). National household survey of adverse childhood experiences and their relationship with resilience to health-harming behaviors in England. *BMC medicine*, *12*(1), 1-10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1741-7015-12-72</u>

Bernstein, D. P., Fink, L., Handelsman, L., & Foote, J. (1994). *Childhood Trauma Questionnaire* (*CTQ*) [Database record]. APA PsycTests. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/t02080-000</u>

Bernstein, D. P., Ahluvalia, T., Pogge, D., & Handelsman, L. (1997). Validity of the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire in an adolescent psychiatric population. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, *36*(3), 340-348. https://doi.org/10.1097/00004583-199703000-00012

Binnie, V., Le Brocque, R., Jessup, M., & Johnston, A. N. (2020). Adult frequent presentation to emergency departments and adverse childhood experiences: a scoping review. *Australasian Emergency care*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.auec.2020.11.002

Bonoldi, I., Simeone, E., Rocchetti, M., Codjoe, L., Rossi, G., Gambi, F., ... & Fusar-Poli, P. (2013). Prevalence of self-reported childhood abuse in psychosis: a meta-analysis of retrospective studies. *Psychiatry research, 210*(1), 8-15.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2013.05.003

Boyle, L. H., Whittaker, T. A., Eyal, M., & McCarthy, C. J. (2017). What really happens in quantitative group research? Results of a content analysis of recent quantitative research in JSGW. *The Journal for Specialists in Group Work, 42*(3), 243-252.

https://doi.org/10.1080/01933922.2017.1338812

Browne, C., & Winkelman, C. (2007). The effect of childhood trauma on later psychological adjustment. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence, 22*(6), 684-697. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0886260507300207

Bucci, M., Wang, L. G., Koita, K., Purewal, S., Marques, S. S., & Harris, N. B. (2015). Center for Youth Wellness ACE-Questionnaire User Guide. San Francisco, California

Bywaters, P., Bunting, L., Davidson, G., Hanratty, J., Mason, W., McCartan, C., & Steils, N. (2016). The relationship between poverty, child abuse and neglect: An evidence review. York: Joseph Rowntree Foundation. <u>https://www.basw.co.uk/system/files/resources/basw\_25256-2\_0.pdf</u>

\*Caslini, M., Bartoli, F., Crocamo, C., Dakanalis, A., Clerici, M., & Carrà, G. (2016). Disentangling the association between child abuse and eating disorders: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Psychosomatic medicine*, *78*(1), 79-90. doi: 10.1097/PSY.00000000000233 Chartier, M. J., Walker, J. R., & Naimark, B. (2010). Separate and cumulative effects of adverse childhood experiences in predicting adult health and health care utilization. *Child abuse & neglect*, *34*(6), 454-464. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2009.09.020

\*Chen, L. P., Murad, M. H., Paras, M. L., Colbenson, K. M., Sattler, A. L., Goranson, E. N., ...
& Zirakzadeh, A. (2010, July). Sexual abuse and lifetime diagnosis of psychiatric disorders:
systematic review and meta-analysis. *In Mayo clinic proceedings*, *85*(7), 618-629.
https://doi.org/10.4065/mcp.2009.0583

Coffino, J. A., Grilo, C. M., & Udo, T. (2020). Childhood food neglect and adverse experiences associated with DSM-5 eating disorders in US national sample. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, *127*, 75-79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2020.05.011

Coffino, J. A., Udo, T., & Grilo, C. M. (2019). Rates of help-seeking in US adults with lifetime DSM-5 eating disorders: prevalence across diagnoses and differences by sex and ethnicity/race. In *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*, *94*(8), 1415-1426 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mayocp.2019.02.030

\*Connors, M. E., & Morse, W. (1993). Sexual abuse and eating disorders: A review. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, *13*(1), 1-11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/1098-108X(199301)13:1<1::AID-EAT2260130102>3.0.CO;2-P</u>

Cooper, M. J., Wells, A., & Todd, G. (2004). A cognitive model of bulimia nervosa. *British Journal of Clinical Psychology*, *43*(1), 1-16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1348/014466504772812931</u>

Cooper, M., Reilly, E. E., Siegel, J. A., Coniglio, K., Sadeh-Sharvit, S., Pisetsky, E. M., & Anderson, L. M. (2020). Eating disorders during the COVID-19 pandemic and quarantine: an overview of risks and recommendations for treatment and early intervention. *Eating disorders*, 1-23. https://doi.org/10.1080/10640266.2020.1790271

Copeland, W. E., Bulik, C. M., Zucker, N., Wolke, D., Lereya, S. T., & Costello, E. J. (2015). Does childhood bullying predict eating disorder symptoms? A prospective, longitudinal analysis. *International journal of eating disorders, 48*(8), 1141-1149. https://doi.org/10.1002/eat.22459

Corso, P. S., Edwards, V. J., Fang, X., & Mercy, J. A. (2008). Health-related quality of life among adults who experienced maltreatment during childhood. *American journal of public health, 98*(6), 1094-1100. https://ajph.aphapublications.org/doi/abs/10.2105/AJPH.2007.119826

Couper, S., & Mackie, P. (2016). Scottish Public Health Network (ScotPHN), 'Polishing the Diamonds' Addressing Adverse Childhood Experiences in Scotland. Available at: https://www.scotphn.net/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/2016\_05\_26-ACE-Report-Final-AF.pdf

Cronholm, P. F., Forke, C. M., Wade, R., Bair-Merritt, M. H., Davis, M., Harkins-Schwarz, M., ... & Fein, J. A. (2015). Adverse childhood experiences: Expanding the concept of adversity. *American journal of preventive medicine*, *49*(3), 354-361. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2015.02.001 Demmler, J. C., Brophy, S. T., Marchant, A., John, A., & Tan, J. O. (2020). Shining the light on eating disorders, incidence, prognosis and profiling of patients in primary and secondary care: national data linkage study. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, *216*(2), 105-112. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.2019.153

Dong, M., Anda, R. F., Felitti, V. J., Dube, S. R., Williamson, D. F., Thompson, T. J., Loo, C.M., & Giles, W. H. (2004). The interrelatedness of multiple forms of childhood abuse, neglect, and household dysfunction. *Child abuse & neglect, 28*(7), 771-784. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2004.01.008

Dong, M., Anda, R. F., Felitti, V. J., Dube, S. R., Williamson, D. F., Thompson, T. J., ... & Giles, W. H. (2004). The interrelatedness of multiple forms of childhood abuse, neglect, and household dysfunction. *Child abuse & neglect, 28*(7), 771-784. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2004.01.008

Duarte, C., & Pinto-Gouveia, J. (2017). Body image as a target of victimization by peers/parents: Development and validation of the Body Image Victimization Experiences Scale. *Women & health*, *57*(9), 1061-1079. https://doi.org/10.1080/03630242.2016.1243603

Duffy ME, Henkel KE (2016) Non-specific terminology: moderating shame and guilt in eating disorders. *Eating Disorders*, *24*(2),161–172. doi:10.1080/10640266.2015.1027120

Dworkin, E., Javdani, S., Verona, E., & Campbell, R. (2014). Child sexual abuse and disordered eating: The mediating role of impulsive and compulsive tendencies. *Psychology of Violence, 4*(1), 21. https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/a0031779

Fairburn, C. G., & Beglin, S. J. (2008). Eating disorder examination questionnaire EDE-Q 6.0. Cognitive behaviour therapy and eating disorders, 309, 313. <u>https://www.kognitiv.no/wp-</u> content/uploads/2017/01/Eating-Disorder-Examination-Questionnaire-elektronisk-NFKT.pdf

Felitti, V. J., Anda, R. F., Nordenberg, D., Williamson, D. F., Spitz, A. M., Edwards, V., & Marks, J. S. (1998). Relationship of childhood abuse and household dysfunction to many of the leading causes of death in adults: The Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE) Study. *American journal of preventive medicine*, *14*(4), 245-258. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0749-3797(98)00017-8

Fernandes, V., & Osório, F. L. (2015). Are there associations between early emotional trauma and anxiety disorders? Evidence from a systematic literature review and meta-analysis. *European Psychiatry*, *30*(6), 756-764. doi:10.1016/j.eurpsy.2015.06.004

Finkelhor, D., & Browne, W. (1979). Sexually victimised children. New York: The Free Press

Finkelhor, D. (1998). A comparison of the responses of preadolescents and adolescents in a national victimization survey. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence, 13*(3), 362-382. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F088626098013003004 Finkelhor, D., Shattuck, A., Turner, H., & Hamby, S. (2013). Improving the adverse childhood experiences study scale. *JAMA Pediatrics*, *167*(1), 70–75. doi:10.1001/jamapediatrics.2013.420

Finkelhor, D. (2018). Screening for adverse childhood experiences (ACEs): Cautions and suggestions. *Child abuse & neglect*, *85*, 174-179. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2017.07.016

First, M. B., & Gibbon, M. (2004). The Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV Axis IDisorders (SCID-I) and the Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV Axis II Disorders (SCID-II).

Fichter, M. M., Herpertz, S., Quadflieg, N., & Herpertz-Dahlmann, B. (1998). Structured interview for anorexic and bulimic disorders for DSM-IV and ICD-10: Updated (third) revision. *International Journal of Eating Disorders, 24*(3), 227-249.
https://doi.org/10.1002/(sici)1098-108x(199811)24:3%3C227::aid-eat1%3E3.0.co;2-o

Garner, D. M. (2004). Eating disorder inventory-3 (EDI-3). *Professional manual. Odessa, FL: Psychological Assessment Resources.* 

http://www4.parinc.com/WebUploads/samplerpts/Fact%20Sheet%20EDI-3.pdf

Garner, D. M. (1991). Eating Disorder Inventory-2; Professional Manual. Psychological assessment resources.

Gordon, K. H., Perez, M., & Joiner Jr, T. E. (2002). The impact of racial stereotypes on eating disorder recognition. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, *32*(2), 219-224. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/eat.10070. Medline:12210665</u>

Gormally, J. I. M., Black, S., Daston, S., & Rardin, D. (1982). The assessment of binge eating severity among obese persons. *Addictive behaviors*, 7(1), 47-55. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0306-4603(82)90024-7</u>

\*Grogan, K., MacGarry, D., Bramham, J., Scriven, M., Maher, C., & Fitzgerald, A. (2020). Family-related non-abuse adverse life experiences occurring for adults diagnosed with eating disorders: a systematic review. *Journal of eating disorders, 8*(1), 1-20. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40337-020-00311-6

Guillaume, S., Jaussent, I., Maïmoun, L., Ryst, A., Seneque, M., Villain, L., ... & Courtet, P. (2016). Associations between adverse childhood experiences and clinical characteristics of eating disorders. *Scientific reports*, *6*(1), 1-7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/srep35761</u>

Hankin, B. L., Badanes, L. S., Smolen, A., & Young, J. F. (2015). Cortisol reactivity to stress among youth: stability over time and genetic variants for stress sensitivity. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *124*(1), 54. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/abn0000030</u>

Hartling, L., Chisholm, A., Thomson, D., & Dryden, D. M. (2012). A descriptive analysis of overviews of reviews published between 2000 and 2011. *PloS one*, *7*(11), e49667. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0049667

Haynos, A. F., Watts, A. W., Loth, K. A., Pearson, C. M., & Neumark-Stzainer, D. (2016).
Factors predicting an escalation of restrictive eating during adolescence. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 59(4), 391-396. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2016.03.011</u>

Heitkemper, M. M., Cain, K. C., Burr, R. L., Jun, S. E., & Jarrett, M. E. (2011). Is childhood abuse or neglect associated with symptom reports and physiological measures in women with irritable bowel syndrome?. *Biological research for nursing*, *13*(4), 399-408. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F1099800410393274

Herman, J. L., Perry, J. C., & Van der Kolk, B. A. (1989). Childhood trauma in borderline personality disorder. The American journal of psychiatry. https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1176/ajp.146.4.490

Herzog, D. B., Greenwood, D. N., Dorer, D. J., Flores, A. T., Ekeblad, E. R., Richards, A., ... & Keller, M. B. (2000). Mortality in eating disorders: a descriptive study. *International Journal of Eating Disorders, 28*(1), 20-26. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1098-108X(200007)28:1<20::AID-EAT3>3.0.CO;2-X

Hughes, K., Bellis, M. A., Hardcastle, K. A., Sethi, D., Butchart, A., Mikton, C., ... & Dunne, M. P. (2017). The effect of multiple adverse childhood experiences on health: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *The Lancet Public Health, 2*(8), e356-e366. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2468-2667(17)30118-4

Hong, Q. N., Fàbregues, S., Bartlett, G., Boardman, F., Cargo, M., Dagenais, P., ... & Pluye, P.
(2018). The Mixed Methods Appraisal Tool (MMAT) version 2018 for information professionals and researchers. *Education for Information*, *34*(4), 285-291. DOI: 10.3233/EFI-180221

Infurna, M. R., Reichl, C., Parzer, P., Schimmenti, A., Bifulco, A., & Kaess, M. (2016). Associations between depression and specific childhood experiences of abuse and neglect: A meta-analysis. *Journal of affective disorders, 190*, 47-55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2015.09.006

Jackson, D. B., & Vaughn, M. G. (2017). Parental incarceration and child sleep and eating behaviors. *The Journal of pediatrics, 185,* 211-217. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpeds.2017.03.026

Jackson, D. B., Testa, A., Semenza, D. C., & Vaughn, M. G. (2021). Parental incarceration, child adversity, and child health: a strategic comparison approach. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, *18*(7), 3384. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18073384

#### Georgette Morrison - Large Scale Research Project (LSRP) - DClinPsy-July 2021

Johnson, J. G., Cohen, P., Kasen, S., & Brook, J. S. (2002). Childhood adversities associated with risk for eating disorders or weight problems during adolescence or early adulthood. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *159*(3), 394-400. <u>https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.159.3.394</u>

Karos, K., Niederstrasser, N., Abidi, L., Bernstein, D. P., & Bader, K. (2014). Factor structure, reliability, and known groups validity of the German version of the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire (Short-form) in Swiss patients and nonpatients. *Journal of child sexual abuse, 23*(4), 418-430. https://doi.org/10.1080/10538712.2014.896840

Kelly, Y., Zilanawala, A., Booker, C., & Sacker, A. (2018). Social media use and adolescent mental health: Findings from the UK Millennium Cohort Study. *EClinicalMedicine, 6,* 59-68. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eclinm.2018.12.005

Kenny, U., Sullivan, L., Callaghan, M., Molcho, M., & Kelly, C. (2018). The relationship between cyberbullying and friendship dynamics on adolescent body dissatisfaction: A crosssectional study. *Journal of health psychology, 23*(4), 629-639. https://doi.org/10.1177/1359105316684939

Kent, A., & Waller, G. (2000). Childhood emotional abuse and eating psychopathology. *Clinical psychology review*, *20*(7), 887-903. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0272-7358(99)00018-5

\*Kimber, M., McTavish, J. R., Couturier, J., Boven, A., Gill, S., Dimitropoulos, G., & MacMillan, H. L. (2017). Consequences of child emotional abuse, emotional neglect and

exposure to intimate partner violence for eating disorders: a systematic critical review. *BMC psychology*, *5*(1), 1-18. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40359-017-0202-3

Lacey, R. E., & Minnis, H. (2020). Practitioner review: twenty years of research with adverse childhood experience scores–advantages, disadvantages and applications to practice. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, *6*1(2), 116-130. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.13135

Lester, S., Khatwa, M., & Sutcliffe, K. (2020). Service needs of young people affected by adverse childhood experiences (ACEs): a systematic review of UK qualitative evidence. *Children and youth services review, 118,* 105429. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2020.105429

Lereya, S. T., Copeland, W. E., Costello, E. J., & Wolke, D. (2015). Adult mental health consequences of peer bullying and maltreatment in childhood: two cohorts in two countries. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, *2*(6), 524-531. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(15)00165-0</u>

\*Lie, S. Ø., Rø, Ø., & Bang, L. (2019). Is bullying and teasing associated with eating disorders? A systematic review and meta-analysis. *International journal of eating disorders*, *52*(5), 497-514. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/eat.23035</u>

Lochner, C., Seedat, S., Allgulander, C., Kidd, M., Stein, D., & Gerdner, A. (2010). Childhood trauma in adults with social anxiety disorder and panic disorder: a cross-national study. *African Journal of Psychiatry*, *13*(5). https://doi.org/10.4314/ajpsy.v13i5.63103

Lorenz, R. C., Matthias, K., Pieper, D., Wegewitz, U., Morche, J., Nocon, M., ... & Jacobs, A. (2019). A psychometric study found AMSTAR 2 to be a valid and moderately reliable appraisal tool. *Journal of clinical epidemiology*, *114*, 133-140.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2019.05.028

Lydecker, J. A., & Grilo, C. M. (2019). Food insecurity and bulimia nervosa in the United States. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, *52*(6), 735-739. https://doi.org/10.1002/eat.23074

MacCaughelty, C., Wagner, R., & Rufino, K. (2016). Does being overweight or male increase a patient's risk of not being referred for an eating disorder consult?. *International Journal of Eating Disorders, 49*(10), 963-966. https://doi.org/10.1002/ eat.22556. Medline:27203514

Maguire-Jack, K., Lanier, P., & Lombardi, B. (2020). Investigating racial differences in clusters of adverse childhood experiences. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, *90*(1), 106. https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/ort0000405

Mahon, J., Bradley, S. N., Harvey, P. K., Winston, A. P., & Palmer, R. L. (2001). Childhood trauma has dose-effect relationship with dropping out from psychotherapeutic treatment for bulimia nervosa: A replication. *International Journal of Eating Disorders, 30*(2), 138-148. https://doi.org/10.1002/eat.1066

### Georgette Morrison - Large Scale Research Project (LSRP) - DClinPsy-July 2021

Mathews, B., Pacella, R., Dunne, M. P., Simunovic, M., & Marston, C. (2020). Improving measurement of child abuse and neglect: A systematic review and analysis of national prevalence studies. *PloS one*, *15*(1), e0227884. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0227884

Marco, J. H., Tormo-Irun, M. P., Galán-Escalante, A., & Gonzalez-García, C. (2018). Is cybervictimization associated with body dissatisfaction, depression, and eating disorder psychopathology?. Cyberpsychology, *Behavior, and Social Networking, 21*(10), 611-617. https://doi.org/10.1089/cyber.2018.0217

McDonald, S. (2019). Understanding the genetics and epigenetics of bulimia nervosa/bulimia spectrum disorder and comorbid borderline personality disorder (BN/BSD-BPD): a systematic review. Eating and Weight Disorders-Studies on Anorexia, *Bulimia and Obesity, 24*(5), 799-814. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40519-019-00688-7

McLennan, J. D., MacMillan, H. L., & Afifi, T. O. (2020). Questioning the use of adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) questionnaires. *Child abuse & neglect*, 101, 104331. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2019.104331

McLaughlin, K. A., Weissman, D., & Bitrán, D. (2019). Childhood adversity and neural development: a systematic review. *Annual review of developmental psychology*, *1*, 277-312. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-devpsych-121318-084950

\*Menzel, J. E., Schaefer, L. M., Burke, N. L., Mayhew, L. L., Brannick, M. T., & Thompson, J. K. (2010). Appearance-related teasing, body dissatisfaction, and disordered eating: A meta-analysis. *Body image*, 7(4), 261-270. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bodyim.2010.05.004

Merrick, M. T., Ports, K. A., Ford, D. C., Afifi, T. O., Gershoff, E. T., & Grogan-Kaylor, A. (2017). Unpacking the impact of adverse childhood experiences on adult mental health. *Child abuse & neglect, 69*, 10-19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2017.03.016

Micali, N., Martini, M. G., Thomas, J. J., Eddy, K. T., Kothari, R., Russell, E., ... & Treasure, J. (2017). Lifetime and 12-month prevalence of eating disorders amongst women in mid-life: a population-based study of diagnoses and risk factors. *BMC medicine*, *15*(1), 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12916-016-0766-4

Moher, D., Liberati, A., Tetzlaff, J., & Altman, D. G. (2009). Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. *Annals of internal medicine*, *151*(4), 264-269. Retrieved from: https://www.acpjournals.org/doi/10.7326/0003-4819-151-4-200908180-00135

\*Molendijk, M. L., Hoek, H. W., Brewerton, T. D., & Elzinga, B. M. (2017). Childhood maltreatment and eating disorder pathology: A systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis. *Psychological Medicine*, *47*(8), 1402-1416. doi:10.1017/S0033291716003561
#### Georgette Morrison - Large Scale Research Project (LSRP) - DClinPsy-July 2021

Monteleone, A. M., Monteleone, P., Serino, I., Scognamiglio, P., Di Genio, M., & Maj, M. (2015). Childhood trauma and cortisol awakening response in symptomatic patients with anorexia nervosa and bulimia nervosa. *International Journal of Eating Disorders, 48*(6), 615-621. https:// doi.org/10.1002/eat.22375. Medline:25808182

Monteleone, A. M., Treasure, J., Kan, C., & Cardi, V. (2018). Reactivity to interpersonal stress in patients with eating disorders: A systematic review and meta-analysis of studies using an experimental paradigm. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, *87*, 133-150. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2018.02.002

Nagata, T., Matsuyama, M., Kiriike, N., Iketani, T., & Oshima, J. (2000). Stress coping strategy in Japanese patients with eating disorders: relationship with bulimic and impulsive behaviors. *The Journal of Nervous and mental disease, 188*(5), 280-286. Retrieved from: https://oce.ovid.com/article/00005053-200005000-00005/HTML

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (2018) *Eating disorders (Quality standard* 175). <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/qs175</u>

National Institute for Clinical Excellence (2017) Eating disorders: recognition and treatment. Author: London. Retrieved from:

https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng69/chapter/Recommendations

\*Norman, R. E., Byambaa, M., De, R., Butchart, A., Scott, J., & Vos, T. (2012). The long-term health consequences of child physical abuse, emotional abuse, and neglect: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS med*, *9*(11), e1001349. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1001349

National Society for Prevention of Cruelty to Children (2019, July). NSPCC Learning, Statistics on Child Abuse. Retrieved from <u>https://learning.nspcc.org.uk/statistics- child-abuse/</u>

Nijenhuis, E. R., Van der Hart, O., & Kruger, K. (2002). The psychometric characteristics of the Traumatic Experiences Checklist (TEC): First findings among psychiatric outpatients. *Clinical Psychology & Psychotherapy: An International Journal of Theory & Practice, 9*(3), 200-210. https://doi.org/10.1002/cpp.332

Olenik-Shemesh, D., & Heiman, T. (2017). Cyberbullying victimization in adolescents as related to body esteem, social support, and social self-efficacy. *The Journal of genetic psychology, 178*(1), 28-43. https://doi.org/10.1080/00221325.2016.1195331

ONS (Office of National Statistics) Abuse during childhood: Findings from the Crime Survey for England and Wales, year ending March 2016 crime survey. Read in: Flatley, J. (2016). Abuse during childhood: Findings from the crime survey for England and Wales, year ending March 2016. Newport: Office for National Statistics. Quilliot, D., Brunaud, L., Mathieu, J., Quenot, C., Sirveaux, M. A., Kahn, J. P., ... & Witkowski,
P. (2019). Links between traumatic experiences in childhood or early adulthood and lifetime
binge eating disorder. *Psychiatry research*, *276*, 134-141.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2019.05.008

Parker, G., Tupling, H., & Brown, L. B. (1979). A parental bonding instrument. *British journal of medical psychology*, *52*(1), 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2044-8341.1979.tb02487.x

Pauls, A., Dimitropoulos, G., Marcoux-Louie, G., Singh, M., & Patten, S. B. (2020).Psychological characteristics and childhood adversity of adolescents with atypical anorexia nervosa versus anorexia nervosa. *Eating disorders*, 1-13.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10640266.2020.1836907

Pérez-Fuentes, G., Olfson, M., Villegas, L., Morcillo, C., Wang, S., & Blanco, C. (2013).
Prevalence and correlates of child sexual abuse: a national study. *Comprehensive psychiatry*, 54(1), 16-27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.comppsych.2012.05.010</u>

Pieper, D., Antoine, S. L., Mathes, T., Neugebauer, E. A., & Eikermann, M. (2014). Systematic review finds overlapping reviews were not mentioned in every other overview. *Journal of clinical epidemiology*, *67*(4), 368-375. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2013.11.007

\*Pignatelli, A. M., Wampers, M., Loriedo, C., Biondi, M., & Vanderlinden, J. (2017). Childhood neglect in eating disorders: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Trauma & Dissociation*, *18*(1), 100-115. https://doi.org/10.1080/15299732.2016.1198951

Pistella, J., Ioverno, S., & Russell, S. T. (2019). The role of peer victimization, sexual identity, and gender on unhealthy weight control behaviors in a representative sample of Texas youth. *International journal of eating disorders*, *52*(5), 597-601. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/eat.23055</u>

Pollock, M., Fernandes, R. M., Becker, L. A., Pieper, D., & Hartling, L. (2018). Chapter V: overviews of reviews. Cochrane Handbook for systematic reviews of interventions version, 6. Available from <a href="https://www.training.cochrane.org/handbook">www.training.cochrane.org/handbook</a>.

\*Pope, H. G., & Hudson, J. I. (1992). Is childhood sexual abuse a risk factor for bulimia nervosa?. *The American journal of psychiatry*. *149*(4), 455–463. https://doi.org/10.1176/ajp.149.4.455

Rai, T., Mainali, P., Raza, A., Rashid, J., & Rutkofsky, I. (2019). Exploring the link between emotional child abuse and anorexia nervosa: A psychopathological correlation. *Cureus*, *11*(8). doi: 10.7759/cureus.5318

Rasmusson, G., Lydecker, J. A., Coffino, J. A., White, M. A., & Grilo, C. M. (2019). Household food insecurity is associated with binge-eating disorder and obesity. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, *52*(1), 28-35. https://doi.org/10.1002/eat.22990

Rayworth, B. B., Wise, L. A., & Harlow, B. L. (2004). Childhood abuse and risk of eating disorders in women. *Epidemiology*, 271-278. <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/20485891</u>

Read, J., Harper, D., Tucker, I., & Kennedy, A. (2018). Do adult mental health services identify child abuse and neglect? A systematic review. *International Journal of Mental Health Nursing*, 27(1), 7-19. https://doi.org/10.1111/inm.12369

Reuben, A., Moffitt, T. E., Caspi, A., Belsky, D. W., Harrington, H., Schroeder, F., ... & Danese, A. (2016). Lest we forget: comparing retrospective and prospective assessments of adverse childhood experiences in the prediction of adult health. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, *57*(10), 1103-1112. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.12621

Rodríguez, M., Pérez, V., & García, Y. (2005). Impact of traumatic experiences and violent acts upon response to treatment of a sample of Colombian women with eating disorders. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, *37*(4), 299-306. https://doi.org/10.1002/eat.20091

Rozenblat, V., Ong, D., Fuller-Tyszkiewicz, M., Akkermann, K., Collier, D., Engels, R. C., ... & Krug, I. (2017). A systematic review and secondary data analysis of the interactions between the serotonin transporter 5-HTTLPR polymorphism and environmental and psychological factors in eating disorders. *Journal of psychiatric research, 84*, 62-72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2016.09.023 Sanders, B., & Becker-Lausen, E. (1995). The measurement of psychological maltreatment: Early data on the child abuse and trauma scale. *Child abuse & neglect, 19*(3), 315-323. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0145-2134(94)00131-6</u>

Scottish Government (2017). A nation with ambition: The Government's Programme for Scotland 2017–2018. Retrieved from : <u>https://www.gov.scot/publications/nation-ambition-governments-programme-scotland-2017-18/</u>

Seubert, N. C. C., & Virdi, P. (Eds.). (2018). Trauma-informed approaches to eating disorders. Springer Publishing Company.

Shea, B. J., Reeves, B. C., Wells, G., Thuku, M., Hamel, C., Moran, J., ... & Henry, D. A. (2017). AMSTAR 2: a critical appraisal tool for systematic reviews that include randomised or non-randomised studies of healthcare interventions, or both. *Bmj*, *358*. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.j4008

Slack, K. S., Font, S. A., & Jones, J. (2017). The complex interplay of adverse childhood experiences, race, and income. *Health & Social Work*, *42*(1), e24-e31. https://doi.org/10.1093/hsw/hlw059

Smink, F. R., Van Hoeken, D., & Hoek, H. W. (2012). Epidemiology of eating disorders: incidence, prevalence and mortality rates. *Current psychiatry reports*, *14*(4), 406-414. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11920-012-0282-y Smith, M., Williamson, A. E., Walsh, D., & McCartney, G. (2016). Is there a link between childhood adversity, attachment style and Scotland's excess mortality? Evidence, challenges and potential research. *BMC Public Health*, *16*(1), 1-11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1590/1516-4446-2020-1099</u>

\*Smolak, L., & Murnen, S. K. (2002). A meta-analytic examination of the relationship between child sexual abuse and eating disorders. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, *31*(2), 136-150. https://doi.org/10.1002/eat.10008

Solmi, M., Radua, J., Stubbs, B., Ricca, V., Moretti, D., Busatta, D., ... & Castellini, G. (2020). Risk factors for eating disorders: an umbrella review of published meta-analyses. *Brazilian Journal of Psychiatry*, (AHEAD). <u>https://doi.org/10.1590/1516-4446-2020-1099</u>

Stice, E., Fisher, M., & Martinez, E. (2004). Eating disorder diagnostic scale: additional evidence of reliability and validity. *Psychological assessment*, *16*(1), 60. https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/1040-3590.16.1.60

Straus, M. A. (1979). Measuring intrafamily conflict and violence: The conflict tactics (CT) scales. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 75-88.

https://doi.org/10.2307/351733

Sweeney, A., Filson, B., Kennedy, A., Collinson, L., & Gillard, S. (2018). A paradigm shift: relationships in trauma-informed mental health services. *BJPsych advances*, *24*(5), 319-333. doi:10.1192/bja.2018.29

Tagay, S., Düllmann, S., Hermans, E., Repic, N., Hiller, R., & Senf, W. (2011). The essen trauma-inventory for children and adolescents (ETI-CA). *Zeitschrift fur Kinder-und Jugendpsychiatrie und Psychotherapie*, *39*(5), 323-340. <u>https://doi.org/10.1024/1422-4917/a000126</u>

Talmon, A., & Widom, C. S. (2021). Childhood maltreatment and eating disorders: a prospective investigation. *Child maltreatment*, 1077559520988786. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F1077559520988786

Taylor-Robinson, D. C., Straatmann, V. S., & Whitehead, M. (2018). Adverse childhood experiences or adverse childhood socioeconomic conditions?. *The Lancet Public Health, 3*(6), e262-e263. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2468-2667(18)30094-X

van Eekelen, J. A. M., Ellis, J. A., Pennell, C. E., Saffery, R., Mattes, E., Craig, J., & Olsson, C. A. (2012). Stress-sensitive neurosignalling in depression: an integrated network biology approach to candidate gene selection for genetic association analysis. *Mental illness, 4*(2), 105-114. https://doi.org/10.4081/mi.2012.e21

van Hoeken, D., & Hoek, H. W. (2020). Review of the burden of eating disorders: mortality, disability, costs, quality of life, and family burden. *Current Opinion in Psychiatry*, *33*(6), 521. doi: 10.1097/YCO.00000000000641

Van Strien, T., Frijters, J. E., Van Staveren, W. A., Defares, P. B., & Deurenberg, P. (1986). The predictive validity *of the Dutch restrained eating scale*. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, *5*(4), 747-755.

https://doi.org/10.1002/1098-108X(198605)5:4%3C747::AID-EAT2260050413%3E3.0.CO;2-6

von Ranson, K. M., Klump, K. L., Iacono, W. G., & McGue, M. (2005). The Minnesota Eating Behavior Survey: A brief measure of disordered eating attitudes and behaviors. *Eating Behaviors, 6*(4), 373-392. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eatbeh.2004.12.002</u>

Waller, G., Corstorphine, E., & Mountford, V. (2007). The role of emotional abuse in the eating disorders: Implications for treatment. *Eating Disorders*, *15*(4), 317-331.

https://doi.org/10.108010640260701454337

Welsh Government, 2015. Well-being of future generations act 2015. Welsh Government Cardiff. https://gov.wales/well-being-future-generations-act-essentials-html

#### Georgette Morrison - Large Scale Research Project (LSRP) - DClinPsy-July 2021

World Health Organization. (2007). Preventing child maltreatment in Europe: a public health approach: policy briefing (No. EUR/07/50631214). Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe. http://www.euro.who.int/violenceinjury

Wojcik, K. D., Cox, D. W., & Kealy, D. (2019). Adverse childhood experiences and shame-and guilt-proneness: Examining the mediating roles of interpersonal problems in a community sample. *Child abuse & neglect*, 98, 104233. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2019.104233

Wonderlich, S. A., Brewerton, T. D., Jocic, Z., Dansky, B. S., & Abbott, D. W. (1997).
Relationship of childhood sexual abuse and eating disorders. *Journal of the American Academy* of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry, 36(8), 1107-1115. https://doi.org/10.1097/00004583-199708000-00018

# Paper 2

# The role of negative childhood events in the development of the Anorexic Voice: A grounded theory study

Word count for Abstract: 230

Word count excluding tables, figures and references: 7,980

This paper is prepared in accordance with the author guidelines for *International journal of Eating Disorders* (Appendix A). For the purposes of thesis submission, the DClinPsy word limit of 8000 words has been used to ensure all relevant information could be demonstrated. APA 7<sup>th</sup> style has been used for references. Tables and Figures have also been embedded in the main body of the paper, however will be placed in supplementary information for journal submission.

# The role of negative childhood events in the development of the Anorexic Voice: A grounded theory study

Georgette Morrison Cardiff university

**Dr John Fox** *Cardiff and Vale University Health board* 

# **Dr Marc Williams** Cardiff and Vale University Health board

Please address any correspondence to Georgette Morrison, South Wales Doctoral Programme in Clinical Psychology, School of Psychology, Cardiff University, Cardiff, CF10 3AT.

Email: morrisonga@cardiff.ac.uk

# ABSTRACT

Objective: Many individuals diagnosed with Anorexia Nervosa (AN) describe their disorder as being represented by an internal 'voice'. The aetiology of the internal voice remains unclear. Previous studies have identified associations between eating psychopathology, emotional difficulties, and multifarious forms of adverse life experiences. One hypothesis is the voice mediates this relationship. Therefore, the aim of this research was to qualitatively investigate whether individuals perceive there to be an interaction between the AV, emotions, and childhood experiences, and to generate new theory to explain any association. Method: Twelve women who had experience of the AV complete semi-structured interviews. The interview data was analysed using a constructivist grounded theory methodology. Memos and a reflective journal were kept throughout. Results: The theory that emerged posits that the AV provides a sense of safety amid life experiences that generate a sense of unsafety. However, the safety provided by the AV is conditional. When individuals disobeyed the voice became increasingly hostile and belittling, revealing similar characteristics to abusers and bullies in childhood. This would activate individuals' unpleasant emotions from childhood, such as guilt and disgust. Discussion: The current study provides an account of the link between adverse life experiences, the AV, and AN. It corroborates existing theory and empirical findings in the field and provides additional insights. The limitations of this research are discussed as are implications for clinical practice and directions for future research.

# Introduction

Anorexia nervosa (AN) has a mortality rate that is around five times higher than the mortality rates from other mental health diagnoses (Arcelus et al., 2011). Diagnostic manuals characterise AN by restriction of food intake, the fear of food and a disturbance in the way in which one views body weight or shape (Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-V); American Psychiatric Association, 2013). Nearly 75% of individuals with AN report a comorbid mood disorder (Fernandez-Aranda et al., 2007; Swinbourne & Touyz, 2007). The highest prevalence of AN has been reported in Europe, North America, and Australasia with increasing reports from Asia (Hoek, 2016; Nakai et al., 2014; Thomas et al., 2016). Recommended interventions for AN consist of weight restoration and eating disorder (ED) focused psychotherapies (National Institute of Clinical Excellence [NICE], 2017). Many individuals do not improve after treatment, and even after initial successful outcomes the relapse rate is high (Dobrescu et al., 2019; Zipfel et al., 2015). This could suggest a lack of understanding about the underlying mechanisms in AN, such as the Anorexic Voice (AV; Pugh, 2016).

The AV is characterised as a hostile internal dialogue (i.e. sometimes a second- or third-person commentary) related to eating, shape and weight (Pugh, 2016). It is thought to be a key psychological component which contributes to the development and maintenance of AN (Higbed & Fox, 2010; Pugh, 2016). Similar voices have been reported in other ED groups, including bulimia nervosa (Noordenbos et al., 2014; Pugh et al., 2018), suggesting this phenomenon may be a transdiagnostic feature across eating psychopathology. Conceptual tensions surround the AV, with some describing it as a metaphorical experience or internal thoughts (Graham et al.,

2019) and others suggesting it represents a separate entity related to the self (Pugh & Waller, 2018). Nevertheless, interventions targeting the AV have shown changes in the components of the AV experience (e.g. power and omnipotence) have a positive effect in reducing AN symptoms (Hibbs et al., 2020).

In the early stages of AN, the AV is perceived as comforting and safe however becomes critical and dominant; imposing high expectations on individuals and demanding obedience from them (Tierney & Fox, 2010, 2011; Williams & Reid, 2010, 2012). Living with the AV is experienced as a 'battle' (Broussard, 2005; Williams et al., 2015) and associated with negative feelings such as loneliness (Tierney & Fox, 2010, 2011; Williams & Reid, 2010, 2012). Despite this, individuals appear unwilling to leave the relationship with the AV (Tierney & Fox, 2010, 2011; Williams & Reid, 2010, 2012). It is unclear why the AV changes from being comforting to increasingly toxic (Tierney & Fox, 2011).

There appears to be an association between experiencing childhood adversity and developing AN, which may be mediated by several potential factors. As many individuals with AN experience the AV, literature suggests that the AV may be associated with childhood experiences. The AV may stem from early experiences of relational criticism and/or punitiveness which are internalised (Fox et al., 2012a). It may be that the AV helps to supress emotions which are judged as forbidden and unacceptable (e.g. anger; Fox et al., 2012). Research indicates emotional regulation is a reliable mediator in the relationship between childhood adversity and voice-hearing in psychosis (e.g., Cole et al., 2016; Perona-Garcelán et al., 2012). Similarities between EDs, psychosis, and dissociative processes suggest the AV experience may lie on a

79

continuum between inner speech and auditory hallucinations (Pugh et al., 2018). According to the Trauma-Dissociation Model (TDM; Longden et al., 2012; Moskowitz et al., 2009), internal voices can signify consequential embodiments of traumatic events and early interpersonalemotional conflicts (Corstens & Longden, 2013; Moskowitz & Corstens, 2008). Pugh and colleagues (2018) explored associations between the perceived power of the ED voice, dissociation proneness, and experiences of childhood trauma in a mixed ED group. The perceived power of the AV was found to be positively related to childhood emotional abuse, but not other early traumas, and this association was partially mediated by dissociation. These findings provide evidence that early adversity may be linked to development of voice-related experiences across clinical populations (Pugh et al., 2018). The authors suggest internal voices arise from detachment from internal events related to early trauma (Pugh et al., 2018). This suggests that internal voices reported in EDs can be understood within a developmental, interpersonal framework (Smailes et al., 2015) However, Pugh et al. (2018) included a mix of ED diagnoses; thus, it is unclear to what extent the findings apply to AN specifically. Furthermore, methodological restrictions, such as self-report measures limited the range of childhood adversities recalled by individuals as well as other trauma-related factors which may act as mediators in the relationship between childhood trauma and AV. By incorporating qualitative methodology, a richer exploration of experiences and mediating factors could occur.

Experiencing childhood adversity has been suggested to increase sensitivity to interpersonal stress due to fears of rejection and abandonment, and difficulty establishing trust with others (Messman-Moore & Coates, 2007). Childhood adversity, namely sexual, physical and emotional abuse and neglect is a common theme in individuals with AN (Afifi et al., 2017; Molendijk et al.

2017). Individuals with AN have been reported to experience abuse and neglect with 90% reporting at least one type of adversity (Kong & Bernstein,2009).

Despite this, the research is still inconclusive; some studies have found associations whereas some have not, and some remain uncertain suggesting associations are overstated (Polivy & Herman, 2002; Smyth et al., 2008; Villarroel et al., 2012). To better understand the possible relationship between childhood adverse experiences and AN, some authors have considered possible mediators such as dissociation (Pugh et al., 2018), anxiety and depression (Rabito-Alcon et al., 2021) insecure attachment (Illing et al., 2010) and emotional dysregulation (Mills et al. 2015). For example, anxiety and depressive symptoms may develop due to having unresolved childhood traumatic experiences and may be associated with difficulty regulating emotions which is in turn associated with AN (Rabito-Alcon et al., 2021). Furthermore, Tasca and colleagues (2009) found that the association between attachment anxiety and AN was mediated by emotional reactivity, and association between attachment avoidance and depressive symptoms in patients with an AN was mediated by cutting off emotions or dissociating. It appears childhood adversity may impact on an individual's psychological processes predisposing them to the susceptibility of developing AN if other factors are in place.

Childhood adversity may result in challenges to one's ability to tolerate and process intense emotional experiences, particularly negative affect. This can be the result of the abuse itself as well as not learning emotional regulation skills (Schore, 2003). Subsequently, to cope with emotional states that overwhelm them, maltreated individuals develop external behaviours, which help to avoid painful emotions (Briere & Scott, 2006). Deficits in the recognition,

81

regulation, expression, and integration of emotions are prevalent in AN, often impacting upon social processes (Racine & Wildes, 2015). Individuals that experience childhood adversity also report more significant difficulties in these areas than those who do not have trauma history (Pollak, 2008).

Theoretical models explaining problems in emotional regulation in those with AN specify the role of early life factors that can lead to emotional dysregulation either by precipitating it or predisposing to it (Oldershaw et al., 2015). Fox and Power (2009) developed the SPAARS-ED model suggesting early life experiences dictate which emotions are acceptable and unacceptable to express. Emotions that are perceived as negative and as having the potential for them to cause rejection are thought to be unacceptable (Fox & Power, 2009). These emotions are suppressed using ED behaviours directing them towards the body, e.g., the self is seen as disgusting or threatening following abusive experiences (Fox & Power, 2009). This leaves the individual feeling revulsion to both body and food in AN (Fox & Power, 2009). A further model suggested for AN is Radically Open-DBT (RO-DBT) theorising that threat sensitivity interacts with feedback from the environment that emphasises self-control and minimising mistakes, which results in impairment in individuals' ability to feel safe (Hempel et al., 2018). It presents a conceptualisation of restrictive eating behaviours as a maladaptive inhibitory control behaviour that allows individuals with AN to dampen negative emotions. Some models have argued for a genetic process (Hatch et al., 2010) or predisposing cognitive factors (Schmidt & Treasure, 2006; Treasure & Schmidt, 2013) to explain emotional difficulties in AN. A commonality between models is the suggestion of a relational component impacting on emotion in AN (Schmidt & Treasure, 2006; Treasure & Schmidt, 2013).

The aim of the current research is to qualitatively investigate whether individuals perceive there to be an interaction between the AV, emotions, and childhood experiences, and to generate new theory to explain any associations. Understanding why and how the AV, emotions and childhood interact may further our understanding of the often-intractable nature of AN and low rates of recovery (Pugh et al., 2018). An inductive qualitative methodology is well suited to explore this research aim and qualitative approaches have been welcomed in AN research (Williams, King & Fox, 2016). Grounded theory is used to provide a framework to identify categories of data and to integrate them into theory describing emergent processes (Willig, 2013).

# Methods

#### Design

#### Grounded theory (GT): Charmaz (2006) Constructivist approach

Semi structured interviews were used to collect data which was analysed using principles of grounded theory (Glaser & Strauss, 1967). This study employed constructivist grounded theory (CGT) methodology (Charmaz, 2006), which allows theories to emerge from data (Charmaz, 2006). Using a process of 'constant comparison', theory generation becomes progressively more abstract at each level of comparison e.g., data were compared with data, data with categories and categories with categories (Charmaz, 2006). Data analysis and collection took place simultaneously which allowed for deeper exploration of similarities, differences, and associations between categories within the data (Charmaz, 2006). CGT highlights the importance of the researcher's role in constructing meanings (Charmaz, 2006). This position argues for flexibility in the analytical process to improve credibility (Creswell, 2007) thus reflexivity and transparency are required throughout the research process.

#### **Recruitment of participants**

Participants were recruited from adverts on social media – Facebook, Twitter, and Instagram. A third sector charity advertised the research on their website. Interested individuals were directed to an online survey which was used to outline information about the research (using Qualtrics XM Software, 2019; Qualtrics, Provo, UT; Appendix I) and assess inclusion suitability (see Table 1) Potential, suitable, and consenting participants were contacted by the researcher to

invite them to an interview. A convenience sampling method was employed and moved onto theoretical sampling as analysis progressed.

#### Table 1:

Inclusion and exclusion criteria for participants

Inclusion Criteria	Exclusion criteria		
• Aged eighteen or over	Comorbid diagnosis of psychosis		
• Reporting having a diagnosis of	• BMI 14 or under		
anorexia nervosa	• Currently admitted as an inpatient		
• Currently living in the UK			
• First language English			
• Consenting to provide contact details			

#### Participants

Twelve participants were interviewed. Participants were resident in the UK and all identified as female. Participant's age ranged from 19-39 years (mean = 25.3 years). A range of BMIs were included (mean = 17.1). All participants had undertaken higher education (College n=4; Undergraduate n=5; Postgraduate n=3). Two women had additional diagnoses, which we have chosen to omit here as to ensure anonymity. The sample characteristics are shown in Table 2.

#### Table 2

Overview of participants

Participant (all names are pseudonyms)	Age	BMI	Ethnicity	Education level	EDE-Q global score	CTES
Alice	27	20	White other	Postgraduate University	2.8	Parental Divorce/separation Parent with depression Major upheaval
Lara	26	21	White British	Postgraduate University	2.4	Family Member Death Sexual Abuse Physical Abuse Physical illness
Marie	22	18	White British	Undergraduate University	4.4	Family member death Parental Divorce/separation Sexual Abuse
Rose	29	16.7	White British	Undergraduate University	2.04	Major upheaval Family member death Parental Divorce/separation Sexual Abuse Physical Abuse Physical illness
Sarah	19	22	White British	College	2.2	Family member death Sexual Abuse Physical illness major upheaval
Mandy	39	18	White British	Undergraduate University	0.1	Family member death Parent divorce/separation Major upheaval
Ellie	25	21	White Irish	Undergraduate University	1.5	Parental divorce/separation Sexual Abuse Physical illness Major Upheaval
Lydia	32	15	Asian / Asian British,Indian	Postgraduate University	4.9	Family Member death Physical Illness Major upheaval
Hayley	21	15	White British	College	1.6	Sexual abuse Physical illness Major upheaval
Meredith	21	16.5	White British	Undergraduate University	4.04	Family member death Sexual abuse Major upheaval
Lauren	21	20	Black British	College	1.6	Family Member death Sexual abuse Physical abuse Physical illness Major upheaval
Emma	22	18	White British	College	2.9	Family member death Sexual abuse Physical abuse Major upheaval

#### **Data Collection and Procedure**

#### **Data collection**

Data was collected by semi-structured in-depth interviews which provide flexibility and allow for follow-up prompts (Barker et al., 2016). The lead researcher interviewed all participants through Zoom videocall. Prior to interview, participants were directed to Qualtrics survey where they read the information sheet and provided their informed consent (Appendix I). The Eating Disorder Examination Questionnaire (EDE-Q 6.0; Fairburn & Beglin, 2008) and demographic information was also completed through Qualtrics. The researcher invited participants to interview via email.

Interviews were commenced and lasted between 60 and 90 minutes. Participants then completed The Childhood Traumatic Events Scale (CTES; Pennebaker, & Susman, 1988) with the researcher. A participant debrief took place after the interview to allow reflection on the research process and to assess risk. Participants were emailed a debrief sheet (Appendix L), containing additional support services if required.

#### **Interview schedule**

A semi-structured interview schedule was developed in line with Charmaz (2014). The collaborative nature of creating the interview schedule provided the opportunity to be reflexive about the nature of the questions. Using GT principles, the interview schedule was adapted three times as ideas and concepts emerged during the early data analysis. This allowed for constant comparisons with subsequent data to identify key processes and other analytic ideas emerging out of the data. To achieve this, three interview schedules were developed by the research team and adapted in line with the participants experiences.

87

The final interview schedule comprised 15 open-ended questions with prompts exploring experiences of the AV, negative childhood events, emotions and interactions between the three (Appendix R). Original interview schedule in Figure 1.

Figure 1

Interview Schedule



#### Measures

Prior to the interview, participants completed the EDE-Q (Fairburn & Beglin, 2008; Appendix J) through Qualtrics. This data was gathered to situate the sample and provide context about their ED pathology and mood, that may influence their experiences. Three participants had a score higher than four, indicating that most of this sample had relatively low eating pathology at the

time of interview. The CTES (Pennebaker, & Susman, 1988; Appendix K) was completed with

the researcher after the interview. This questionnaire recorded data around participants childhood

trauma. Table 3 gives a description of measures.

#### Table 3

#### Description of questionnaires administered

Questionnaire	Description of content and scoring	Clinical cut off point	Internal consistency reliability co-efficient
Eating Disorder Examination	A 28-item self-report questionnaire covering characteristics of individuals'	Global score of $\geq 4$ (Bardone-Cone et al, 2010;	High across the five scores: global score, a=
Questionnaire (EDE-Q	ED with additional questions about	Carter et al., 2001; Jennings	.95; restraint, a = $.85$ ;
6.0; Fairburn & Beglin, 2008)	height, weight, and missed periods. This transdiagnostic measure can be used to assess all ED. Participants are scored along four dimensions, summed and averaged for the global score: restraint;	& Phillips, 2017; Mond et al., 2006). This cut off point has been used to identify those recovered in other research	eating concern, $a = .81$ ; weight concern, $a = .83$ ; shape concern, $a = .91$ (Aardoom et al., 2012).
	eating concern; shape concern; weight concern.	(Williams et al., 2016).	
Childhood Traumatic Events Scale (CTES; Pennebaker, & Susman, 1988)	The CTES assesses childhood traumatic events that occurred prior to the age of 17. Domains include death of a family member or a very close friend, parental divorce or separation, traumatic sexual experience (e.g., raped, molested), victim of violence (e.g., child abuse, mugged or assaulted), been extremely ill or injured, and other major upheaval. For each question, the participant is asked to recall the age of trauma, perceived intensity of the trauma, and whether or not the trauma was confided to others.	Each domain is scored from 0 to 7, 0=no exposure, 1=not at all traumatic, 4=somewhat traumatic, 7=extremely traumatic. To operationalize the assessment the ratings on each of the 6 domains are summed to derive a score (childhood traumatic burden) that ranged from 0 to 42 (6 domains X rating up to 7 for each domain).	The CTES has been shown to have good reliability and validity (Pennebaker & Susman, 1988), and demonstrate sensitivity to a diverse range of clinical symptoms following early life trauma (Pennebaker & Susman, 1988; Scheller- Gilkey, Moynes, Cooper, Kant, & Miller, 2004; Thakkar & McCanne, 2000)

#### **Ethical Considerations**

Full ethical approval was obtained from Cardiff University ethics committee before recruitment

began (Appendix M). Ethical and risk factors were considered with primary importance.

Participating in research which discusses traumatic events is thought to have a low likelihood of

significant emotional harm (Newman & Kaloupek, 2004). It appears that while unexpected

distress does occur for some participants, this distress is tolerable and in fact linked with positive outcomes e.g.self-identified insights (Newman & Kaloupek, 2004). A comprehensive risk management procedure was developed to ensure the safety of participants throughout the research process (Appendix H).

#### Data analysis

Interviews were recorded during the video and transcribed verbatim. Interview data was analysed using Nvivo Software (QSR International, Version 12) which stored raw data and codes. Reflective journal and memos were kept in a separate document. Analysis was a dynamic process where collection and coding occurred in parallel. Data was constantly compared with data and codes as they emerged. For credibility of data analysis, multiple analysts were consulted as well as participants. Every level of coding involved the research supervisors and group of research peers.

#### Coding

Each transcript was initially coded line by line, remaining open to analytical possibilities and capturing the meaning. As recommend by Charmaz (2006), questions were asked of the data to guide the coding process: "What process(es) is at issue here? How can I define it?" and "When, why and how does the process change?". The constant comparison method was used to cluster the initial codes into larger and more abstract categories, which then became focused codes. Focused codes help to condense, synthesise, and explain larger segments of data thus indicating theoretical direction of the data. For constant comparison, codes were compared with codes and the raw transcript. Focused codes were reviewed, and similar codes collapsed together if deemed appropriate through constant comparison to initial codes and transcripts. Focused codes with the

most theoretical weight were lifted into conceptual categories and other focused codes collapsed into these. Theoretical coding was used to identify links between the conceptual categories, codes and concepts, leading to development of an interpretive theory and framework. Examples shown in Table 5 and Appendix P.

#### Table 5

Example of coding process

Raw Interview extract (Sarah)	Initial Coding	Focus coding	Category	Theoretical concept
Um, so, I felt very alone and it sort of	Feeling alone	Experiencing loneliness	Loneliness	Internal Unsafety
felt like it was the one thing that I	Relying on voice			
could rely on that would be there for	Voice being there for me	Voice providing	Comforting	'You re safe with me'
me, um, and that was just sort of	Talking with voice	similarities to friendship		
talking to me. I guess at that point I	Starting to externalising	Seeing voice as part of	Sharing self with	Self: 'Evil twin'
had somewhat externalised it because	voice	self	Voice: 'Evil twin	
it didn't feel like I was just, you know,	Not feeling like talking to myself			
talking to myself. Um, but it certainly	Describing voice as having	Positive characteristics of	Comforting	'You're safe with me'
had like quite a positive characteristic	positive characteristics	voice		
because I felt so alone, and that it was	Feeling alone; Describing voice	Experiencing loneliness	Loneliness	Internal unsafety
sort of the only thing that was really	being supportive	Supportive Voice	Comforting	'You're safe with me'
there for me.				

#### **Theoretical sampling**

Theoretical sampling is a method used to guide data collection shedding light on the emerging categories within the data and to reach theoretical saturation (Charmaz, 2006). The process involves the researcher asking questions of their data and identifying areas with limited understanding. Reflective journal and supervision recognised a need to address the living location of participants. Due to the research taking part during COVID-19 pandemic, recruitment

was limited to social media and third sectors; therefore, recruitment was initially worldwide. Following supervision and discussion of potential risk factors, sampling was limited to UK based participants. The research team reviewed the emerging data regularly through the process of data analysis. Following interview nine, initial coding, focused coding, evolving category development and memo writing informed final changes in the interview schedule. No further changes were made as data supported developing categories and theoretical concepts (Appendix O)

#### Methods to enhance and control Quality

Elliott et al. (1999) provides guidelines for ensuring qualitative research is valid and reliable that require subjective elements of analysis to be monitored and reported. Several methods were used to enhance quality control (Table 4)

## Table 4

Methods used to ensure quality control

Guidelines	Method to ensure quality control
(Elliot et al., 1999)	
Owning one's perspective	The researchers positioning, interests, and assumptions were outlined in Reflexivity section below
	To ensure these were not imposed on the data, a reflective journal and memos were kept throughout. This allowed the researcher to own their own perspective. Following interviews, researcher was able to comment on when their own values or assumptions may be being placed on the data (Charmaz, 2014).
	Supervision from the research team and peer supervision helped to recognise when researcher' perspective may be impacting the data. This allowed for reflexivity and perspectives/opinions/values to be bracketed out (Crotty, 1996).
Situating the sample	Sufficient descriptive characteristics of the participant sample were provided; however sufficient data is removed to ensure anonymity.
	Discussion with the research team supported reflecting on the recruitment process, including the limitations of self-selecting samples, recruitment restrictions and ethical considerations. Reflective journal was used to explore these ideas.
Grounding in examples	Providing direct interview quotations so readers can explore the fit between the researcher's interpretation and the raw data. Examples of theoretical sampling, reflective journals and memos are also included in the Appendices to demonstrate processes of data collection and analysis.
	Ensuring that quotations support anonymity and removing quotations that could be retraumatising for the participant. Using pseudonyms to ensure anonymity.
	Using memos, research supervision, peer supervision and reflective journaling to explore usage of quotations in the analysis and to consider why these were chosen over others.
Providing Credibility Checks	Supervision and peer supervision were regularly used throughout the collection and analysis process.
	The research team listened to first interview to review first author's interview style, ensuring no leading questions or responses in interview. Research team involved in reviewing data analysis and supporting data. Further, research team and peer supervision enhanced the bracketing of reflexivity.
	A reflective journal was used throughout which allowed for transparency in the data collection and analysis process, providing audit trails for emerging themes and categories. Memos writing also aided the provision of an audit trail, ensuring it was grounded in the data. By documenting the researcher's ideas and analysis, memos provided a space for personal and epistemological reflexivity (i.e. Thompson & Harper, 2012).
	Quotations were used to ground the analysis and provide exemplars from the transcripts. Pseudonyms are used throughout.

#### Reflexivity

CGT recognises the researcher is not a neutral, value free observer in the research process (Charmaz, 2014). The researcher brings their own epistemology, perspectives, and interactions from personal and professional experiences. Reflexivity is crucial as it allows for constant consideration of the impact of the researcher on theory development throughout the analytic process.

The lead researcher is a 30-year-old white Scottish woman undertaking doctoral training in Clinical Psychology, including theoretical teaching in ED and experience of working in trauma services. The researcher acknowledges preconceptions and perspectives regarding the impact of trauma in childhood and theoretical understanding of AN. The research was supervised by two white British Clinical Psychologists with experience working clinically with people who have ED. Both supervisors have also conducted their own research using GT to investigate ED.

These factors may have compelled the researcher and supervisors desire to identify emergent theory based on preconceptions and previous knowledge. By using memos (see Appendix Q) and reflective journal (see Appendix S) pre-conceived ideas were bracketed off and these influences mitigated and managed. Regular supervisor research meetings allowed the preconceptions and previous knowledge of all researchers to be bracketed, reducing the potential influence over, for example, the interview schedule development, recruitment, and data analysis.

94

# **Respondent validation**

Participants were consulted by the researcher to verify that results and diagrammatic summary were an accurate reflection of their experiences. A copy of the model was emailed to participants. Responses were incorporated into the final theory. Participants expressed that the findings considerately explained their experiences with their AV, childhood, and emotions. Feedback identified that results and model reflected their personal experience and were comprehensible.

# Results

An explanatory framework of the relationship between childhood experiences, emotions and the AV was developed through a grounded theory approach (Charmaz, 2006). Each category and concept are described below with illustrative quotes. Figure 3 provides a diagrammatic representation of the theory and relationship between categories.

#### Figure 3



Diagrammatic summary of grounded theory representation of perceived associations with the AV

#### Overview of the model

All participants described experiencing an AV that was predominantly focused on food intake, weight and shape, and exercise regime. Participants recalled feeling unsafe across a variety of relationship-based experiences in childhood, both at home and school; the researcher termed this feeling "relational unsafety". Examples of relational unsafety were abuse, bullying and having emotionally erratic parents and the experiences of meeting new people in an unfamiliar environment in the transition to secondary school. Experiencing interpersonal relationships as unsafe appeared to influence participants' sense of threat from overwhelming internal experiences, including overwhelming emotions, feeling out of control, and loneliness; the researcher termed this "internal unsafety". Puberty was another factor that participants described as generating internal unsafety. Participants described attempting to cope with both types of unsafety with two inter-related methods: not confiding in anyone and striving for perfection. The AV appeared to provide participants an experience of safety, 'you're safe with me'; however, this safety was conditional on participants obeying the rules set by the AV. By promising safety, comfort and predictability the AV was central in driving AN behaviours. When participants did not obey the AV (due to exhaustion, engaging with mental health services or loved ones), the AV was described as becoming increasingly abusive. This often led participants to succumb to the AV and re-engage with AN behaviours thus placating the AV. Participants described experiences of feeling trapped in childhood as being mirrored by the experience of feeling trapped by the AV. These key concepts, and how they inter-relate, will now be described in more detail.

97

#### **Relational Unsafety**

Physical and emotional abuse in childhood were commonly reported by the participants. Those who did not experience physical or emotional abuse described a home life marked by distressing changes to valued support systems, such as those caused by domestic violence, parental illness, divorce, or death in the family. Sexual abuse was noted by many participants on the CTES, with two exceptions, and some participants briefly described sexual abuse in the interviews. None of the participants chose to discuss this any detail in the interview process.

# I would like lean over the bath to like wash my hair if that makes sense she [mum] would like accidently hit my face on the side of the bath until my nose would bleed (Lara)

These experiences appeared to generate feelings of uncertainty in participants, or '*walking on eggshells*' (*Rose*), and doubt in their ability to cope with situations. Domestic violence and abuse evoked feelings of shame and anger in participants. Participants did not communicate these feelings with anyone for fear of the perceived consequences of asserting themselves. For the participants who experienced abuse, uncertainty overlapped with feelings of dread and fear in the presence of the abuser.

#### 'You hear the person coming up the stairs and that fear, that dread.'(Emma).

All participants recalled a lived experience of one parent being emotionally unpredictable and the other parent being emotionally suppressive. Participants' accounts suggested that the unpredictable parent tended to be abusive; the parent would '*really randomly really suddenly get like really cross at us for something quite minor*' (*Alice*). Participants appeared to blame themselves for causing the outburst of emotion. Participants' self-blame and fear of further

provocation of emotional outburst appeared to inhibit their ability to assert themselves or express their emotions towards their parent. By avoiding communicating their emotions, participants seemed to create a distance between themselves and their parent which felt safer than engaging relationally. However, this led to feeling loneliness:

I just saw a different side of my mum really stressed and upset [...] I didn't really know that version of her em which naturally made me not really want to be with that version of her em and so like I definitely withdrew from her (Lauren)

All participants experienced appearance-focused and emotional/psychological bullying at school. Individuals described attempting to change themselves to placate the bullies. Bullying appeared to confirm self-beliefs about being a bad person which destroyed self-confidence. This self-belief could potentially be related to experiencing relational unsafety at home and developing a tendency to blame themselves for others' behaviour toward them. Despite participants' efforts to change aspects of themselves, the bullying continued. This created a sense of powerlessness, feeling trapped and lack of control in the interactions:

# I systemically blame myself for my childhood bullying my childhood abuse I used to fully fully believe that it was always my fault I must have done something to deserve this (Lara)

Transitioning to high school was seen as a particularly difficult time, evoking overwhelming feelings of anxiety resulting from a loss of familiarity and predictability from primary school and the sense that they did not belong in this new social environment. Not belonging appeared to impact on the belief that the participants were different to others in some way, and exacerbated anxiety about interacting with new people in new situations. Participants retreated increasingly

into themselves during this period and appeared to disengage with the world around them.

it was quite a rough year it was like going from primary school and like having loads of fun and then...and meeting loads of people some who were horrible and not making friends and then having them say stuff about you just like these really having lots of life lessons in like a short space of time and like not being able to process it that well (Alice)

Feeling relationally unsafe was intensified by puberty, which enhanced the perception of being different from others. Participants spoke about feeling uncomfortable in their changing body, feeling unprepared for puberty, and interpreting their changing body as becoming fat.

## I guess what I didn't like was when I hit puberty even though I was never overweight like not even like probably mid range normal but like but that like wasn't like what I was used to so I guess what made me uncomfortable (Alice)

Experiences in childhood, such as bullying and abuse, appeared to have an accumulative impact on participants' sense of identity. Relational hostility, criticisms from parents and bullies, appeared to lead participants to believing they were not good enough, undeserving and worthless. Participants described an identity characterised by being a bad person. This was highlighted when participants described a dislike for themselves. Some participants also discussed relational hostility disrupting the development of their self-identity as they did not feel safe enough to express themselves or explore their interests in childhood:

your friends should keep in touch with you, and if they didn't keep in touch with me, well, I must have been a bad person or a bad friend.... And my parents were divorcing at the time[...]for me to reach the conclusion that, oh, I'm obviously just a bad person?(Ellie)

The AV developed at a time when participants described feeling relationally unsafe. Participants described creating a protective bubble of comfort and protection that blocked out relational
hostility. When life felt increasingly uncertain, participants described the AV guiding a set of rules to be obeyed, offering praise when they followed its rules. This helped the participants to feel they were achieving something and being successful, counteracting beliefs that they were bad:

sense of control and you know it was blocking out in my life like there was a lot going on that was quite difficult and it was sort of yeah putting a bit of a screen up against it like a protective bubble (Meredith)

#### Internal unsafety

Participants described how experiencing interpersonal relationships as unsafe appeared to influence their internal experience:

(Relating to others) growing up, they are not taught emotions, they are not taught to identify them, express them, what's appropriate, what's not appropriate (Emma)

Overwhelming feelings were described as a co-occurrence of a variety of emotions, including anxiety, anger, fear, shame, guilt, self-blame, and disgust. Emotions appeared to be poorly understood and were therefore experienced with confusion. Participants reported experiencing emotions deeply and finding these emotions intensely unpleasant. This highlights a potential parallel between participants experiencing one parent as unpredictable and untrustworthy due to their emotional expression, which might have fostered an untrusting relationship with their own emotions:

I've always had an issue with like I feel things very deeply and I I I used to hate that I used to think that that was like a bad thing and I used to get overwhelmed by it quite easily (Rose)

Participants described not knowing how to deal with emotional distress and not trusting their bodies to cope with overwhelming emotions leaving them worrying about expressing strong emotions incorrectly or inappropriately, so they would choose to keep their emotions hidden. The AV was suggested by participants as offering them a method of expressing their overwhelming emotions. Through dietary restriction they were able to convert their emotions into something physical which they felt was easier to deal with. They described this positively as restriction numbed the emotional experience:

what I can't say with words with my body like you know my eating disorder is very much it's a way of expressing myself that when I can't use words I can show people with my body (Rose)

Loneliness appeared to be both an internal and external process. On one hand, the participants experienced loneliness as something forced upon them by others, e.g. through emotional/psychological bullying. On the other hand, participants avoided communicating emotionally with others e.g. from fear of unpredictable responses. One participant described experiencing poor emotional connection and hostile relationships with others in childhood as creating a '*void of emptiness*' (*Lydia*) within her. This emptiness suggested that she felt emotionally and relationally lonely. The 'void of emptiness' appeared to lead participants to seek comfort in the AV:

you would then revert to your inner self go away and lock yourself up and spend time and that loneliness becomes bigger and then to fill that empty void you then start to create an inner friend in a voice which then comes becomes part of you or part of the world (Lydia) The AV appeared to combat a sense of loneliness whilst affirming relational unsafety.

Participants described the AV as a friend who understood how they were feeling. Acting as *companionship like a friend' (Lydia)*, the AV reduced individuals' sense of isolation, replacing friendships and providing comfort when others were hostile. This seemed to increase reliance on the AV and mistrust of others. Remaining focused on the AV narrowed their interests and limited awareness of the negative events in their life, avoiding intolerable emotions and thus feeling in control. The AV offered a safe place to be where participants did not have to participate in the real world, creating a distance from relational unsafety:

the anorexia kind of [pause] makes your world smaller..... becoming interested in solitary sports like running and training for a marathon meaning that you spend five hours of your Sunday outside away from anyone else (Lara)

Attempt to Cope with unsafety: Not confiding in others and Striving for perfection As discussed, the participants often chose not to express their emotions outwardly due to feeling

relationally unsafe. Not confiding in others appeared to be a strategy used to disconnect from

others who were seen as threatening, absent, or judgemental:

I always felt quite like removed from them cause em I was always like had this whole big thing going on in my life but I just didn't tell anyone (Alice)

Striving for perfection was another attempt to feel a sense of relational safety before the development of the AV. Participants described a belief that others would only love and accept them if they were perfect, counteracting the hostility they experienced. When participants were

unable to achieve perfection, they felt like a failure which elicited feelings of shame, guilt and disgust, leading back into a feeling of relational and internal unsafety.

When the AV emerged it appeared to have qualities that mirrored these coping strategies. It took the place of other relationships, and offered participants someone to confide in. Secondly, the AV took on the conditional style of perfectionism by providing safety contingent on following achievement-based rules:

(Describing perfection) you need to be thinner for people to like you you need to be prettier prettier means thinner thinner means you'll be accepted when you accept it you have more friends if you have more friends then your life won't be lonely your parents will like you better because they'll be proud of you (Lydia)

#### Conditional Safety: 'You are safe with me'

Although the AV was described as providing an antidote to relational and internal unsafety, participants described this safety as conditional. It is notable that this reflects the perfectionistic coping style that they described developing in response to unsafety, which entails self-worth that is conditional on achievement.

It was comforting, it was reassuring, it made me feel safe (Mandy)

The AV had a '*behavioural code'* (*Sarah*) focused on calorie intake, body shape and exercise, which participants needed to obey, or it would become like a '*a drill sergeant in your head*' (*Lara*) giving forceful orders. By commenting '*you're still not good enough'* (*Rose*), the AV would belittle the participants into obedience. If participants disobeyed the AV, they described feelings of failure, guilt and disgust which were intolerable. The AV was depicted as creating a

#### Georgette Morrison - Large Scale Research Project (LSRP) - DClinPsy- July 2021

sense of '*the world was ending*'(*Lara*) by becoming more hostile and evoking feelings of anxiety and fear if they did not follow its rules. It was notable that the sense of the world ending echoed the sense of fear that participants described in anticipation of abuse and bullying in childhood.

And it was the same with the eating disorder voice, you know what's going to come next if you don't do what it says. It's almost like that bully, I guess, like that angry parent, angry bully, you are waiting for it [...] it goes from zero to one hundred in terms of if you don't do what it's saying (Emma)

Participants described a relationship with the AV that mirrored the descriptions of dynamics that some had experienced when groomed in childhood. For example, the AV was perceived as using strategies to keep the individual dependent: issuing threats and bribes, isolating participants from others and exploiting vulnerabilities, e.g., low self-confidence. The AV was also described as encouraging the individual to keep it a secret from others. As previously mentioned, all participants experienced sexual abuse, except for two, and it is therefore possible that the perceived relational dynamics with the AV were influenced by traumatic relational experiences.

It would just be like, it's okay. No one else has to know about it. It's absolutely fine. And, you know, we can do it one time. If you don't like it, we don't have to do it again. It's, you know, it's absolutely fine. It's going to – but you need to do it (Sarah)

The AV was often described as initially "sounding like me" (Alice), creating a sense that it is trustworthy. There was also the sense of the AV being factual rather than emotional which not only made it increasingly trustworthy but also easier to obey. When obeying the AV, participants described it as a 'a guiding light' (Rose) promising to make them a 'better person'(Hayley) which was 'comforting and reassuring' (Mandy). In contrast, when disobeyed, participants recalled the AV as becoming increasingly hostile and powerful by mimicking the tone, volume

and comments on appearance or self-worth received by abusers or bullies. The AV speaking in

these ways evoked guilt and disgust, which were described as "weapons of the voice" (Ellie):

those vulnerabilities from my childhood all of those experiences of fear and shame and wanting the ground to swallow me up and kind of how the anorexia mimics that (Alice)

Participants gained a sense of power and success from obeying the AV compared to their relational experiences where they felt worthless and trapped. Disobeying the AV was described as evoking a sense of *'failure because I didn't do what I was told' (Lauren)* and confirming their self-belief of being a bad person:

### that voice was for me you know it was a coping mechanism because it offered me guidance and a way to feel strong and to feel powerful when actually in my real life I felt quite trapped in many ways (Rose)

Participants appeared to obey the AV's rules in order to maintain a physically small body, which was seen as protective– '*if I was smaller I was safer*' (*Mandy*). In a context of abuse and bullying, a small body was suggested as occupying less physical space and becomes less likely to attract attention offering protection from further abuse.

## I think I sort of figured that if I took up less space, if I was just small and not there, there would be nothing that they could pick on (Sarah)

In contrast, many experienced disobeying the AV as creating a battle. This battle was both internal (between the self against the AV) as well as external (services or family against the AV). Externally, participants experienced control being taken from them by services and increasing conflict with family. By engaging with services, participants often gained weight which made them feel disgust, described as '*ants crawling on skin'*(*Ellie*). The AV seemed to suggest to the participants that this was evidence that others were threatening, untrustworthy and did not have their best interests at heart:

It's really conflicting because ... I can only trust the anorexic voice I can't like trust like other people so I'd just keep listening to it (Hayley)

Obeying the AV stripped opportunities to develop skills and a sense of self away from AN therefore participants were left feeling trapped. Participants spoke about feeling increasingly fragile in their identity, entrenched, and absorbed in the AV with no escape. This appeared to be to the point of losing awareness of themselves and the world around them – and just '*existing in that space'* (*Ellie*).

I think when I'm in the moment it doesn't feel like that necessarily cause it's like I said it's so wrapped up in who I am I can't really see it as anything other than just what I am doing at that time (Meredith)

#### Self – Evil Twin

Over time the AV appeared to shape the participants' sense of self identity. Participants became increasing intertwined with the AV which created an identity and a way for others to know who they were. The AV was named an '*evil twin'* (*Mandy*) where it gave participants something to achieve in and be proud of however also made them feel bad about themselves. Participants described a hostile side of the AV limiting their life and criticising them. In some ways the AV was described as developing into an abuser.

the angel part of me [...] wanted to be well, wanted to live a normal life, wanted to be 18 and out with friends and [...] having fun. But that evil twin bit of me wouldn't allow that, or couldn't allow that to happen. (Mandy)

Participants spoke of the AV stripping away the external world, e.g. missing large portions of school. Whilst it is not within the scope of this paper, the participants mentioned recovery threatening to leave them without a sense of self or connection to others by taking away the AV. They discussed finding it hard to think of life without the AV and feared returning to being internally unsafe. This appeared to act as a barrier to recovery.

I don't really know what I would do without it because I feel like from age 10 to 20 they are probably quite important years em and mine have been lost to like anorexia or whatever so I don't really feel like ive got anything else left (Meredith)

## Discussion

#### **Summary of the theory**

The current study aimed to explore the link between adverse life experiences, the AV, and AN. The AV appeared to develop during periods of perceived relational and internal unsafety associated with adverse relational experiences (e.g., appearance-related bullying). It emerged alongside AN symptoms and appeared to drive AN behaviours. While participants noted that the AV provided comfort, predictability, and friendship amid adverse experiences, the safety provided was conditional on adhering to strict behavioural rules. The AV reinforced obedience with praise and reassurance, aiding individuals in feeling successful and worthy. When individuals disobeyed the AV by breaking its rules, e.g., around eating, the AV withdrew safety becoming increasingly hostile and belittling, revealing similar characteristics to abusers and bullies in childhood. This would activate individuals' unpleasant emotions from childhood, such as guilt and disgust. Following a similar strategy when attempting to placate abusers or bullies in childhood, individuals adopted a submissive position to the critical and attacking AV. Individuals would then often return to obeying the AV, thus maintaining the AN behaviours. Over time, the AV strengthened individuals' self-identity as being 'anorexic'.

#### The AV and negative childhood experiences

One key finding from the study was that traumatic experiences were often internalised by the participant which meant they heard the AV as if it was the abuser or bully. This may be linked to a process of dissociation where the individual disconnects emotionally and psychologically from a threatening experience (Pugh, 2018). However, the traumatic events or conflict is then experienced as an internal voice. Longden et al (2012) reported a similar theoretical construct

within their trauma-dissociation model (TDM), where auditory hallucinations are dissociated content arising from maltreatment.

A commonality between individuals was experiencing emotional abuse by caregivers and/or bullies. Research has suggested childhood emotional abuse has the greatest impact on ED symptomatology (Guillaume et al., 2016; Rai et al., 2019). Sexual and emotional abuse frequently co-occur (Kim et al., 2017; Jonson-Reid et al. 2003). Individuals had also experienced sexual abuse and described the AV as engaging in behaviours that were like grooming experiences. The present theory therefore outlines a mechanism by which the AV mediates the link between childhood trauma and AN, i.e., by modelling past abusive.

#### The AV, negative experiences, and relationships

Following emotionally unpredictable caregivers who may have met emotional expression with punishment, individuals fostered an untrusting relationship with their own emotions. The AV was viewed positively in terms of its ability to protect the self by keeping individuals detached from feelings and disconnected from others. Wesselius et al. (2020) suggest children "self-silence" about negative childhood experiences. Our findings are in keeping Fox and Power's (2009) SPAARS-ED model highlighting similar theoretical points where an individual's emotional reactions are a result of their past experiences in family environment, attachment patterns, and experiences of abuse. The present study's findings also resonate with studies reporting individuals with EDs experience high levels of negative emotions but fail to express them (Fox & Froom, 2009; Henderson et al., 2018).

A further key finding in the present study was that individuals seemed to transfer important parental functions (e.g., stability, comfort), from caregivers who were unable to meet their needs,

to the AV supporting literature reporting greater attachment insecurity in individuals with AN than healthy controls (Gander et al.,2015). It appears the companionship and comfort of the AV allowed individuals to dismiss the importance of other attachment relationships, whilst continuing to fear the AV rejecting them. Despite the relationship with the AV causing further harm, it was seen as preferable to engaging in threatening relationships. This echoes findings of previous research describing the relationship with the AV as similar to being trapped in a toxic relationship (Tierney & Fox, 2011).

Bullying victimization has been associated with a range of ED symptoms such as restricted eating, in both clinical and non-clinical populations (Copeland et al., 2015; Day et al., 2021). This coheres with experiences of individuals in the present study, all of whom had experienced bullying. Individuals reported that subsequent loneliness and not belonging created a need for companionship, which then arose in the form of the AV. Bullying in childhood is associated with an almost doubling of the likelihood of experiencing hearing voices (Schreier et al., 2009; Løberg et al., 2019). The AV could be seen as providing a friendship to meet unmet relatedness needs by promising socially accepted thinness (Banerjee & Dittmar, 2008).

#### The AV, negative experiences and self

Stockford and colleagues (2019) found that women with AN have a diminished sense of self with AN becoming part of their identity. In the present study, the AV gave individuals an acceptable identity, countering the belief that they were a bad person. Relating to the dissociation mentioned above, the AV might be seen initially as the individual's attempting to develop a false self that reduces the impact of trauma thus avoiding intolerable negative affect (McIntee & Crompton, 1997). However, as individuals engaged in recovery, the AV was seen as depriving

111

#### Georgette Morrison - Large Scale Research Project (LSRP) - DClinPsy-July 2021

them of opportunities to develop an identity away from the AN, e.g., by encouraging individuals to restrict food intake. This is consistent with Williams, King, and Fox's (2016) findings that participants described an intense fear that without AN, they would be no-one. By defining themselves in terms of AN and equating their self-worth with low BMI, individuals develop a reluctance to leave the AN creating a barrier to recovery (Lamoureux & Bottorff, 2005).

Verstuyf and colleagues (2012) report a similar theoretical construct in their Self-Determination Theory (SDT) which argues experiencing childhood negative events deprives individuals of psychological needs such as nurture therefore they are more likely to pursue extrinsic goals i.e., those that require validation from others. By obeying rules set by the AV individuals aimed to achieve the perfect body. Striving for perfection interferes with engaging in genuine pleasure, e.g. spending time with family, as individuals are focused on maintaining the AV's comfort. This prevents new skills development and increases reliance on the AV (Ryan et al., 2006)

Cortes-Garcial and colleagues (2019) suggested that perfectionism and emotional dysregulation are two mediating factors in the association between insecure attachment and AN. The current study suggests that the AV embodies the perfectionistic coping strategy adopted by individuals, i.e., where the individual's worth is contingent on the achievement of rigid behavioural standards. As such, the AV may be one pathway through which perfectionism influences the AN.

#### Limitations and future research

This study explored the views of individuals with AN on whether they perceived an interaction between the AV, negative childhood events, and emotions by asking them to retrospectively reflect on their experiences. Previous research has found that there may be associations between childhood trauma and AN (Molendijk et al., 2017). Exposure to this literature may have biased some of the reflections on life events made by participants. This may be further exacerbated by selection bias, where those participants who had subjectively experienced trauma may have been more likely to participate in this study. More traditional grounded theory has been criticised for assuming that researchers approach projects as a *tabula rasa* (Charmaz, 2014). Whilst these concepts were a guiding theory across the project, various mechanisms were employed to ensure that an a priori framework was not placed on the data.

All participants were recruited from social media; therefore, lifetime history of AN was not confirmed by professional diagnosis. By considering interview and EDE-Q data, participants were evaluated as to whether they had met the DSM-V criteria for AN in their lifetime. There was no cause to dispute the validity of participants' narratives, given the consistency of their stories and corroboration with research supervisors. Future research may want to recruit from NHS services to confirm the generalisability of findings to clinical settings.

#### **Clinical Implications**

This study provides an account of the link between adverse life experiences, the AV, and AN. It corroborates existing theory and empirical findings in the field and provides additional insights: the AV appears to mirror the relational dynamics of early adverse experiences, such as abuse and bullying. The implications of this are that trauma-focused and emotion-focused interventions may be important when working with the AV. Clinicians should enquire about early traumatic events when working with individuals with AN, and more consideration should be given to adaptation of therapeutic approaches to include addressing relational trauma. This might involve therapeutic approaches that are relatively novel to this population such as grounding techniques

for managing symptoms of trauma and experiential interventions aimed at supporting disrupted attachments associated with internal voices (e.g. empty-chair confrontation of past abusers) (Arntz, 2012; Pugh, 2019). Equally, existing approaches could be adapted to include working with the AV. One of the most evidenced treatments for AN according to the NICE Guidelines – CBT-E (Fairburn, 2008) – includes components found to be important in this study, including perfectionism and mood intolerance, but could be extended to include insights with relation to the AV and the role of adverse experiences. The parallel found in the present study between specific relational dynamics and the AV implies that developing individualised formulations might be helpful for individuals to contextualise the AV may be useful for interventions such as encouraging the development of new functional ways of relating.

#### Conclusion

As expressed by the theoretical model, the perceived association between AV, emotions and childhood trauma is complex. The current study proposes a theory grounded in interview data in which the AV provides a sense of safety amid life experiences that generate a sense of unsafety. However, the safety provided by the AV is conditional, and in this way mirrors a perfectionistic coping style. A further insight is that the relational dynamics of the AV appear to reflect the adversity encountered in earlier relational experiences. Findings reflect previous theoretical accounts of attachment, alongside factors associated with experiences of childhood trauma, AN, and the AV. The AV appears to emerge alongside AN symptoms and drives behaviours orientated around eating, shape, and weight in response to critical life events. When individuals violate the conditions of the AV by not following its strict rules, distressing emotions from childhood are reactivated. This paper has discussed the implications of these findings for

clinicians working with individuals with AN, and for researching treatments novel to this area or adapting existing treatments to incorporate guidance for working with the AV in a way that considers the role of relational adversity.

## References

American Psychiatric Association, A. (1980). Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (Vol. 3). Washington, DC: American Psychiatric

Association. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.books.9780890425596.

Arcelus, J., Mitchell, A. J., Wales, J., & Nielsen, S. (2011). Mortality rates in patients with anorexia nervosa and other eating disorders. A meta- analysis of 36 studies. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 68(7), 724–731. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2011.74</u>

Arntz, A. (2012). Imagery rescripting as a therapeutic technique: Review of clinical trials, basic studies, and research agenda. *Journal of Experimental Psychopathology*, *3*(2), 189-208. https://doi.org/10.5127%2Fjep.024211

Aya, V., Ulusoy, K. & Cardi, V. (2019). A systematic review of the 'eating disorder voice' experience. *International Journal of Psychiatry*, *31*, 346-366. https://doi.org/10.1080/09540261.2019.1593112

Banerjee, R., & Dittmar, H. (2008). Individual differences in children's materialism: The role of peer relations. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin, 34*(1), 17-31. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0146167207309196 Birchwood, M., Meaden, A., Trower, P., Gilbert, P., & Plaistow, J. (2000). The power and omnipotence of voices: subordination and entrapment by voices and significant others. *Psychological medicine*, *30*(2), 337-344. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291799001828

Branley-Bell, D., & Talbot, C. V. (2020). Exploring the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and UK lockdown on individuals with experience of eating disorders. *Journal of Eating Disorders*, *8*(1), 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40337-020-00319-y

Briere, J., & Scott, C. (2007). Assessment of trauma symptoms in eating-disordered populations. *Eating Disorders*, *15*(4), 347-358.<u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10640260701454360</u>

Brockmeyer, T., Friederich, H. C., & Schmidt, U. (2018). Advances in the treatment of anorexia nervosa: A review of established and emerging interventions. *Psychological Medicine*, *48*(8), 1228–1256. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0033291717002604

Bulik-Sullivan, B., Finucane, H. K., Anttila, V., Gusev, A., Day, F. R., Loh, P. R., ... & Neale, B.
M. Genetic Consortium for Anorexia Nervosa of the Wellcome Trust Case Control Consortium
3. ReproGen Consortium. Psychiatric Genomics Consortium An atlas of genetic correlations
across human diseases and traits. *Nature Genetics. 2015a*, 47, 1236-1241. doi: 10.1038/ng.3406

Burns, E. E., Fischer, S., Jackson, J. L., & Harding, H. G. (2012). Deficits in emotion regulation mediate the relationship between childhood abuse and later eating disorder symptoms. *Child abuse & neglect*, *36*(1), 32-39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2011.08.005

Carey, M., Kupeli, N., Knight, R., Troop, N. A., Jenkinson, P. M., & Preston, C. (2019). Eating Disorder Examination Questionnaire (EDE-Q): Norms and psychometric properties in UK females and males. *Psychological Assessment*, *31*(7), 839. https://doi.org/10.1037/pas0000703

Carter, J. C., Bewell, C., Blackmore, E., & Woodside, D. B. (2006). The impact of childhood sexual abuse in anorexia nervosa. *Child abuse & neglect*, *30*(3), 257-269. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2005.09.004

Chadwick, P., & Birchwood, M. (1994). The omnipotence of voices: A cognitive approach to auditory hallucinations. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, *164*(2), 190-201. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.164.2.190

Charmaz, K. C. (2006). *Constructing grounded theory: A practical guide through qualitative analysis*. Sage Publications Ltd

Charmaz, K. (2014). Constructing Grounded Theory (2nd Ed.). SAGE Publications Ltd.

Cole, C. L., Newman-Taylor, K., & Kennedy, F. (2016). Dissociation mediates the relationship between childhood maltreatment and subclinical psychosis. *Journal of Trauma & Dissociation, 17*(5), 577-592. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15299732.2016.1172537</u>

Corstens, D., & Longden, E. (2013). The origins of voices: links between life history and voice hearing in a survey of 100 cases. *Psychosis*, *5*(3), 270-285. https://doi.org/10.1080/17522439.2013.816337 Cortés-García, L., Takkouche, B., Seoane, G., & Senra, C. (2019). Mediators linking insecure attachment to eating symptoms: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *PloS one, 14*(3), e0213099. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0213099</u>

Creswell, J. W., Hanson, W. E., Clark Plano, V. L., & Morales, A. (2007). Qualitative research designs: Selection and implementation. *The counseling psychologist*, *35*(2), 236-264. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0011000006287390

Day, S., Bussey, K., Trompeter, N., & Mitchison, D. (2021). The impact of teasing and bullying victimization on disordered eating and body image disturbance among adolescents: a systematic review. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse*. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F1524838020985534

Deas, S., Power, K., Collin, P., Yellowlees, A., & Grierson, D. (2011). The relationship between disordered eating, perceived parenting, and perfectionistic schemas. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, *35*(5), 414–424. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10608-010-9319-x.

Dobrescu, S. R., Dinkler, L., Gillberg, C., Rastam, M., Gillberg, C., & Wentz, E. (2019). Anorexia nervosa: 30-year outcome. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 216, 1–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.2019.113</u>

Duncan, T. K., Sebar, B., & Lee, J. (2015). Reclamation of power and self: A meta-synthesis exploring the process of recovery from anorexia nervosa. *Advances in Eating Disorders: Theory, Research and Practice*, *3*, 177-190. https://doi.org/10.1080/21662630.2014.978804

Elliott, R., Fischer, C. T., & Rennie, D. L. (1999). Evolving guidelines for publication of qualitative research studies in psychology and related fields. *British Journal of Clinical Psychology*, *38*(3), 215-229. <u>https://doi.org/10.1348/014466599162782</u>

Fairburn, C. G. (2008). Cognitive behavior therapy and eating disorders. Guilford Press.

Fairburn, C.G., & Beglin, S. (2008). Eating disorder examination questionnaire (EDE-Q 6.0). In:Fairburn, C. G. *Cognitive behavior therapy and eating disorders* (pp. 309-313). New York, NY:The Guilford Press

Fernandez-Aranda, F., Poyastro Pinheiro, A., Tozzi, F., La Via, M., Thornton, L. M., Plotnicov,
K. H., ... & Bulik, C. M. (2007). Symptom profile of major depressive disorder in women with
eating disorders. *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, *41*(1), 24-31.
https://doi.org/10.1080%2F00048670601057718

Fisher, C. A., Skocic, S., Rutherford, K. A., & Hetrick, S. E. (2019). Family therapy approaches for anorexia nervosa. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, *5*, CD004780. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD004780.pub4

Fox, J. R., Federici, A., & Power, M. J. (2012). Emotions and eating disorders: Treatment implications. *Eating and its disorders*, 315-337. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118328910.ch21</u>

Galmiche, M., Dechelotte, P., Lambert, G., & Tavolacci, M. P. (2019). Prevalence of eating disorders over the 2000-2018 period: A systematic literature review. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, *109*(5),1402–1413. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/nqy342</u>

Gander, M., Sevecke, K., & Buchheim, A. (2015). Eating disorders in adolescence: attachment issues from a developmental perspective. *Frontiers in psychology, 6,* 1136. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2015.01136

Glaser, B., & Strauss, A. (1967). The discovery of grounded theory. New York: Aldine.

Glashouwer, K. A., & de Jong, P. J. (2021). The revolting body: Self-disgust as a key factor in anorexia nervosa. Current opinion in psychology. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2021.03.008</u>

Graham, M. R., Tierney, S., Chisholm, A., & Fox, J. R. (2019). Perceptions of the "anorexic voice": A qualitative study of health care professionals. *Clinical psychology & psychotherapy*, *26*(6), 707-716. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cpp.2393</u>

Hatch, A., Madden, S., Kohn, M., Clarke, S., Touyz, S., & Williams, L. M. (2010). Anorexia nervosa: towards an integrative neuroscience model. *European Eating Disorders Review: The Professional Journal of the Eating Disorders Association, 18*(3), 165-179. https://doi.org/10.1002/erv.974

Hempel, R., Vanderbleek, E., & Lynch, T. R. (2018). Radically open DBT: targeting emotional loneliness in anorexia nervosa. *Eating disorders*, *26*(1), 92-104. https://doi.org/10.1080/10640266.2018.1418268 Higbed, L. & Fox, J. R. E. (2010). Illness perceptions in anorexia nervosa: A qualitative investigation. *British Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 49, 307-325. https://doi.org/10.1348/014466509X454598

Hoek, H. W. (2016). Review of the worldwide epidemiology of eating dis- orders. *Current Opinion in Psychiatry*, *29*(6), 336–339. https://doi.org/ 10.1097/yco.0000000000282

Ille, R., Schöggl, H., Kapfhammer, H. P., Arendasy, M., Sommer, M., & Schienle, A. (2014). Self-disgust in mental disorders—symptom-related or disorder-specific?. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, *55*(4), 938-943. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.comppsych.2013.12.020

Jaite, C., Schneider, N., Hilbert, A., Pfeiffer, E., Lehmkuhl, U., & Salbach-Andrae, H. (2012). Etiological role of childhood emotional trauma and neglect in adolescent anorexia nervosa: a cross-sectional questionnaire analysis. *Psychopathology*, *45*(1), 61-66.

https://doi.org/10.1159/000328580

Jonson-Reid, M., Drake, B., Chung, S., & Way, I. (2003). Cross-type recidivism among child maltreatment victims and perpetrators. *Child abuse & neglect*, *27*(8), 899-917. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0145-2134(03)00138-8

Kim, K., Mennen, F. E., & Trickett, P. K. (2017). Patterns and correlates of co-occurrence among multiple types of child maltreatment. *Child & family social work, 22*(1), 492-502.

Kolar, D. R., Rodriguez, D. L., Chams, M. M., & Hoek, H. W. (2016). Epidemiology of eating disorders in Latin America: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Current Opinion in Psychiatry*, *29*(6), 363–371. https:// doi.org/10.1097/yco.00000000000279

Kong, S., & Bernstein, K. (2009). Childhood trauma as a predictor of eating psychopathology and its mediating variables in patients with eating disorders. *Journal of Clinical Nursing, 18*(13), 1897-1907. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2702.2008.02740.x

Lamoureux, M. M., & Bottorff, J. L. (2005). "Becoming the real me": Recovering from anorexia nervosa. *Health Care for Women International, 26*(2), 170-188. https://doi.org/10.1080/07399330590905602

Lenk, M., Ritschel, G., Abele, M., Roever, P., Schellong, J., Joraschky, P., ... & Croy, I. (2019). The source effect as a natural function of disgust in interpersonal context and its impairment in mental disorders. *Scientific reports*, 9(1), 1-10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-40802-4</u>

Løberg, E. M., Gjestad, R., Posserud, M. B., Kompus, K., & Lundervold, A. J. (2019). Psychosocial characteristics differentiate non-distressing and distressing voices in 10,346 adolescents. *European child & adolescent psychiatry*, *28*(10), 1353-1363. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-019-01292-x Longden, E., Madill, A., & Waterman, M. G. (2012). Dissociation, trauma, and the role of lived experience: toward a new conceptualization of voice hearing. *Psychological bulletin*, *138*(1), 28. https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/a0025995

Malecki, J., Rhodes, P., & Ussher, J. (2018). Women's constructions of childhood trauma and anorexia nervosa: A qualitative meta-synthesis. *Human Arenas*, *1*(3), 231-248. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42087-018-0029-3

Mantilla, E.F., Clinton, D. & Birgegård, A. (2018b). The unsafe haven: Eating disorders as attachment relationships. Psychology and Psychotherapy: Theory, Research and Practice. https://doi.org/10.1111/ papt.12184.

McIntee, J., & Crompton, I. (1997). The psychological effects of trauma on children. *Protecting children: Challenges and change*, 127-142.

Messman-Moore, T. L., & Coates, A. A. (2007). The impact of childhood psychological abuse on adult interpersonal conflict: The role of early maladaptive schemas and patterns of interpersonal behavior. *Journal of Emotional Abuse*, *7*(2), 75-92.

https://doi.org/10.1300/J135v07n02\_05

Molendijk, M. L., Hoek, H. W., Brewerton, T. D., & Elzinga, B. M. (2017). Childhood maltreatment and eating disorder pathology: A systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis. *Psychological Medicine*, *47*(8), 1402-1416. doi:10.1017/S0033291716003561

Mond, J. M., Hay, P., Rodgers, B., & Owen, C. (2006). Eating disorder examination questionnaire (EDE-Q): Norms for young adult women. *Behaviour Research Therapy, 44*, 53-62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2004.12.003.

Moulding, N. (2015). "It Wasn't About Being Slim" Understanding Eating Disorders in the Context of Abuse. *Violence against women, 21*(12), 1456-1480. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F1077801215596243

Nakai, Y., Nin, K., & Noma, S. (2014). Eating disorder symptoms among Japanese female students in 1982, 1992 and 2002. *Psychiatry Research*, *219*(1), 151–156.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2014.05.018

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. (2017). Eating disorders: Recognition and treatment. (NICE Clinical Guideline No. 69). Retrieved from:

https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng69/chapter/Recommendations#treating- anorexia-nervosa

Newman, E., & Kaloupek, D. G. (2004). The risks and benefits of participating in traumafocused research studies. *Journal of Traumatic Stress: Official Publication of The International Society for Traumatic Stress Studies, 17*(5), 383-394.

https://doi.org/10.1023/B:JOTS.0000048951.02568.3a

Noordenbos, G., Aliakbari, N., & Campbell, R. (2014). The relationship among critical inner voices, low self-esteem, and self-criticism in eating disorders. *Eating disorders, 22*(4), 337-351. https://doi.org/10.1080/10640266.2014.898983 Oldershaw, A., Lavender, T., Sallis, H., Stahl, D., & Schmidt, U. (2015). Emotion generation and regulation in anorexia nervosa: a systematic review and meta-analysis of self-report data. *Clinical psychology review, 39*, 83-95. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2015.04.005</u>

Pennebaker, J. W., & Susman, J. R. (1988). Disclosure of traumas and psychosomatic processes. *Social science & medicine*, *26*(3), 327-332.

Perona-Garcelán, S., Carrascoso-López, F., García-Montes, J. M., Ductor-Recuerda, M. J., López Jiménez, A. M., Vallina-Fernández, O., ... & Gómez-Gómez, M. T. (2012). Dissociative experiences as mediators between childhood trauma and auditory hallucinations. *Journal of traumatic stress*, 25(3), 323-329. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jts.21693</u>

Polivy, J., & Herman, C. P. (2002). Causes of eating disorders. Annual review of psychology, 53(1), 187-213. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.53.100901.135103</u>

Powell, P. A., Overton, P. G., & Simpson, J. (2014). The revolting self: An interpretative phenomenological analysis of the experience of self-disgust in females with depressive symptoms. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, *70*(6), 562-578. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.22049</u>

Powell, P. A., Simpson, J., & Overton, P. G. (2015a). An introduction to the revolting self: Selfdisgust as an emotional schema. In P. A. Powell, P. G. Overton, & J. Simpson (Eds.), *The*  *revolting self: Perspectives on the psychological, so cial, and clinical implications of selfdirected disgust* (pp. 1-24). Karnac books. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9780429483042-1</u>

Powell, P. A., Overton, P. G., & Simpson, J. (2015b). *The revolting self: Perspectives on the psychological, social, and clinical implications of self-directed disgust.* Karnac books. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780429483042

Powell, P. A., Overton, P. G., & Simpson, J. (2015c). Reflections on the revolting self: A commentary and further directions. In P. A. Powell, P. G. Overton, & J. Simpson (Eds.), *The revolting self: Perspectives on the psychological, social, and clinical implications of self-directed disgust* (pp. 243-256). Karnac books. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9780429483042-13</u>

Pugh, M. (2016). The internal 'anorexic voice': A feature or fallacy of eating disorders? *Advances in Eating Disorders: Theory, Research and Practice, 4*, 75-83. https://doi.org/10.1080/21662630.2015.1116017

Pugh, M., & Waller, G. (2016). The anorexic voice and severity of eating pathology in anorexia nervosa. *International Journal of Eating Disorders, 49*, 622-625.

https://doi.org/10.1002/eat.22499

Pugh, M. & Waller, G. (2017). Understanding the 'anorexic voice' in anorexia nervosa. *Clinical Psychology and Psychotherapy, 24*, 670-676. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cpp.2034</u> Pugh, M. (2019). Cognitive Behavioural Chairwork: Distinctive Features (1st ed.). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780429023927

Rabito-Alcón, M. F., Baile, J. I., & Vanderlinden, J. (2021). Mediating Factors between Childhood Traumatic Experiences and Eating Disorders Development: A Systematic Review. *Children, 8*(2), 114. https://doi.org/10.3390/children8020114

Racine, S. E., & Wildes, J. E. (2015). Emotion dysregulation and anorexia nervosa: An exploration of the role of childhood abuse. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 48(1), 55-58. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/eat.22364</u>

Qualtrics, (2019). *Qualtrics XM Software* [Computer software]. Provo, Utah, USA. Available at: https://www.qualtrics.com

Raney, T. J., Thornton, L. M., Berrettini, W., Brandt, H., Crawford, S., Fichter, M. M., ... & Bulik, C. M. (2008). Influence of overanxious disorder of childhood on the expression of anorexia nervosa. *International Journal of Eating Disorders, 41*(4), 326-332. https://doi.org/10.1002/eat.20508

Rai, T., Mainali, P., Raza, A., Rashid, J., & Rutkofsky, I. (2019). Exploring the link between emotional child abuse and anorexia nervosa: A psychopathological correlation. *Cureus*, 11(8). doi: 10.7759/cureus.5318

Ryan, R. M., Deci, E. L., Grolnick, W. S., & La Guardia, J. G. (2006). The significance of autonomy and autonomy support in psychological development and psychopathology. In D.
Cicchetti & D. J. Cohen (Eds.), Developmental psychopathology: Theory and method (pp. 795–849). John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

Saini, S. M., Hoffmann, C. R., Pantelis, C., Everall, I. P., & Bousman, C. A. (2019). Systematic review and critical appraisal of child abuse measurement instruments. *Psychiatry research*, *272*, 106-113. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2018.12.068

Schlegl, S., Maier, J., Meule, A., & Voderholzer, U. (2020). Eating disorders in times of the COVID-19 pandemic—Results from an online survey of patients with anorexia nervosa. *International Journal of Eating Disorders, 53*(11), 1791-1800. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/eat.23374</u>

Schore, A. N. (2003). Affect dysregulation and disorders of the self (Norton Series on Interpersonal Neurobiology). WW Norton & Company.

Schmidt, U., & Treasure, J. (2006). Anorexia nervosa: Valued and visible. A cognitiveinterpersonal maintenance model and its implications for research and practice. *British journal of clinical psychology*, *45*(3), 343-366. <u>https://doi.org/10.1348/014466505X53902</u>

Schreier, A., Wolke, D., Thomas, K., Horwood, J., Hollis, C., Gunnell, D., ... & Harrison, G. (2009). Prospective study of peer victimization in childhood and psychotic symptoms in a

nonclinical population at age 12 years. *Archives of general psychiatry*, *66*(5), 527-536. doi:10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2009.23

Smailes, D., Alderson-Day, B., Fernyhough, C., McCarthy-Jones, S., & Dodgson, G. (2015).
Tailoring cognitive behavioral therapy to subtypes of voice-hearing. *Frontiers in psychology*, *6*, 1933. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2015.01933

Smink, F. R., Van Hoeken, D., & Hoek, H. W. (2012). Epidemiology of eating disorders: incidence, prevalence and mortality rates. *Current psychiatry reports*, *14*(4), 406-414. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11920-012-0282-y

Smyth, J. M., Heron, K. E., Wonderlich, S. A., Crosby, R. D., & Thompson, K. M. (2008). The influence of reported trauma and adverse events on eating disturbance in young adults. *International Journal of Eating Disorders, 41*(3), 195-202. https://doi.org/10.1002/eat.20490

Stockford, C., Stenfert Kroese, B., Beesley, A., & Leung, N. (2019). Women's recovery from anorexia nervosa: a systematic review and meta-synthesis of qualitative research. *Eating disorders*, *27*(4), 343-368. https://doi.org/10.1080/10640266.2018.1512301

Stuhldreher, N., Konnopka, A., Wild, B., Herzog, W., Zipfel, S., Löwe, B., & König, H. H.
(2012). Cost-of-illness studies and cost-effectiveness analyses in eating disorders: A systematic review. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 45(4), 476-491.
https://doi.org/10.1002/eat.20977

Swinbourne, J. M., & Touyz, S. W. (2007). The co-morbidity of eating disorders and anxiety disorders: A review. *European Eating Disorders Review: The Professional Journal of the Eating Disorders Association*, 15(4), 253-274. https://doi.org/10.1002/erv.784

Tasca, G. A., Taylor, D., Ritchie, K., & Balfour, L. (2004). Attachment predicts treatment completion in an eating disorders partial hospital program among women with anorexia nervosa. *Journal of Personality Assessment, 83*(3), 201-212 https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327752jpa8303\_04

Tasca, G. A., Ritchie, K., Zachariades, F., Proulx, G., Trinneer, A., Balfour, L., ... & Bissada, H. (2013). Attachment insecurity mediates the relationship between childhood trauma and eating disorder psychopathology in a clinical sample: A structural equation model. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *37*(11), 926-933. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2013.03.004</u>

Tierney, S., & Fox, J. R. (2010). Living with the "anorexic voice": A thematic analysis. *Psychology and Psychotherapy: Theory, Research and Practice, 83*, 243–254. https://doi.org/10.1348/147608309X480172

Tierney, S., & Fox, J. R. (2011) Trapped in a toxic relationship: comparing the views of women living with anorexia nervosa to those experiencing domestic violence, *Journal of Gender Studies*, 20:01, 31-41, DOI: 10.1080/09589236.2011.542018 Thomas, J. J., Lee, S., & Becker, A. E. (2016). Updates in the epidemiology of eating disorders in Asia and the Pacific. *Current Opinion in Psychiatry*, *29*(6), 354–362. https://doi.org/10.1097/yco.00000000000288

Tong, J., Miao, S., Wang, J., Yang, F., Lai, H., Zhang, C., ... Hsu, L. K. (2014). A two-stage epidemiologic study on prevalence of eating disorders in female university students in Wuhan, China. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology, 49*(3), 499–505. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00127-013-0694-y

Treasure, J., Willmott, D., Ambwani, S., Cardi, V., Clark Bryan, D., Rowlands, K., & Schmidt, U. (2020). Cognitive interpersonal model for anorexia nervosa revisited: The perpetuating factors that contribute to the development of the severe and enduring illness. *Journal of clinical medicine*, *9*(3), 630. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm9030630</u>

Trottier, K., & MacDonald, D. E. (2017). Update on psychological trauma, other severe adverse experiences and eating disorders: State of the research and future research directions. *Current Psychiatry Reports*, *19*(8), 1-9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11920-017-0806-6</u>

Trottier, K., Monson, C. M., Wonderlich, S. A., & Olmsted, M. P. (2017). Initial findings from project recover: Overcoming co-occurring eating disorders and posttraumatic stress disorder through integrated treatment. *Journal of Traumatic Stress, 30*(2), 173-177. https://doi.org/10.1002/jts.22176 van den Berg, E., Houtzager, L., de Vos, J., Daemen, I., Katsaragaki, G., Karyotaki, E., ... Dekker, J. (2019). Meta-analysis on the efficacy of psychological treatments for anorexia nervosa. *European Eating Disorders Review*, *27*(4), 331–351. https://doi.org/10.1002/erv.2683

Van Hoeken, D., Burns, J. K., & Hoek, H. W. (2016). Epidemiology of eating disorders in Africa. *Current Opinion in Psychiatry*, 29(6), 372–377.

https://doi.org/10.1097/yco.00000000000274

Verstuyf, J., Patrick, H., Vansteenkiste, M., & Teixeira, P. J. (2012). Motivational dynamics of eating regulation: a self-determination theory perspective. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, *9*(1), 1-16. https://doi.org/10.1186/1479-5868-9-21

Villarroel, A. M., Penelo, E., Portell, M., & Raich, R. M. (2012). Childhood sexual and physical abuse in Spanish female undergraduates: Does it affect eating disturbances?. *European Eating Disorders Review*, *20*(1), e32-e41. https://doi.org/10.1002/erv.1086

Waller, G., Corstorphine, E., & Mountford, V. (2007). The role of emotional abuse in the eating disorders: *Implications for treatment. Eating Disorders*, *15*(4), 317-331.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10640260701454337

Wesselius, H., Bosch, I., van Hastenberg, L., Simons, J., Kuiper, C., & van der Helm, P. (2020). A New Perspective on Extreme Recurring Anorexia and Its Treatment: A Preliminary Study. Journal of Prenatal & Perinatal Psychology & Health, 34(5), 369-393. https://www.w.prionline.nl/sources/downloads/Wesselius et alFall 2020.pdf

Williams, S., & Reid, M. (2012). 'It's like there are two people in my head': A phenomenological exploration of anorexia nervosa and its relationship to the self. *Psychology and Health*, 27, 798-815. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/08870446.2011.595488</u>

Williams, K., King, J., & Fox, J. R. E. (2016). Sense of self and anorexia nervosa: A grounded theory. *Psychology and Psychotherapy: Theory, Research and Practice*, 89, 211-228. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/papt.12068</u>

Willig, C. (2013). Grounded theory methodology. *Introducing qualitative research in psychology*, 3.

Winters, G. M., Jeglic, E. L., & Kaylor, L. E. (2020). Validation of the sexual grooming model of child sexual abusers. *Journal of child sexual abuse, 29*(7), 855-875. https://doi.org/10.1080/10538712.2020.1801935

Wonderlich, S. A., Bulik, C. M., Schmidt, U., Steiger, H., & Hoek, H. W. (2020). Severe and enduring anorexia nervosa: Update and observations about the current clinical reality. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, *53*(8), 1303-1312. https://doi.org/10.1002/eat.23283 Zeeck, A., Herpertz-Dahlmann, B., Friederich, H. C., Brockmeyer, T., Resmark, G., Hagenah, U., ... Hartmann, A. (2018). Psychotherapeutic treatment for anorexia nervosa: A systematic review and network meta-analysis. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, *9*, 158. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00158

Zipfel, S., Wild, B., Groß, G, Friedrich, H-C., Teufel, M., Schellberg, D., Giel, K. E., Zwaan, M. D., Dinkel, A., Herpertz, S., Burgmer, M., Löwe, B., Tagay, S., Wietersheim, J. V., Zeeck, A., Schade-Brittinger, C., Schauenburg, H. & Herzog, W. (2014). Focal psychodynamic therapy, cognitive behaviour therapy, and optimised treatment as usual in outpatients with anorexia nervosa (ANTOP study): Randomised controlled trial. The Lancet, 383, 127-137. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(13)61746-8

# List of Appendices

Appendix A. Journal guidelines: International Journal of Eating Disorders1	37
Appendix B. PROSPERO registration confirmation email1	.61
Appendix C. Example of AMSTAR assessments1	162
Appendix D. Table of ACEs and definitions1	70
Appendix E. Search Strategy1	.73
Appendix F. Table of Outcome Measures included in Reviews1	75
Appendix G. Table of Overlapping Articles1	177
Appendix H. Operationalised plan of risk assessment and management1	81
Appendix I. Online Qualtrics questionnaire: Participant Information sheet, Consent Form,	
Demographic questions1	188
Appendix J. Eating Disorder examination questionnaire (EDE-Q 6.0)2	200
Appendix K. The Childhood Traumatic Events Scale (CTES)2	203
Appendix L. Participant debrief sheet	:04
Appendix M. Cardiff University Ethical approval2	:07
Appendix N. Extracts of transcribed interviews	208
Appendix O. Examples of Theoretical Sampling2	216
Appendix P. Coding examples	217
Appendix Q. Memo examples2	21
Appendix R. Interview schedule	225
Appendix S. Reflective Journal Excerpts	27
Appendix A. Journal guidelines: International Journal of Eating Disorders

Please note: For the purposes of thesis submission, this paper has been prepared to the Doctorate in Clinical Psychology guidelines of 8000 words to ensure everything necessary could be demonstrated. This word limit does not include tables, figures, references or appendices. References have been prepared to be in line with the most up to date guidelines, Publication Manual of the American Psychological Association (7<sup>th</sup> Ed.).

International Journal of

# EATING DISORDERS

- 1. <u>Submission</u>
- 2. Aims and Scope
- 3. Manuscript Categories and Requirements
- 4. Preparing the Submission
- 5. Editorial Policies and Ethical Considerations
- 6. <u>Author Licensing</u>
- 7. Publication Process After Acceptance
- 8. Post-Publication
- 9. Journal Contact Details

#### 1. SUBMISSION

Authors should kindly note that submission implies that the content has not been published or submitted for publication elsewhere except as a brief abstract in the proceedings of a scientific meeting or symposium. If there is a related paper under consideration at another journal, a copy of that paper should be submitted with the primary manuscript as supporting information.

*International Journal of Eating Disorders* will consider submissions that have previously been made available online, either on a preprint server like arXiv, bioRxiv, or PeerJ PrePrints, or on the authors' own website. However, any such submissions must not have been published in a scientific journal, book or other venue that could be considered formal publication. Authors must inform the editorial office at submission if their paper has been made available as a preprint.

- Authors of accepted papers that were made available as preprints must be able to assign copyright to *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, or agree to the terms of the Wiley Open Access agreement and pay the associated fee
- Given that the measurable impact of the article is diminished when citations are split between the preprint and the published article, authors are required to:
  - Update the entry on the preprint server so that it links to and cites the DOI for the published version

• Cite only the published article themselves

Authors should follow the guidelines carefully; failure to do so will delay the processing of the manuscript. **Once the submission has been prepared in accordance with the Author Guidelines, manuscripts should be submitted online at <u>mc.manuscriptcentral.com/ijed</u></u>. Authors unfamiliar with ScholarOne can find details on how to use the system here: <u>www.wileyauthors.com/scholarone</u>.** 

The submission system will prompt the author to use an ORCID iD (a unique author identifier) to help distinguish their work from that of other researchers. Details can be found <u>elsewhere</u> in these guidelines.

By submitting a manuscript to or reviewing for this publication, an individual's name, email address, and affiliation, and other contact details the publication might require, will be used for the regular operations of the publication, including, when necessary, sharing with the publisher (Wiley) and partners for production and publication. The publication and the publisher recognize the importance of protecting the personal information collected from users in the operation of these services, and have practices in place to ensure that steps are taken to maintain the security, integrity, and privacy of the personal data collected and processed. You can learn more at **authorservices.wiley.com/statements/data-protection-policy**.

#### **Preprint policy:**

Please find the Wiley preprint policy here.

This journal accepts articles previously published on preprint servers.

International Journal of Eating Disorders will consider for review articles previously available as preprints. Authors may also post the submitted version of a manuscript to a preprint server at any time. Authors are requested to update any pre-publication versions with a link to the final published article.

For help with submissions, authors should contact the Editorial Office: **ijed@wiley.com**. When necessary, the Editorial Office staff may refer questions to the Editor-in-Chief or Associate Editors.

#### **Return to Guideline Sections**

#### 2. AIMS AND SCOPE

The *International Journal of Eating Disorders*—A leading peer-reviewed journal in the fields of psychology, psychiatry, public health, and nutrition & dietetics.

**Mission**: With a mission to advance the scientific knowledge needed for understanding, treating, and preventing eating disorders, the *International Journal of Eating Disorders* publishes rigorously evaluated, high-quality contributions to an international readership of health professionals, clinicians, and scientists. The journal also draws the interest of patient groups and advocates focused on eating disorders, and many of the articles draw attention from mainstream media outlets.

**Scope**: Articles featured in the journal describe state-of-the-art scientific research on theory, methodology, etiology, clinical practice, and policy related to eating disorders, as well as contributions that facilitate scholarly critique and discussion of science and practice in the field. Theoretical and empirical work on obesity or healthy eating falls within the journal's scope

inasmuch as it facilitates the advancement of efforts to describe and understand, prevent, or treat eating disorders. The *International Journal of Eating Disorders* welcomes submissions from all regions of the world and representing all levels of inquiry (including basic science, clinical trials, implementation research, and dissemination studies), and across a full range of scientific methods, disciplines, and approaches.

A complete **<u>overview</u>** of the journal is given elsewhere on the journal's homepage.

#### Return to Guideline Sections

#### 3. MANUSCRIPT CATEGORIES AND REQUIREMENTS

The International Journal of Eating Disorders publishes the following contribution types:

- 1. Original Articles
- 2. Brief Reports
- 3. <u>Intervention Studies</u>
- 4. <u>Reviews</u>
- 5. <u>Spotlight</u>
- 6. <u>Commentaries</u>
- 7. <u>Registered Reports</u>
- 8. <u>Forum</u>
- 9. <u>Perspective</u>

When uploading their manuscript, authors will be asked to complete a checklist indicating that they have followed the Author Guidelines pertaining to the appropriate article type. For all manuscripts reporting statistical analyses, authors are advised to use the <u>Statistical Reporting</u> <u>Checklist.</u> For more detailed background information on statistical analyses and their rationale, authors are referred to the <u>IJED Statistical Reporting Guidelines</u>. Manuscript with incomplete reporting will be referred back to the author without review. All word limits relate to the body of the text (i.e., not including abstract, references, tables and figures) and represent maximum lengths. Authors are encouraged to keep their manuscript as short as possible while communicating clearly.

#### 1) Original Articles

These contributions report substantive research that is novel, definitive, or complex enough to require a longer communication. Only a subset of research papers is expected to warrant full-length format.

- Word Limit: 4,500 (excluding abstract, references, tables or figures)
- Structured Abstract: 250 words.
- References: ≤60 are recommended; more are permissible, for cause.
- Figures/Tables: a maximum of 8 essential tables/figures, overall.

When preparing their manuscript, authors should follow the IMRaD guidelines (*I*ntroduction, *M*ethods, *R*esults, *a*nd *D*iscussion), which are recommended by the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (ICMJE) (J. Pharmacol. Pharmacother. 2010, 1, 42–58).

#### 2) Brief Reports

This contribution type is intended for manuscripts describing studies with straightforward research designs, pilot or "proof of concept" studies, and replications.

- Word Limit: 2,000 (excluding abstract, references, tables or figures).
- Structured Abstract: 200 words.
- References: ≤20 are recommended; more are permissible, for cause.
- Figures/Tables: a maximum of 2 essential tables/figures, overall.

As for **Original Articles**, when preparing their manuscript, authors should follow the IMRaD guidelines.

3)

#### Intervention

Studies

Unless noted otherwise, all interventions studies require that authors have preregistered their study in an online repository before the first participant has been enrolled. The preregistration number should be entered in the manuscript submission checklist and also be reported in the Methods section. **Examples** repositories of

#### include <u>https://cos.io/prereg/</u>, <u>https://www.clinicaltrials.g</u>ov/, etc.

Intervention studies will be accepted under one of two broad categories, reflecting the processes outlined in the literature for research into clinical interventions. They can include prevention, early intervention and treatment studies.

When submitting an intervention study manuscript, authors first should determine whether the study warrants a full-length report (Original Articles format) or whether it best fits the Brief **Reports** format.

Upon selecting the manuscript format, authors will then be able to select whether the manuscript describes a) an innovation or implementation study; b) a comparative treatment or prevention trial; or c) a non-intervention study (i.e. all other studies).

In all cases, ethical considerations should be addressed, including the obtaining of ethical permission where required. Statistical analysis and data presentation should be appropriate and follow the guidelines for statistical reporting provided for IJED contributors (including treatment of missing data). Any presentation of post-hoc findings needs to be clearly justified and contextualized. The inclusion of qualitative feedback on the experience of patients and clients is encouraged.

#### **Innovation and Implementation**

Such papers demonstrate the potential of new innovations in treatment for eating disorders, and the effectiveness of strongly evidenced therapies in routine clinical settings. Those papers are expected to meet the standards included for Template Intervention Description and Replication Checklist (TIDieR): http://www.equator-network.org/wpcontent/uploads/2014/03/TIDieR-Checklist-PDF.pdf

Single case experimental designs, where one or more cases are presented using visual or statistical methods to demonstrate the clinical impact of an intervention, based on at least an A-B design and session-by-session data. Such case reports should have heuristic value, so need to be innovative and leading to stronger research. Such cases require a clear statement from the authors that the patient (or the patient's legal guardian) has given permission to publish the material anonymously. Case reports without such clinical outcome data and structured

presentation of findings will not normally be considered. Preregistration encouraged but not required.

<u>Innovative uncontrolled trials</u>, using a case series to demonstrate the initial implementation of interventions, under uncontrolled conditions (e.g., a series of patients treated with a new therapy; a comparison of therapies for similar but not identical patients). Such case series should be placed in context (e.g., were the patients recruited as a true series, or were they selected from the available pool?) and supported with a CONSORT diagram or the appropriate procedural detail. Preregistration encouraged but not required.

<u>Implementation studies</u>, effectiveness studies, demonstrating the rolling out of evidence from controlled trials to routine practice, other populations, etc. Differences relative to the original intervention should be outlined.

For both study types, reporting of intent-to-treat results is preferred unless a strong rationale for a different approach is provided. Completer results can also be reported if this is considered to add important information. Results should include the mean and SD of pre- and post-scores, within-group effect sizes with 95% confidence intervals, and pre- and post-score correlations (allowing within-subject effect sizes to be verified). Appropriate follow-up data are desirable.

#### **Comparative Trials**

This category requires evidence that an intervention has been compared to either a control or active condition and has been conducted and reported appropriately in conformity to the appropriate CONSORT checklist (<u>http://www.consort-statement.org/</u>), particularly randomization of participants. CONSORT diagrams will usually be required, and such trials should be pre-registered to ensure that the core aims and hypotheses are openly addressed. Replication studies are welcomed but are more likely to be suited to Brief Reports.

Proof of concept and pilot studies are not required before an RCT can be published. However, each of these types of study is accepted by IJED, as they form key steps in the development of ideas, grant proposals, etc. Proof of concept and pilot studies can be combined into one submission, but both functions should be addressed adequately in that paper in such a case. The study description should conform to the CONSORT 2010 checklist of information to include when reporting a proof of concept or pilot study trial. Authors are advised to review the CONSORT extensions for additional information <u>http://www.consort-</u>statement.org/extensions

#### statement.org/extensions.

<u>Proof of concept studies</u> answer the question: Does the RCT pose questions well worth asking? Data can be presented on effectiveness but should not be used to estimate effect sizes for the RCT as such estimates can be misleading. Preregistration encouraged but not required.

<u>Pilot studies</u> assess issues related to proposed sampling and measurement, design and analysis and answer the question: Is the RCT well-designed enough to address the hypotheses? Such studies should report feasibility as the primary outcome rather than clinical outcomes. This requires a focus on information that addresses hypotheses about recruitment, acceptability, attrition, cost, accessibility, e.g., Can you recruit as many participants in the time allowed as your study proposes? Will the participants accept randomization? Will they comply with treatment protocols? Is the protocol for delivery of treatment well and clearly enough defined to promote fidelity? Will the participants accept the testing procedures? Can the testing procedures be completed in the time allowed? If these data are included in any subsequent study (e.g., an RCT), that fact should be explained transparently.

<u>Randomized controlled trials</u>, where there needs to be an adequate sample size (demonstrated through the presentation of a power analysis), clear aims and hypotheses. Any blinding (e.g., of researchers) and problems of de-blinding should be clearly detailed. An appropriate follow-up period is required. Definitions of terms such as 'attrition', 'remission' and 'recovery' should be fully replicable, and intervention protocols should be readily available to the reader. The study description should conform to the CONSORT 2010 checklist of information to include when reporting a randomized trial.

#### 4) Reviews and Meta-Analyses

These articles critically review the status of a given research area and propose new directions for research and/or practice. Both systematic and meta-analytic review papers are welcomed if they review a literature that is advanced and/or developed to the point of warranting a review and synthesis of existing studies. Reviews of topics with a limited number of studies are unlikely to be deemed as substantive enough for a Review paper. The journal does not accept papers that merely describe or compile a list of previous studies without a critical synthesis of the literature that moves the field the forward.

- Word Limit: 7,500 (excluding abstract, references, tables or figures).
- Structured Abstract: 250 words.
- References: ≤100 are recommended; more are permissible, for cause.
- Figures/Tables: No maximum, but should be appropriate to the material covered.

All Review articles must follow the **PRISMA Guidelines**, summarized in a 2021 *J. Clin. Epidemiol.* article by Page et al. entitled "<u>The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for</u> <u>reporting systematic reviews"</u>, freely available for download. Translations of PRISMA documents can be found at <u>this link</u>.

In addition to the required PRISMA review paper components, all review articles must also include a full description of the age, gender, race, ethnicity, and socioeconomic status of participants in the reviewed studies. This information will most often take the form of separate entries in tables describing the studies included in the review. If a paper included in the review does not report these demographic variables, then "NR" (Not Reported) should be indicated in the appropriate table cells. Review papers must also explicitly discuss (in the text) the diversity of the samples and the ways in which this diversity (or lack thereof) may impact the generalizability and representativeness of the study results and conclusions.

Authors who choose this contribution type must include the **2020 PRISMA Flow Diagram** and complete the Review Checklist upon submission of the manuscript, an example of which can be **found here**. This example is for informational purposes only. During the submission process, authors will be prompted to complete the Review Checklist directly in ScholarOne. The rationale for any unchecked items on the Review Checklist must be explicitly described in the accompanying Cover Letter.

#### 5) Spotlight

This is a contribution type where authors propose an idea that may not yet have adequate empirical support or be ready for full empirical testing, but holds great promise for advancing research of eating disorders. Authors are encouraged to write a piece that is bold, forward looking, and suggestive of new and exciting avenues for research and/or practice in the field. The manuscript should identify the specific knowledge gap and why filling the gap will advance research and practice in the field; it should delineate several concrete steps for addressing the gap.

- Word Limit: 2,000 (excluding abstract, references, tables or figures).
- Unstructured Abstract: 200 words.
- References: ≤20 are recommended; more are permissible, for cause.
- Figures/Tables: a maximum of 2 essential tables/figures, overall.

#### 6) Commentaries

Commentaries are solicited by the Editors when multiple perspectives on or critical appraisal of an article would assist in placing that article in context. Unsolicited commentaries are not considered for publication.

- Word Limit: 2,000 (excluding abstract, references, tables or figures).
- Unstructured Abstract: 200 words.
- References: ≤5 are recommended, more are permissible for cause.
- Figures/Tables: none.

#### 7) Registered Reports

This manuscript type is intended for publishing a detailed research protocol of original empirical studies prior to commencing data collection or of studies involving secondary data analyses of large public access data bases, prior to commencing analyses. The journal will not consider Registered Reports for analyses that may reasonably be expected to be conducted as part of a complex research study (e.g., moderator/mediator analyses in a treatment trial). The journal does not support Registered Reports for meta-analytic or systematic reviews.

Registered Reports manuscripts should use section headings under which authors provide the following information. Introduction: Study aim(s) and background literature, and statement of hypotheses. The introduction would provide a succinct and compelling rationale for the study. Methods: Experimental design and procedures, analysis plans, and statistical power analysis. The methods section should be written with the goal of facilitating study replication and describe in detail, where possible or applicable, recruitment target numbers, criteria and procedures; instruments or other materials; experimental stimuli and procedures; intervention protocols; analysis scripts or code; etc. Preliminary Data (if applicable): any pilot data. Conclusion: a concise statement regarding the expected knowledge to be gained.

Authors are advised of the following additional requirements:

1. By the time of submission of the registered report manuscript, authors will have completed a preregistration of their study in an online repository (e.g., <u>cos.io/prereg/</u>); authors report the preregistration number as part of the submission process (on the

author checklist) and in the methods section. If the preregistration is embargoed at the time of submission, authors should attach for the editor a confidential file containing the preregistration information and date when the study was preregistered.

- 2. If the preregistration is embargoed, the embargo must be lifted at the of acceptance of the Registered Report.
- 3. Having received extramural funding is not a prerequisite to potential acceptance of the registered report. However, authors are required to indicate in their submission letter whether the research plan has been reviewed and approved for funding by an extramural funding organization.
- 4. While institutional review board (IRB) approval is not required at the time of submission, publication will be conditional on receipt of IRB approval for the research plan as described in the accepted manuscript.

Registered Reports are <u>peer reviewed</u> using the same review criteria and procedures as apply to the introduction and methods sections of empirical studies involving confirmatory hypothesis testing. Reviewers would evaluate whether the rationale for the study aims is well justified and whether the design and methods are appropriate for testing the hypotheses.

Registered Reports manuscripts meeting the rigorous and transparent requirements for conducting the research proposed will be accepted for publication.

In addition, authors of a published Registered Report manuscript will be offered an in-principle acceptance of a subsequently submitted (Stage 2) manuscript. Specifically, following data collection, authors may submit a Stage 2 manuscript that includes the introduction and methods from the original submission plus their obtained results and discussion. All planned analyses and resulting findings should be reported. Authors choosing to include in their Stage 2 manuscript unplanned analyses will need to clearly distinguish them from planned analyses. Authors may select the Original Report format or, if indicated, the Brief Report format. In either case, authors should update their manuscript considering the literature that has become available since publication of the Registered Report.

The Stage 2 manuscript will undergo full review. Referees will consider whether the authors properly executed the study and adhered precisely to the registered research procedures and analysis plans. Referees will review any unregistered post hoc analyses added by the authors to confirm they are justified, methodologically sound and informative. Finally, the referees will evaluate the scholarly quality of the discussion.

Submission of the Stage 2 manuscript to IJED is optional; authors are free, therefore, to publish their completed study in any journal of their choosing. Authors who opt to submit their stage 2 manuscript to IJED should select the Original Studies or Brief Report format. Stage 2 manuscripts published in IJED will be eligible for the "Preregistered" Open Science badge: <u>https://cos.io/our-services/open-science-badges/</u>

Should the author choose to publish their Registered Research Report open access and should the article be accepted for publication, a 50% discount is applied on the Article Publication Fee at both stages of publication.

Throughout the process, the journal editor or associate editors retain the right to reject manuscripts where the quality of academic writing is deemed not to be of a publishable standard.

#### **Registered Reports Stage 1 Details:**

Word Limit: 3,000 (excluding abstract, references, tables or figures); much of the word count should be devoted to a detailed description of study methods and procedures.

- Title page: Include preregistration information.
- Unstructured abstract: 200 words.
- References: ≤30 recommended; more are permissible, for cause.
- Figures/Tables: a maximum of 4 essential tables/figures, overall. Authors are encouraged to summarize key methodological details in table or figure format.
- Supplemental information. For lengthy information that cannot be accommodated within the word limit of the Registered Report format, authors are encouraged to utilize publicly accessible repositories and report the relevant hyperlinks in their methods section.

#### **Registered Reports Stage 2 Details**

Authors should use instructions for Original Studies or Brief Report manuscripts, respectively.

#### 8) Forum

A Forum manuscript introduces an important knowledge or practice gap in regards to preventive or clinical interventions, policies, or research methods in the field and proposes specific solutions to filling the gap. A Forum manuscript is grounded in expert review of the literature and presents novel ideas regarding prevention or clinical care (Clinical Forum), public health or health care policy (Policy Forum), or research methods (Research Forum). Unlike Systematic Reviews or Meta-Analytical Reviews ("Review manuscripts"), the literature reviewed in a Forum manuscript may involve a smaller number of studies (i.e., the field may not yet have matured to the point where a systematic review is indicated); however, as in Review manuscripts, authors need to describe and critically discuss the relevant details of the prior literature. Unlike Idea manuscripts, Forum manuscripts need not necessarily pose a novel problem; the gap or problem being addressed may have plagued the field for some time. What is expected to be novel is (are) the solution(s) being proposed in the Forum manuscript. As with all journal content, authors should consider the relevance and implications of their work for a global audience.

When submitting the Forum, authors will be prompted to select whether their Forum manuscript primarily focuses on treatment or prevention (Clinical Forum), public health or health care policy (Policy Forum), or research methods (Research Forum).

Main text, excluding abstract, references, tables or figures: 5000 words Structured abstract: 250 words Tables, figures: up to 5 References: no restriction

#### 9) Perspective

A Perspective manuscript comments on an Original Research, Brief Report, or Meta-Analysis Review manuscript published in the IJED. A Perspective expands upon the published research by offering additional context, interpretation, or suggestions regarding the potential application of the research for advancing science and practice in eating disorders. Perspective manuscripts may not merely summarize the published research nor are they intended to primarily discuss the author's own work. Because the Original Research, Brief Report, or Meta-Analysis paper has already been peer reviewed, the Perspective manuscript should be viewed as an opportunity to develop the ideas and potential of the work reported, rather than a critique of the paper. Indeed, only submissions that add a new dimension to the published research will be considered suitable for publication.

Perspective manuscripts should provide a personal viewpoint and, as such, authorship should be limited to one or two authors. We recognize various forms of expertise, including research expertise, clinical expertise, expertise by lived experience (e.g., individuals impacted by an eating disorder), policy expertise, or expertise in a scholarly field distinct from eating and weight disorders. When submitting a Perspective manuscript, authors are requested to specify their primary expertise as pertaining to the Perspective submission.

To be considered for publication, the Perspective should focus on an Original Research, Brief Report, or Meta-Analysis Review manuscript that has been published in early view no more than three months before submission of the Perspective manuscript. Submissions that do not meet these requirements are rejected without review.

Main text: up to 750 words.

No abstract, up to 10 references.

#### <u>Return to Guideline Sections</u>

#### 4. PREPARING THE SUBMISSION

#### Parts of the Manuscript

The submission should be uploaded in separate files: 1) **manuscript file**; 2) tables; 3) **figures**; 4) if applicable, **supporting Information file(s)**.

#### 1. Manuscript File

The text file should contain the manuscript text, references, and the figure legends. The text should be presented in the following order:

1. <u>Title page</u>

- 1. Title. The title should be short and informative, containing major keywords related to the content. The title should not contain abbreviations (see <u>Wiley's</u> <u>best practice SEO tips</u>) and should not be phrased inform of a question.
- 2. A short running title of less than 40 characters.
- 3. The full names of all <u>authors</u>
- 4. The authors' institutional affiliations where the work was conducted, with a footnote for an author's present address if different to where the work was carried out
- 5. If applicable (required for clinical trials): Trial registration number.
- 6. Word counts (abstract and main text, excl. tables and references)
- 2. Data Availability Statement
- 3. Acknowledgements and Conflicts of Interest
  - 1. If applicable: funding source
  - 2. If applicable: other acknowledgements
  - 3. Conflict of interest statement (if none, state "The authors have no conflict to declare")
- 4. <u>Abstract</u> and <u>Keywords</u>
- 5. <u>Main text</u>
- 6. <u>References</u>
- 7. Figure legends

#### **Title Page**

#### Authorship

For details on eligibility for author listing, please refer to the journal's <u>Authorship</u> <u>policy</u> outlined in Section 5 of these Author Guidelines.

#### Acknowledgments

Contributions from individuals who do not meet the criteria for authorship should be listed, with permission from the contributor, in an Acknowledgments section. Financial and material support should also be mentioned. Thanks to anonymous reviewers are not appropriate.

#### **Conflict of Interest Statement**

Authors will be asked to provide a conflict of interest statement during the submission process. See the journal's policy on **Conflict of Interest** outlined in Section 5 of these Author Guidelines. Authors should ensure they liaise with all co-authors to confirm agreement with the final statement.

#### Abstract

The abstract should be typed as a single paragraph. The word maximum and abstract format vary by contribution type (see above).

Structured abstracts should be organized as follows: **Objective**: briefly indicate the primary purpose of the article, or major question addressed in the study. **Method**: indicate the sources of data, give brief overview of methodology, or, if review article, how the literature was searched and articles selected for discussion. For research based articles, this section should briefly note study design, how participants were selected, and major study measures. **Results**:

summarize the key findings. **Discussion**: indicate main clinical, theoretical, or research applications/implications.

#### Keywords

Please provide about 10 keywords. Keywords should be taken from those recommended by the US National Library of Medicine's Medical Subject Headings (MeSH) browser list at www.nlm.nih.gov/mesh.

#### Main Text

- Manuscripts reporting original research should follow the IMRaD guidelines (*I*ntroduction, (*M*ethods, *R*esults, *a*nd *D*iscussion), which are recommended by the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (ICMJE) (<u>J. Pharmacol.</u> <u>Pharmacother. 2010, 1, 42–58</u>).
- The Methods section should include a statement about sample selection, response rate, and other factors that would impact selection or response bias and, in turn, representativeness of the sample.
- Articles reporting data taken from or deposited elsewhere should refer to the journal policy on <u>Data Storage and Documentation</u> in Section 5 (below).
- If the study involves <u>qualitative</u> data, authors need to include a statement about sample size in relation to theme saturation. It is also important that the sampling strategy is driven by theory rather than convenience, the data analysis procedures are justified, and the advantage of a qualitative (vs. a simple quantitative) approach are well-described.
- For additional detail regarding statistical requirements for the manuscript see IJED
   Statistical Reporting Guidelines and please use the <u>Statistical Reporting Guidelines</u> <u>Checklist</u> as you prepare your manuscript.
- Authors should refrain from using terms that are stigmatizing or terms that are ambiguous. For further explanation and examples, see the 2016 IJED article by Weissman et al. entitled "*Speaking of that: Terms to avoid or reconsider in the eating disorders field*" (DOI: <u>10.1002/eat.22528</u>.)
- To facilitate evaluation by the Editors and Reviewers, each manuscript page should be numbered; the text should be double-spaced; and line numbers should be applied (restarting from 1 on each page). Instructions on how to implement this feature in Microsoft Word are given <u>here</u>.
- The journal uses US spelling. Authors may submit using any form of English as the spelling of accepted papers is converted to US English during the production process.
- Footnotes to the text are not allowed and any such material should be incorporated into the text as parenthetical matter.
- It is the primary responsibility of the authors to proofread thoroughly and ensure correct spelling and punctuation, completeness and accuracy of references, clarity of expression, thoughtful construction of sentences, and legible appearance prior to the manuscript's submission.
- Authors for whom English is not their first language are encouraged to seek assistance from a native or fluent English speaker to proof read the manuscript prior to

submission. Wiley offers a paid service that provides expert help in English language editing—further details are given <u>below</u>.

• Articles reporting data taken from or deposited elsewhere should refer to the journal policy on <u>Data Storage and Documentation</u> in Section 5 (below).

#### References

References in all manuscripts should follow the style of the American Psychological Association (6th edition), except in regards to spelling. The APA website includes <u>a range of resources for</u> <u>authors learning to write in APA style</u>, including <u>An overview of the Publication Manual of</u> <u>the American Psychological Association, Sixth Edition</u>; includes <u>free tutorials on APA Style</u> <u>basics</u> and an <u>APA Style Blog</u>. Please note APA referencing style requires that a Digital Object Identifier (DOI) be provided for all references where available.

#### Tables

Each table must be numbered in order of appearance in the text with Arabic numerals and be cited at an appropriate point in the text. Tables should be self-contained and complement, not duplicate, information contained in the text. They should be editable (i.e., created in Microsoft Word or similar), not pasted as images. Legends should be concise but comprehensive—the table, legend, and footnotes must be understandable without reference to the text. All abbreviations must be defined in footnotes. Footnote symbols: †, ‡, §, ¶, should be used (in that order) and \*, \*\*, \*\*\* should be reserved for P-values. Statistical measures such as standard deviation (SD) or standard error of the mean (SEM) should be identified in the headings.

#### Figure Legends/Captions

Each figure caption should have a brief title that describes the entire figure without citing specific panels, followed by a description of each panel. Captions should be concise but comprehensive—the figure and its caption must be understandable without reference to the text. Be sure to explain abbreviations in figures even if they have already been explained intext. Axes for figures must be labeled with appropriate units of measurement and description. Include definitions of any symbols used and units of measurement.

#### 2. Figures

Although authors are encouraged to send the highest quality figures possible, for peer-review purposes, a wide variety of formats, sizes, and resolutions are accepted. <u>Click here</u> for the basic figure requirements for figures submitted with manuscripts for initial peer review, as well as the more detailed post-acceptance figure requirements.

Helvetica typeface is preferred for lettering within figures. All letters, numbers and symbols must be at least 2 mm in height. Courier typeface should be used for sequence figures. Figures should be numbered consecutively with Arabic numerals, and they should be numbered in the order in which they appear in the text.

Figures should be submitted as electronic images to fit either one (55 mm, 2 3/16", 13 picas), two (115 mm, 4 1/2", 27 picas), or three (175 mm, 6 7/8", 41 picas) columns. The length of an illustration cannot exceed 227 mm (9"). Journal quality reproduction requires grey scale and color files at resolutions of 300 dpi. Bitmapped line art should be submitted at resolutions of 600–1200 dpi.

Figures submitted in color will be reproduced in color online and in print free of charge. Authors should note, however, that it is preferable that line figures (e.g., graphs) are supplied in black and white so that they are legible if printed by a reader in black and white.

#### Graphical Table of Contents

*International Journal of Eating Disorders* incorporates graphics and a small piece of text from journal articles into the online table of contents (which are distributed to readers who have signed up to Table of Contents (ToC) alerts). The extra graphic and text, in addition to being eye-catching, gives the reader a much more immediate impression of what each article will cover.

If you would like a graphic to accompany your article in the Table of Contents, please specify one of your figures. You will be given the option to specify a figure during the submission process at the file upload stage.

#### 3. Supporting Information Files(s)

Supporting Information is information that is supplementary and not essential to the article, but provides greater depth and background. Examples of such information include more detailed descriptions of therapeutic protocols, results related to exploratory or post-hoc analyses, and elements otherwise not suitable for inclusion in the main article, such as video clips, large sections of tabular data, program code, or large graphical files. It is *not* appropriate to include, in the Supporting Information, text that would normally go into a discussion section; all discussion-related material should be presented in the main article.

Because the Supporting Information is separate from the paper and supplementary in nature, the main article should be able to be read as a stand-alone document by readers. Reference to the Supporting Information should be made in the text of the main article to provide context for the reader and highlight where and how the supplemental material contributes to the article.

Should authors wish to provide supplementary file(s) along with their article, these materials *must* be included upon submission to the journal. If such materials are added to the submission as a result of peer review, i.e., during a revision, then the authors should bring this to the attention of the editor in their response letter. If accepted for publication, Supporting Information is hosted online together with the article and appears without editing or typesetting.

# <u>Wiley's FAQs on Supporting Information</u> are available on the Wiley Author Services site: <u>www.wileyauthors.com</u>.

Note: Authors are encouraged to utilize publicly available data repository for data, scripts, or other artefacts used to generate the analyses presented in the paper; in such cases, authors should include a reference to the location of the material within their paper.

#### **General Style Points**

The following points provide general advice on formatting and style.

• **Terminology**: The journal rejects terminology that refers to individuals by their condition. Terms such as "anorexics," "bulimics," "obese," or "diabetic," etc., as personal pronouns, referring to groups of individuals by their common diagnosis or condition, should be avoided. Terms like "individuals with anorexia nervosa," "people with bulimia

nervosa," "participants with eating disorders," "patients with diabetes," or "participants with obesity," etc., should be used instead. Note, "participants" should be used in place of "subjects".

- **Abbreviations**: In general, terms should not be abbreviated unless they are used repeatedly and the abbreviation is helpful to the reader. Initially, use the word in full, followed by the abbreviation in parentheses. Thereafter use the abbreviation only.
- **Units of measurement**: Measurements should be given in SI or SI-derived units. Visit the Bureau International des Poids et Mesures (BIPM) website at <u>www.bipm.fr</u> for more information about SI units.
- **Numbers** under 10 should be spelt out, except for: measurements with a unit (8 mmol/L); age (6 weeks old), or lists with other numbers (11 dogs, 9 cats, 4 gerbils).
- **The word "data"** is plural; therefore, text should follow accordingly (for example, "The data show...the data are ... the data were...").
- Sex/Gender & Age: When referring to sex/gender, "males" and "females" should be used only in cases where the study samples include both children (below age 18) and adults and only if word limit precludes using terms such as "male participants/female participants," "female patients/male patients"; when the participants comprise adults only, the terms "men" and "women" should be used. In articles that refer to children, "boys" and "girls" should be used.
- **Trade Names**: Chemical substances should be referred to by the generic name only. Trade names should not be used. Drugs should be referred to by their generic names. If proprietary drugs have been used in the study, refer to these by their generic name, mentioning the proprietary name and the name and location of the manufacturer in parentheses.

#### **Wiley Author Resources**

*Manuscript Preparation Tips:* Wiley has a range of resources for authors preparing manuscripts for submission available <u>here</u>. In particular, authors may benefit from referring to Wiley's best practice tips on <u>Writing for Search Engine Optimization</u>.

#### Article Preparation Support

<u>Wiley Editing Services</u> offers expert help with English Language Editing, as well as translation, manuscript formatting, figure illustration, figure formatting, and graphical abstract design – so you can submit your manuscript with confidence.

Also, check out our resources for **<u>Preparing Your Article</u>** for general guidance about writing and preparing your manuscript.

Return to Guideline Sections

#### 5. EDITORIAL POLICIES AND ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS

#### **Editorial Review and Acceptance**

Rigorous evaluation of submitted material by expert reviewers is essential to ensuring that the journal achieves its mission. To facilitate timely feedback to authors and to avoid burdening expert reviewers unduly, the journal utilizes a two-tiered review process for all contributions (whether invited or unsolicited). The first tier involves an initial editorial preview to be

implemented within days of receipt of a submission. If the manuscript is considered to have potential for publication in the journal, the second tier involves peer review, typically by two to three experts. The Editor-in-Chief, at times, may delegate final decision making authority to one of the Associate Editors.

<u>Editorial Pre-Screen.</u> The Editor-in-Chief will pre-screen all submissions to determine the suitability based on fit with the journal's scope and scholarly merit. Manuscripts deemed to fall outside of the journal's scope or to be of limited merit (e.g., because of substantial methodological flaws or insufficiently novel contribution to the field) will not be sent out for peer review. Pre-screening of articles does not involve detailed evaluation. Authors receiving a negative decision at this stage may appeal by sending a concise rationale to the Editor-in-Chief.

**Appeal of Rejection Decision.** Requests for **appeal** will be considered only where the author makes a case that one or more reviewer, or the editor, has clearly made a substantive mistake. Submissions not sent out for external review are subject to the same grounds for appeal as submissions that have undergone full peer review. Please address appeal requests in writing to the Editor-in-Chief.

**Peer Review.** Submissions that, based on editorial pre-screening, are considered of potential suitability for the journal are forwarded to experts in the field—ad hoc reviewers or members of the journal's Editorial Board—for detailed evaluation and feedback. Expert reviewers are asked to evaluate the merit of a manuscript based on the quality of the methods applied, presentation, and overall contribution to the field. Reviewers are instructed to offer a thorough, constructive, and timely evaluation of all aspects of the submission and to enumerate strengths and weaknesses. Authors are invited to recommend expert reviewers.

Wiley's policy on confidentiality of the review process is available here: **www.wileypeerreview.com/reviewpolicy**.

**Revision Submission.** Authors are asked to upload two versions of the revised manuscript. One version should include all tracked changes and be labelled "Manuscript with revisions" when uploaded. The other version should contain no mark up and be labelled "Manuscript" when uploaded.

**Transferable Peer Review.** To enable rapid publication of good quality research that is unable to be accepted for publication by the *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, we work together with Wiley's Open Access journals through **Wiley's Manuscript Transfer Program**: *Brain and Behavior, Obesity Science and Practice, Clinical Case Reports, and Molecular Genetics and Genomic Medicine*. Authors may be offered the option of having their manuscript (inc. any Supporting Information), along with any related peer reviews, automatically transferred for consideration by the Editor of the recieving journal. Authors taking up the offer to transfer will not need to reformat or rewrite their manuscript at that stage, and a publication decision will be made a short time after the transfer has taken place. The Editors of the recieving journals will accept submissions that report well-conducted research that reaches the standard acceptable for publication. These journals are a part of the Wiley Open Access portfolio (www.wileyopenaccess.com), and thus Article Publication Fees apply.

#### Work Involving Cross-Cultural Studies

If the work involves cross-cultural assessment or assessment in a new language or study population, authors should provide information about local literacy in the language of

assessment, the validity of (or process for validating) a translation of an assessment, and for inclusion of regional samples, a statement about the representativeness of the regional sample (or distinction from) the national sample. If statistical analyses are employed, effect size estimates should be reported in the Results section.

#### **Guidelines for Genetic Studies**

Authors of manuscripts describing association studies should note that the *International Journal of Eating Disorders* has adopted Methods guidelines developed and published by the <u>American</u> <u>Journal of Medical Genetics Part B: Neuropsychiatric Genetics</u>. These guidelines recommend minimum sample sizes; in the case of positive findings, an adequately powered independent replication sample; and adjustments for multiple comparisons. As is required for all papers, the guidelines also require that authors report effect size estimates. For a complete description, please refer to the AJMGB Editorial Policy on Association Studies described in their <u>Author</u> <u>Guidelines</u>.

Please note, when referring to genetic material, the names of genes should be spelled out in full the first time they appear in the text, after which an italicized abbreviation can be substituted. Sequence variants should be described in the text and tables using both DNA and designations whenever appropriate. Sequence variant nomenclature must follow the current Human Genome Variation Society (HGVS) guidelines; see <u>varnomen.hgvs.org</u>, where examples of acceptable nomenclature are provided.

#### **Data Sharing and Data Accessibility**

Please review Wiley's policy <u>here</u>. The *International Journal of Eating Disorders* expects but does not require data sharing.

All accepted manuscripts are required to publish a data availability statement to confirm the presence or absence of shared data.

The *International Journal of Eating Disorders* recognizes the many benefits of archiving research data. *IJED* expects you to archive all the data from which your published results are derived in a public repository. The repository that you choose should offer you guaranteed preservation (see the registry of research data repositories at <u>https://www.re3data.org/</u>) and should help you make it findable, accessible, interoperable, and re-useable, according to <u>FAIR Data</u> <u>Principles</u>.

The *International Journal of Eating Disorders* notes that FAIR data sharing allows for access to shared data under restrictions (e.g., to protect confidential or proprietary information) but notes that the FAIR principles encourage you to share data in ways that are as open as possible (but that can be as closed as necessary).

If you have shared data, this statement will describe how the data can be accessed, and include a persistent identifier (e.g., a DOI for the data, or an accession number) from the repository where you shared the data. If you cannot share the data described in your manuscript, for example for legal or ethical reasons, or do not intend to share the data then you must provide the appropriate data availability statement. Sample statements are available <u>here</u>. If published, all statements will be placed in the heading of your manuscript.

#### Human Studies and Subjects

For manuscripts reporting studies that involve human participants, a statement identifying the ethics committee that approved the study and confirmation that the study conforms to

recognized standards is required, for example: <u>Declaration of Helsinki</u>; <u>US Federal Policy for</u> <u>the Protection of Human Subjects</u> ; or <u>European Medicines Agency Guidelines for Good</u> <u>Clinical Practice</u>.

Every effort should be taken to ensure the anonymity of the patient concerned, and any clinicians not involved as authors. If there is any potentially identifiable information, then it is the responsibility of the authors to seek and obtain approval from the local Institutional Review Board (IRB) (or equivalent) for the case to be reported, and a copy of that approval should be made available to the Editor on request.

Images and information from individual participants will only be published where the authors have obtained the individual's free prior informed consent. Authors do not need to provide a copy of the consent form to the publisher; however, in signing the author license to publish, authors are required to confirm that consent has been obtained. Wiley has a **standard patient consent form available** for use.

#### Animal Studies

A statement indicating that the protocol and procedures employed were ethically reviewed and approved, as well as the name of the body giving approval (e.g., in the USA, the Institutional Review Board (IRB) or Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC)), must be included in the Methods section of the manuscript. Authors are encouraged to adhere to animal research reporting standards, for example the **ARRIVE reporting guidelines** for reporting study design and statistical analysis; experimental procedures; experimental animals and housing and husbandry. Authors should also state whether experiments were performed in accordance with relevant institutional and national guidelines for the care and use of laboratory animals:

- US authors should cite compliance with the US National Research Council's <u>Guide for</u> <u>the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals</u>, the US Public Health Service's <u>Policy on</u> <u>Humane Care and Use of Laboratory Animals</u>, and <u>Guide for the Care and Use of</u> <u>Laboratory Animals</u>.
- UK authors should conform to UK legislation under the <u>Animals (Scientific Procedures)</u> <u>Act 1986 Amendment Regulations (SI 2012/3039)</u>.
- European authors outside the UK should conform to <u>Directive 2010/63/EU</u>.

#### **Clinical Trial Registration**

The journal requires that clinical trials are prospectively registered in a publicly accessible database and clinical trial registration numbers are included in all papers that report their results. The name of the trial register and the clinical trial registration number should appear at the end of the abstract along with the URL for a hyperlink, if possible. A full list of registers can be found via the **WHO International Clinical Trials Registry Platform (ICTRP)**. Contributors should make clear when registration took place relative to the start or end of data gathering. Any discrepancies between the trial protocol and the study itself must be reported and justified in the methods section of the submitted paper. If the trial is not registered, or was registered retrospectively, the reasons for this should be explained.

#### Research Reporting Guidelines

Accurate and complete reporting enables readers to fully appraise research, replicate it, and use it. Authors are encouraged to adhere to any research reporting standards relevant to their study. A list of the most well-known guidelines is given here:

- <u>Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials (CONSORT)</u>
- <u>Standard Protocol Items: Recommendations for Interventional Trials (SPIRIT)</u>
- Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA)
- PRISMA Protocols (PRISMA-P)
- <u>STrengthening the Reporting of OBservational studies in Epidemiology (STROBE)</u>
- CARE: Guidelines to increase the accuracy, transparency, and usefulness of case reports
- <u>Consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research (COREQ)</u> by Tong et al. (*Int. J. Qual. Health Care*(**2007**) *19*(6): 349–357)
- <u>STARD 2015: An Updated List of Essential Items for Reporting Diagnostic Accuracy</u>
   <u>Studies</u>
- <u>TRIPOD: Transparent Reporting of a multivariable prediction model for Individual</u> <u>Prognosis Or Diagnosis</u>
- <u>Consolidated Health Economic Evaluation Reporting Standards (CHEERS)</u> by Husereau et al. (*BMC Medicine*(**2013**) *11*: 80; DOI: 10.1186/1741-7015-11-80)
- <u>The EQUATOR Network: an author's one-stop-shop for writing and publishing high-impact health research</u>
- FORCE11: Recommended reporting guidelines for life science resources
- ARRIVE (Animal Research: Reporting of In Vivo Experiments) guidelines
- <u>Guidance for the Description of Animal Research in Scientific Publications</u> from the US National Research Council's Institute for Laboratory Animal Research
- The Gold Standard Publication Checklist from Hooijmans et al. (ATLA (2010) 38: 167–182)

#### Species Names

Upon its first use in the title, abstract, and text, the common name of a species should be followed by the scientific name (genus, species, and authority) in parentheses. For well-known species, however, scientific names may be omitted from article titles. If no common name exists in English, only the scientific name should be used.

#### Sequence Data

**Nucleotide sequence data** can be submitted in electronic form to any of the three major collaborative databases: DDBJ, EMBL, or GenBank. It is only necessary to submit to one database as data are exchanged between DDBJ, EMBL, and GenBank on a daily basis. The suggested wording for referring to accession-number information is: 'These sequence data have been submitted to the DDBJ/EMBL/GenBank databases under accession number U12345'. Addresses are as follows:

- DNA Data Bank of Japan (DDBJ): <u>www.ddbj.nig.ac.jp</u>
- EMBL Nucleotide Archive: <u>ebi.ac.uk/ena</u>
- GenBank: <u>www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genbank</u>

**Proteins sequence data**should be submitted to either of the following repositories.

- RCSB Protein Data Bank (PDB): <u>www.rcsb.org/pdb</u>.
- Protein Information Resource (PIR): <u>pir.georgetown.edu</u>
- SWISS-PROT: <u>expasy.ch/sprot/sprot-top</u>

#### Conflict of Interest

The journal requires that all authors disclose any potential sources of conflict of interest. Any interest or relationship, financial or otherwise that might be perceived as influencing an author's objectivity is considered a potential source of conflict of interest. These must be disclosed when directly relevant or directly related to the work that the authors describe in their manuscript.

Potential sources of conflict of interest include, but are not limited to: employment at a forprofit treatment center where data collection occurred, employment at a for-profit corporation if the corporation manufactures or sells products used in the research (e.g., medications; equipment used in a treatment tested as part of the research), patent or stock ownership, membership of a company board of directors, membership of an advisory board or committee for a company, and consultancy for or receipt of speaker's fees from a company.

The existence of a conflict of interest does not preclude publication. It is the responsibility of the corresponding author to review this policy with all authors and collectively to disclose with the submission ALL pertinent commercial and other relationships. These conflicts of interest should be disclosed in the relevant section of the submission questionnaire and in the manuscript. If the authors have no conflict(s) of interest to declare, they must also state this.

#### Funding

Authors should list all funding sources in the Acknowledgments section. Authors are responsible for the accuracy of their funder designation. If in doubt, please check the Open Funder Registry for the correct nomenclature: <u>www.crossref.org/services/funder-registry</u>.

#### Authorship

The list of authors should accurately illustrate who contributed to the work and how. All those listed as authors should qualify for authorship according to the following criteria:

- 1. Have made substantial contributions to conception and design, or acquisition of data, or analysis and interpretation of data;
- 2. Been involved in drafting the manuscript or revising it critically for important intellectual content;
- 3. Given final approval of the version to be published. Each author should have participated sufficiently in the work to take public responsibility for appropriate portions of the content; and
- 4. Agreed to be accountable for all aspects of the work in ensuring that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work are appropriately investigated and resolved.

Contributions from anyone who does not meet the criteria for authorship should be listed, with permission from the contributor, in an Acknowledgments section (for example, to recognize contributions from people who provided technical help, collation of data, writing assistance, acquisition of funding, or a department chairperson who provided general support). Prior to

submitting the article all authors should agree on the order in which their names will be listed in the manuscript.

*Joint first or senior authorship*: In the case of joint first authorship, a footnote should be added to the author listing, e.g. 'X and Y should be considered joint first author' or 'X and Y should be considered joint senior author.'

**Authorship responsibilities**: Eligibility for authorship requires that authors have made substantive contributions to the work described in the manuscript, have read and approved the manuscript in its current form, and have approved the ordering of authorship. All authors agree that, once a manuscript has been submitted, the subsequent addition, removal or change of authorship order requires the approval of all authors (including making such changes as part of a resubmission). Such changes in revised versions of a manuscript should be brought to the attention of the Editor in the response letter.

**Correction to Authorship:** In accordance with <u>Wiley's Best Practice Guidelines on Research</u> Integrity and Publishing Ethics and the <u>Committee on Publication Ethics' guidance</u>, *IJED* will allow authors to correct authorship on a submitted, accepted, or published article if a valid reason exists to do so. All authors – including those to be added or removed – must agree to any proposed change. To request a change to the author list, please complete the <u>Request for</u> <u>Changes to a Journal Article Author List Form</u> and contact either the journal's editorial or production office, depending on the status of the article. Authorship changes will not be considered without a fully completed Author Change form. Correcting the authorship is different from changing an author's name; the relevant policy for that can be found in <u>Wiley's</u> <u>Best Practice Guidelines</u> under "Author name changes after publication."

*Wiley's Author Name Change Policy:* In cases where authors wish to change their name following publication, Wiley will update and republish the paper and redeliver the updated metadata to indexing services. Our editorial and production teams will use discretion in recognizing that name changes may be of a sensitive and private nature for various reasons including (but not limited to) alignment with gender identity, or as a result of marriage, divorce, or religious conversion. Accordingly, to protect the author's privacy, we will not publish a correction notice to the paper, and we will not notify co-authors of the change. Authors should contact the journal's Editorial Office with their name change request.

#### ORCID

As part of the journal's commitment to supporting authors at every step of the publishing process, the journal requires the submitting author (only) to provide an ORCID iD when submitting a manuscript. If the submitting author is not already registered with ORCID, they can do so here: <u>orcid.org/register</u>; this takes around 2 minutes to complete. For more information, visit <u>www.wileyauthors.com/orcid</u>.

#### **Publication Ethics**

The International Journal of Eating Disorders is a member of the Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE). Note this journal uses iThenticate's CrossCheck software to detect instances of overlapping and similar text in submitted manuscripts. Read the Top 10 Publishing Ethics Tips for Authors at www.wileyauthors.com/ethics; a link to Wiley's Publication Ethics Guidelines can also be found there.

Return to the Guideline Sections

#### 6. AUTHOR LICENSING

If a paper is accepted for publication, the author identified as the formal corresponding author will receive an email prompting them to log in to Author Services, where via the Wiley Author Licensing Service (WALS) they will be required to complete a copyright license agreement on behalf of all authors of the paper.

Authors may choose to publish under the terms of the journal's standard copyright agreement, or **OnlineOpen** under the terms of a Creative Commons (CC) License.

General information regarding licensing and copyright is available <u>here</u>. To review the Creative Commons License options offered under OnlineOpen, please <u>click here</u>. (Note that certain funders mandate that a particular type of CC license has to be used; the Wiley Author Compliance Tool, available at <u>www.wileyauthors.com/compliancetool</u>, provides assistance to authors in checking for any open-access mandates from their funder(s).)

#### Self-Archiving Definitions and Policies

Note that the journal's standard copyright agreement allows for self-archiving of different versions of the article under specific conditions. For more detailed information about self-archiving definitions and policies, visit <u>www.wileyauthors.com/self-archiving</u>.

#### **Open Access Fees**

Authors choosing to publish using OnlineOpen will be charged a fee. A list of Article Publication Charges for Wiley journals is available at <u>www.wileyauthors.com/APCpricing</u>.

#### **Funder Open Access**

For more information on Wiley's compliance with the open-access policies of specific funders, visit **www.wileyauthors.com/funderagreements**.

Return to Guideline Sections

#### 7. PUBLICATION PROCESS AFTER ACCEPTANCE

#### **Accepted Articles Received in Production**

#### Signing the License

When an accepted article is received by Wiley's production team, the corresponding author will receive an email asking them to login or register with <u>Wiley Author Services</u>. The author will be asked to sign a publication license at this point. Further details are given in <u>Section 6</u> of these Author Guidelines.

#### Proofs

Once the paper is typeset, the author will receive an email notification with the URL to download a PDF typeset page proof, as well as associated forms and full instructions on how to correct and return the file.

Please note that the author is responsible for all statements made in their work, including changes made during the editorial process—authors should check proofs carefully. Note that proofs should be returned within 48 hours from receipt.

Questions regarding the production of articles accepted for publication in the *International Journal of Eating Disorders* should be directed to the Production Editor: <u>eat@wiley.com</u> **Publication Charges**  There are **no mandatory charges** to authors publishing in the *International Journal of Eating Disorders*.

Authors may choose to publish in an open access format through OnlineOpen, which carries a fee (see the section on Author Licensing).

#### Early View

The journal offers rapid publication via Wiley's Early View service. **Early View** (online Version of Record) articles are published on Wiley Online Library before inclusion in an issue. Note there may be a delay after corrections are received before the article appears online, as the proofs need to be reviewed and processed. Once the article is published on Early View, no further changes are possible. The Early View article is fully citable and carries an online publication date and Digital Object Identifier (DOI) for citations.

#### Video Abstracts

A video abstract can be a quick way to make the message of your research accessible to a much larger audience. Wiley and its partner Research Square offer a service of professionally produced video abstracts, available to authors of articles accepted in this journal. You can learn more about it at <u>www.wileyauthors.com/videoabstracts</u>. If you have any questions, please direct them to <u>videoabstracts@wiley.com</u>.

<u>Return to Guideline Sections</u>

#### 8. POST PUBLICATION

#### Access and Sharing

When the article is published online:

- The author receives an email alert (if requested).
- The link to the published article can be shared through social media.
- The author will have free access to the paper (after accepting the Terms & Conditions of use, they can view the article).
- The corresponding author and co-authors can nominate up to ten colleagues to receive a publication alert and free online access to the article.

Authors may order print copies of the article. Instructions are sent at proofing stage. Alternatively, authors may use the following

link: **caesar.sheridan.com/reprints/redir.php?pub=10089&acro=eat** or email **chris.jones@sheridan.com**.

#### **Promoting an Article**

<u>Wiley's Promotional Toolkit</u> is a resource designed to help authors disseminate their work to the fullest extent through their networks and beyond. Authors can find the toolkit and other ideas on how to promote their research here: <u>www.wileyauthors.com/maximize</u>.

<u>Wiley Editing Services</u> offers professional video, design, and writing services to create shareable video abstracts, infographics, conference posters, lay summaries, and research news stories for your research – so you can help your research get the attention it deserves.

#### Cover Image Submissions

This journal accepts artwork submissions for Cover Images. This is an optional service you can use to help increase article exposure and showcase your research. For more information, including artwork guidelines, pricing, and submission details, please visit the **Journal Cover Image page.** 

# Authors intending to issue a press release through their institution or affiliation are kindly asked to inform the Editorial Office at their earliest convenience.

### Measuring the Impact of an Article

Wiley also helps our authors <u>measure the impact</u> of their research through citation tracking, and specialist partnerships with Kudos (<u>www.wileyauthors.com/ kudos</u>) and Altmetric (<u>www.wileyauthors.com/altmetric</u>).

<u>Return to Guideline Sections</u>

#### 9. JOURNAL CONTACT DETAILS

Author queries regarding submissions under review or accepted articles in production should be directed to the Editorial Office (**ijed@wiley.com**) or Production Editor

(IJEDprod@wiley.com), respectively.

Author Guidelines updated May 31, 2019

## Appendix B. PROSPERO registration confirmation email

PROS	SPERO Registration message [243891]	
С	CRD-REGISTER <irss505@york.ac.uk> Tue 01/06/2021 16:05 To: Georgette Morrison</irss505@york.ac.uk>	; △ 5 % → …
	External email to Cardiff University - Take care when replying/opening attachments or links. Nid ebost mewnol o Brifysgol Caerdydd yw hwn - Cymerwch ofal wrth ateb/agor atodiadau neu ddolenni.	
	Dear Georgette,	
	Thank you for submitting details of your systematic review "Association between adverse childhood experiences and eating disorders: a review of reviews" to the PROSPERO register. We are pleased to confirm that the record will be published on our website within the next hour.	
	Your registration number is: CRD42021243891	
	You are free to update the record at any time, all submitted changes will be displayed as the latest version with previous versions available to public view. Please also give brief details of the key changes in the Revision notes facility and remember to update your record when your review is published. You can log in to PROSPERO and access your records at <a href="https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/2">https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/2</a> url=https:%3A%2F%2Fwww.crd.york.ac.uk%2FPROSPERO@amp.data=04%7C01%7Cmorrisonga%40cardiff.ac.uk%7C06d5c24772004078b37808d9250eae26%7Cbdb74b3095684856bdbf06759778fcbc%7C19 0060962%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGzsb3d8eyJWJjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzliiCJBTII6ik1haWwiLCXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000Ramp.sdata=Q0x7T9mqsV6hqzNuzf%2Ftv0cjhpa4Hrf%2FC8mafdGLZwc% Comments and feedback on your experience of registering with PROSPERO	
	are welcome at crd-register@york.ac.uk Best wishes for the successful completion of your review.	
	Yours sincerely,	
	Lesley Indge PROSPERO Administrator Centre for Reviews and Dissemination University of York York YO10 SDD e: RD-register@york.ac.uk https://cur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/2 url=https:8/x2/PX2Fvwww.york.ac.uk/k2Finst%2Fcrd&amp.data=04%7C01%7Cmorrisonga%40cardiff.ac.uk%7C06d5c24772004078b37808d9250eae26%7Cbdb74b3095684856bdbf06759778fcbc%7C1%7C0 962%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWijoiMC4wLjAvMDAit.CJQIjoiV2IuMzIILCJBTilfik1thaWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C10008amp;sdata=Rq7aw1t88J%2FflOY4yd6O2bbwH7VyZRqlbN2m6iMOinU%3D&a	
	PROSPERO is funded by the National Institute for Health Research and produced by CRD, which is an academic department of the University of York.	
	Email disclaimer: https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/? url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.york.ac.uk%2Fdocs%2Fdisclaimer%2Femail.htm&amp.data=04%7C01%7Cmorrisonga%40cardiff.ac.uk%7C06d5c24772004078b37808d9250eae26%7Cbdb74b3095684856bdb06 0%7C637581567240060962%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2IuMzliLCJBTil6lk1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=XRSvAZwqQhGLhV5lazvDLnku%2BWWt1 amp;reserved=0	
	Other non-commercial resources that may be of interest SRDR-Plus is a systematic review data management and archival tool that is available free of charge <a href="https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/2">https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/2</a> that is available free of charge <a href="https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/2">https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/2</a> that is available free of charge <a href="https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/2">https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/2</a> url=https://ax2Fsrdrplus.ahrg.gov%2F&amp.data=04%7C01%7Cmorrisonga%40cardiff.ac.uk%7C06d5c24772004078b37808d9250eae26%7Cbdb74b3095684856bdbf06759778fcbc%7C1%7C0%7C6375	
	Unknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8ey/WljoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQljoiV2luMzliLCJBTil6lk1haWwiLCJXVCl6Mn0%3D%7C1000&amp.sdata=86a9w44qWRljWU38pllHTZawlteTBhUXuYuLz5HmG11%3D&amp.reserved	=0.

#### Appendix C. Example of AMSTAR assessments

Caslini et al. (2016)

1. Did the research questions and	inclusion criteria for the review include th	ne components of PICO?
For Yes:         Population         Intervention         Comparator group         Outcome	Optional (recommended)	☐ Yes □ No
	ntain an explicit statement that the review t of the review and did the report justify a	
For Partial Yes: The authors state that they had a written protocol or guide that included ALL the following: review question(s) a search strategy inclusion/exclusion criteria a risk of bias assessment	<ul> <li>For Yes:</li> <li>As for partial yes, plus the protocol should be registered and should also have specified:</li> <li>a meta-analysis/synthesis plan, if appropriate, and</li> <li>a plan for investigating causes of heterogeneity</li> <li>justification for any deviations from the protocol</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Yes</li> <li>Partial Yes</li> <li>No</li> </ul>
•	their selection of the study designs for inc	lusion in the review?
For Yes, the review should satisfy ONE of <i>Explanation for</i> including only R OR <i>Explanation for</i> including on OR <i>Explanation for</i> including bo	CTs ly NRSI	□ Yes □ Nσ
4. Did the review authors use a co	omprehensive literature search strategy?	
For Partial Yes (all the following):	For Yes, should also have (all the following):	_
<ul> <li>searched at least 2 databases (relevant to research question)</li> <li>provided key word and/or search strategy</li> <li>justified publication restrictions (e.g. language)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>searched the reference lists / bibliographies of included studies</li> <li>searched trial/study registries</li> <li>included/consulted content experts in the field</li> <li>where relevant, searched for grey literature</li> <li>conducted search within 24 months of completion of the review</li> </ul>	☐ Yes ☐ Partial Yes ☐ No
5. Did the review authors perform	n study selection in duplicate?	
and achieved consensus on which OR two reviewers selected a sam	ntly agreed on selection of eligible studies a studies to include ple of eligible studies <u>and</u> achieved good with the remainder selected by one	<ul><li>Yes</li><li>No</li></ul>



	ta-analysis was performed did the review authors use appropriate ination of results?	e methods for statistical
CTs		
or Yes:		
The at	thors justified combining the data in a meta-analysis	- Yes
	D they used an appropriate weighted technique to combine	─ No
stud	y results and adjusted for heterogeneity if present.	No meta-analysis
	D investigated the causes of any heterogeneity	conducted
or NRSI		
or Yes:		
The at	thors justified combining the data in a meta-analysis	- Yes
	D they used an appropriate weighted technique to combine	- No
	ly results, adjusting for heterogeneity if present	No meta-analysis
	D they statistically combined effect estimates from NRSI that	conducted
	e adjusted for confounding, rather than combining raw data,	
	astified combining raw data when adjusted effect estimates	
	e not available	
	D they reported separate summary estimates for RCTs and	
	SI separately when both were included in the review	
	ta-analysis was performed, did the review authors assess the pote	*
	dual studies on the results of the meta-analysis or other evidence s	synthesis?
or Yes:		
includ	ed only low risk of bias RCTs	-Yes
-	the pooled estimate was based on RCTs and/or NRSI at variable	──No
<del>RoB, 1</del>	he authors performed analyses to investigate possible impact of	No meta-analys
RoB c	n summary estimates of effect.	conducted
	he review authors account for RoB in individual studies when int	erpreting/ discussing the
or Yes:	s of the review?	
	ed only low risk of bias RCTs	Yes
	RCTs with moderate or high RoB, or NRSI were included the	
,	provided a discussion of the likely impact of RoB on the results	
101101		
14 Did	he review authors provide a satisfactory explanation for, and disc	ussion of any
	ogeneity observed in the results of the review?	ussion oi, any
or Yes:	Senercy observed in the results of the restores.	
	non a simificant between site in the nexulte	
	was no significant heterogeneity in the results	🖶 Yes
	heterogeneity was present the authors performed an investigation of s of any heterogeneity in the results and discussed the impact of this	$\square$ No
	results of the review	
		· • •
inves	y performed quantitative synthesis did the review authors carry o igation of publication bias (small study bias) and discuss its likely view?	-
or Yes:		
	ned graphical or statistical tests for publication bias and discussed	□ Yes
□ perfor		
1	elihood and magnitude of impact of publication bias	🗆 No
1	elihood and magnitude of impact of publication bias	□ No □ No meta-analysi

16. Did the review authors report any potential sources of conflict of interest, including any funding they received for conducting the review?					
For Yes	For Yes:				
	The authors reported no competing interests OR		Yes		
	The authors described their funding sources and how they managed potential conflicts of interest		No		

**To cite this tool:** Shea BJ, Reeves BC, Wells G, Thuku M, Hamel C, Moran J, Moher D, Tugwell P, Welch V, Kristjansson E, Henry DA. AMSTAR 2: a critical appraisal tool for systematic reviews that include randomised or non-randomised studies of healthcare interventions, or both. BMJ. 2017 Sep 21;358:j4008.

#### Appendix C. Example of AMSTAR assessments

*Chen et al. (2010)* 

or Yes	:	Optional (recommended)	
	Population Intervention Comparator group Outcome	Timeframe for follow-up	☐ Yes □ No
2.		ntain an explicit statement that the review t of the review and did the report justify an	
The aut	tial Yes: hors state that they had a written l or guide that included ALL the ng: review question(s) a search strategy inclusion/exclusion criteria a risk of bias assessment	<ul> <li>For Yes: As for partial yes, plus the protocol should be registered and should also have specified:</li> <li>a meta-analysis/synthesis plan, if appropriate, and</li> <li>a plan for investigating causes of heterogeneity</li> <li>justification for any deviations</li> </ul>	<ul><li>☐ Yes</li><li>☐ Partial Yes</li><li>☐ No</li></ul>
2	Did the nonion outhous analoin	from the protocol	union in the noniom?
		their selection of the study designs for incl	usion in the review?
	s, the review should satisfy ONE of Explanation for including only R		
	OR Explanation for including on		
	OR Explanation for including bo	th RCTs and NRSI	
4.	OR <i>Explanation for</i> including bo Did the review authors use a co	th RCTs and NRSI omprehensive literature search strategy?	
4. For Part	<b>Did the review authors use a co</b> tial Yes (all the following):	For Yes, should also have (all the following):	
4.	Did the review authors use a co	mprehensive literature search strategy? For Yes, should also have (all the	<ul> <li>Yes</li> <li>Partial Yes</li> <li>No</li> </ul>
4. For Part	Did the review authors use a co tial Yes (all the following): searched at least 2 databases (relevant to research question) provided key word and/or search strategy justified publication restrictions	<ul> <li>For Yes, should also have (all the following):</li> <li>searched the reference lists / bibliographies of included studies</li> <li>searched trial/study registries</li> <li>included/consulted content experts in the field</li> <li>where relevant, searched for grey literature</li> <li>conducted search within 24 months of completion of the review</li> </ul>	Partial Yes

		n data extraction in duplicate?	
	included studies	onsensus on which data to extract from	□ Yes □ No
	OR two reviewers extracted data achieved good agreement (at leas extracted by one reviewer.	from a sample of eligible studies <u>and</u> st 80 percent), with the remainder	
7.	Did the review authors provide	a list of excluded studies and justify the exc	lusions?
For Part	ial Yes:	For Yes, must also have:	_
	provided a list of all potentially relevant studies that were read in full-text form but excluded from the review	<ul> <li>Justified the exclusion from the review of each potentially relevant study</li> </ul>	<ul><li>Yes</li><li>Partial Yes</li><li>No</li></ul>
8.	Did the review authors describe	e the included studies in adequate detail?	
For Part	ial Yes (ALL the following):	For Yes, should also have ALL the following:	
	described populations	□ described population in detail	□ Yes
	described interventions	<ul> <li>described intervention in detail (including doses where</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Partial Yes</li> <li>No</li> </ul>
	described comparators	relevant)	No
	described outcomes	□ described comparator in detail	
	described research designs	<ul> <li>(including doses where relevant)</li> <li>□ described study's setting</li> </ul>	
		timeframe for follow-up	
9.	Did the review authors use a sa	<b>I</b>	f bias (RoB) in
9.	Did the review authors use a sa individual studies that were inc	tisfactory technique for assessing the risk of	<del>f bias (RoB) in</del>
R <del>CTs</del>	individual studies that were inc	tisfactory technique for assessing the risk of cluded in the review?	<del>f bias (RoB) in</del>
RCTs For Part from	individual studies that were inc	tisfactory technique for assessing the risk of cluded in the review? For Yes, must also have assessed RoB from:	
RCTs For Part from	individual studies that were inc ial Yes, must have assessed RoB unconcealed allocation, and	For Yes, must also have assessed RoB from:	- Yes
RCTs For Part from	individual studies that were inc ial Yes, must have assessed RoB unconcealed allocation, and lack of blinding of patients and	For Yes, must also have assessed RoB from: allocation sequence that was not truly random, and	── <u>Yes</u> ──Partial Yes
RCTs For Part from	individual studies that were inc ial Yes, must have assessed RoB unconcealed allocation, <i>and</i> lack of blinding of patients and assessors when assessing	For Yes, must also have assessed RoB from: allocation sequence that was not truly random, and selection of the reported result	<ul> <li>☐ Yes</li> <li>☐ Partial Yes</li> <li>☐ No</li> </ul>
RCTs For Part from	individual studies that were inc ial Yes, must have assessed RoB unconcealed allocation, and lack of blinding of patients and	For Yes, must also have assessed RoB from: allocation sequence that was not truly random, and	── <u>Yes</u> ──Partial Yes
RCTs For Part from E	individual studies that were inc ial Yes, must have assessed RoB unconcealed allocation, and lack of blinding of patients and assessors when assessing outcomes (unnecessary for objective outcomes such as all- eause mortality)	For Yes, must also have assessed RoB from: allocation sequence that was not truly random, and selection of the reported result from among multiple measurements or analyses of a specified outcome	<ul> <li>Yes</li> <li>Partial Yes</li> <li>No</li> <li>Includes only</li> </ul>
RCTs For Part from E	individual studies that were inc ial Yes, must have assessed RoB unconcealed allocation, <i>and</i> lack of blinding of patients and assessors when assessing outcomes (unnecessary for objective outcomes such as all-	For Yes, must also have assessed RoB from: allocation sequence that was not truly random, and selection of the reported result from among multiple measurements or analyses of a specified outcome For Yes, must also have assessed RoB:	<ul> <li>Yes</li> <li>Partial Yes</li> <li>No</li> <li>Includes only NRSI</li> </ul>
RCTs For Part from E E NRSI For Part RoB:	individual studies that were inc ial Yes, must have assessed RoB unconcealed allocation, and lack of blinding of patients and assessors when assessing outcomes (unnecessary for objective outcomes such as all- cause mortality) ial Yes, must have assessed	For Yes, must also have assessed RoB from: allocation sequence that was not truly random, and selection of the reported result from among multiple measurements or analyses of a specified outcome For Yes, must also have assessed RoB: methods used to ascertain	<ul> <li>Yes</li> <li>Partial Yes</li> <li>No</li> <li>Includes only NRSI</li> </ul>
RCTs For Part from E For Part RoB:	individual studies that were inc ial Yes, must have assessed RoB unconcealed allocation, and lack of blinding of patients and assessors when assessing outcomes (unnecessary for objective outcomes such as all- cause mortality) ial Yes, must have assessed from confounding, and	For Yes, must also have assessed RoB from: allocation sequence that was not truly random, and selection of the reported result from among multiple measurements or analyses of a specified outcome For Yes, must also have assessed RoB: methods used to ascertain exposures and outcomes, and	<ul> <li>Yes</li> <li>Partial Yes</li> <li>No</li> <li>Includes only NRSI</li> <li>Yes</li> <li>Partial Yes</li> </ul>
RCTs For Part from E E NRSI For Part RoB:	individual studies that were inc ial Yes, must have assessed RoB unconcealed allocation, and lack of blinding of patients and assessors when assessing outcomes (unnecessary for objective outcomes such as all- cause mortality) ial Yes, must have assessed	For Yes, must also have assessed RoB from: allocation sequence that was not truly random, and selection of the reported result from among multiple measurements or analyses of a specified outcome For Yes, must also have assessed RoB: methods used to ascertain exposures and outcomes, and selection of the reported result from among multiple methods used to ascertain exposures and outcomes, and selection of the reported result from among multiple measurements or analyses of a	<ul> <li>Yes</li> <li>Partial Yes</li> <li>No</li> <li>Includes only NRSI</li> </ul>
RCTs For Part from E For Part RoB: E	individual studies that were inc ial Yes, must have assessed RoB unconcealed allocation, and lack of blinding of patients and assessors when assessing outcomes (unnecessary for objective outcomes such as all- cause mortality) ial Yes, must have assessed from confounding, and from selection bias	For Yes, must also have assessed RoB from: allocation sequence that was not truly random, and selection of the reported result from among multiple measurements or analyses of a specified outcome For Yes, must also have assessed RoB: methods used to ascertain exposures and outcomes, and selection of the reported result from among multiple	<ul> <li>Yes</li> <li>Partial Yes</li> <li>No</li> <li>Includes only NRSI</li> <li>Yes</li> <li>Partial Yes</li> <li>No</li> <li>Includes only RCTs</li> </ul>
RCTs For Part from E For Part RoB: E	individual studies that were inc ial Yes, must have assessed RoB unconcealed allocation, and lack of blinding of patients and assessors when assessing outcomes (unnecessary for objective outcomes such as all- eause mortality) ial Yes, must have assessed from confounding, and from selection bias	For Yes, must also have assessed RoB         from:         allocation sequence that was not truly random, and         selection of the reported result from among multiple measurements or analyses of a specified outcome         For Yes, must also have assessed RoB:         methods used to ascertain exposures and outcomes, and         selection of the reported result from among multiple methods used to ascertain exposures and outcomes, and         selection of the reported result from among multiple methods used to ascertain exposures and outcomes, and         selection of the reported result from among multiple measurements or analyses of a specified outcome	<ul> <li>Yes</li> <li>Partial Yes</li> <li>No</li> <li>Includes only NRSI</li> <li>Yes</li> <li>Partial Yes</li> <li>No</li> <li>Includes only RCTs</li> </ul>

<b>11. If meta-analysis was performed did the review authors use appropriat</b> combination of results?	te methods for statistical
RCTs For Yes:	
The authors justified combining the data in a meta-analysis	Yes
AND they used an appropriate weighted technique to combine study results and adjusted for heterogeneity if present.	☐ No ☐ No meta-analysis
AND investigated the causes of any heterogeneity	conducted
For NRSI	
For Yes:	
The authors justified combining the data in a meta-analysis	- Yes
AND they used an appropriate weighted technique to combine	- No
study results, adjusting for heterogeneity if present	No meta-analysis
AND they statistically combined effect estimates from NRSI that were adjusted for confounding, rather than combining raw data, or justified combining raw data when adjusted effect estimates were not available	conducted
AND they reported separate summary estimates for RCTs and NRSI separately when both were included in the review	
12. If meta-analysis was performed, did the review authors assess the pote individual studies on the results of the meta-analysis or other evidence	
For Yes:	
included only low risk of bias RCTs	Yes
OR, if the pooled estimate was based on RCTs and/or NRSI at variable	No
RoB, the authors performed analyses to investigate possible impact of	No meta-analysi
RoB on summary estimates of effect.	conducted
13. Did the review authors account for RoB in individual studies when in results of the review?	terpreting/ discussing the
For Yes:	
included only low risk of bias RCTs	Yes
OR, if RCTs with moderate or high RoB, or NRSI were included the review provided a discussion of the likely impact of RoB on the results	ΗΝο
14. Did the review authors provide a satisfactory explanation for, and dis heterogeneity observed in the results of the review?	cussion of, any
For Yes:	
There was no significant heterogeneity in the results	1. A.
OR if heterogeneity was present the authors performed an investigation of	□ Yes
sources of any heterogeneity in the results and discussed the impact of this on the results of the review	□ No
15. If they performed quantitative synthesis did the review authors carry investigation of publication bias (small study bias) and discuss its likel the review?	
For Yes:	_
performed graphical or statistical tests for publication bias and discussed	Yes
the likelihood and magnitude of impact of publication bias	
the likelihood and magnitude of impact of publication bias	<ul> <li>No</li> <li>No meta-analysis</li> <li>conducted</li> </ul>

16. Did the review authors report any potential sources of conflict of interest they received for conducting the review?		rest, ind	cluding any funding	
For	Yes:			
		The authors reported no competing interests OR		Yes
		The authors described their funding sources and how they managed potential conflicts of interest		No

**To cite this tool:** Shea BJ, Reeves BC, Wells G, Thuku M, Hamel C, Moran J, Moher D, Tugwell P, Welch V, Kristjansson E, Henry DA. AMSTAR 2: a critical appraisal tool for systematic reviews that include randomised or non-randomised studies of healthcare interventions, or both. BMJ. 2017 Sep 21;358:j4008.

Abuse	Neglect	Household Dysfunction
		Parental Mental Illness
Childhood Sexual Abuse	Emotional	
(CSA)		Incarceration
	Physical	
Childhood Emotional Abuse		Domestic Violence
(CEA)		
		Substance Abuse
Childhood Physical Abuse		
(CPA)		Divorce

Appendix D.	<b>Table of ACEs</b>	and definitions
-------------	----------------------	-----------------

Review	ACE	Definition
Caslini et al. (2016)	CSA, CPA, CEA	CSA was defined by the occurrence of at least one of the following scenarios in an individual younger than 18 years (46):
	(used in criteria)	1. a sexual relationship with physical contact with a family member;
	· ,	2. unwanted or forced sexual relationships with physical contact with a nonfamily
		adult member; and
		3. a sexual relationship with a person at least 5 years older.
		We then defined CPA as "a continuous physical assault by a person older than 18
		years which leads to identifiable pain in a subject under the age of 18"
		CEA was defined as an act of omission and commission, which is judged based on a combination of community standards and professional expertise to be psychologically damaging. It is committed by parents or significant others who are in a position of differential power that render the child vulnerable, damaging immediately or ultimately the behavioural, cognitive, affective, social, and physiological functioning of the child
Chen et al. (2010)	CSA	Sexual abuse exposure was categorized into 2 groups: rape and all forms of sexual
		abuse. Rape was defined as penetration (vaginal, anal, or oral) with a body part or
	(used in criteria)	foreign object. All forms of sexual abuse included a wide variety of definitions characterizing sexual violence (including, but not limited to, noncontact exposure of
		genitalia, threatened sexual violence, and contact involving genitalia and the mouth).
Grogan et al. (2020)	Household	Adversity, also known as 'adverse life experiences' (ALEs) within a mental health
	dysfunction	setting, includes any experiences or life events that have the potential to result in undesirable outcomes by disrupting normal functioning, and can be diverse in
	(used in criteria)	source, intensity and manifestation. These experiences can be socially induced (e.g.
	(used in criteria)	child maltreatment, family discord), or they may occur naturally over time (e.g.
		parental loss, family illness).
		Adverse parenting style; Family disharmony; Loss of a family member, relative or someone close; Familial mental health issues; Family comments about weight, eating or appearance; Family disruptions
Lie Ro and Bang (2019)	Bullying	Bullying refers to repeated negative and ill-intentioned behaviors directed against a person who has difficulty defending him or herself (Olweus, 1994). Such behaviors

	(not included in criteria)	include being repeatedly physically attacked, stolen from, frozen out from social groups, subjected to lies and rumors, threatened, or teased. Although teasing is an ambiguous concept whose definition varies between contexts, hurtful, and repeated teasing is commonly regarded as a form of verbal bullying (Keltner, Capps, Kring, Young, & Heerey, 2001; Mills & Carwile, 2009).
Kimber et al., (2017)		CEA (acts of commission) and CEN (acts of omission) are distinct forms of child abuse with physiological and psychological consequences"
Menzel et al. (2010)	Teasing (not included in criteria)	Appearance-related feedback can be conceptualized as any form of verbal or nonverbal interchange that provides information to the recipient that the responder has an opinion of that individual's physical appearance
Molendjik et al. (2016)	CSA, CPA, CEA	We largely followed the definition and categorization of the WHO in what we considered as exposure to CM. The WHO (2016b) distinguishes five subtypes of CM: physical CM, sexual CM, neglect, emotional CM and exploitation. However, given
	(broad definition used in criteria)	that neglect and emotional abuse are often reported as one entity we 125 decided to pool these categories as 'emotional CM'.
Norman, Byambaa, Butchart, Scott & Vos, (2012)	CPA, CSA,CEA, Neglectt (used in criteria)	Physical abuse of a child is defined as the intentional use of physical force against a child that results in—or has a high likelihood of resulting in—harm for the child's health, survival, development, or dignity. This includes hitting, beating, kicking, shaking, biting, strangling, scalding, burning, poisoning, and suffocating. Much physical violence against children in the home is inflicted with the object of punishing.
		Sexual abuse Sexual abuse is defined as the involvement of a child in sexual activity that he or she does not fully comprehend, is unable to give informed consent to, or for which the child is not developmentally prepared, or else that violates the laws or social taboos of society. Children can be sexually abused by both adults and other children who are—by virtue of their age or stage of development—in a position of responsibility, trust, or power over the victim.
		Emotional and psychological abuse Emotional and psychological abuse involves both isolated incidents, as well as a pattern of failure over time on the part of a parent or caregiver to provide a developmentally appropriate and supportive environment. Acts in this category may have a high probability of damaging the child's physical or mental health, or his/her physical, mental, spiritual, moral, or social development. Abuse of this type includes the following: the restriction of movement; patterns of belittling, blaming, threatening, frightening, discriminating against, or ridiculing; and other non-physical forms of rejection or hostile treatment.
		Neglect Neglect includes both isolated incidents, as well as a pattern of failure over time on the part of a parent or other family member to provide for the development and well-being of the child—where the parent is in a position to do so—in one or more of the following areas: health, education, emotional development, nutrition, shelter, and safe living conditions. The parents of neglected children are not necessarily poor
Pigntatelli et al. (2017)	Neglect (not included in criteria)	The failure to provide for the development of the child in all spheres: health, education, emotional development, nutrition, shelter, and safe living conditions, in the context of resources reasonably available to the family or caretakers [that] causes or has a high probability of causing harm to the child's health or physical, mental, spiritual, moral or social development. This includes the failure to properly supervise and protect children from harm as much as is feasible.

### Georgette Morrison - Large Scale Research Project (LSRP) - DClinPsy- July 2021

Smolak and Murnen, (2002)	CSA	Almost all of the studies defined the abused and nonabused groups based on whether people had experienced CSA as determined by a scale like Finkelhor
	(not included in criteria)	(Finkelhor & Browne, 1986).
Wonderlich et al.	CSA	Sexual experiences involving physical contact with a family emmber at or before the age of 18, and unwanted or forced sexual experience involving physical contact with
	(included in criteria)	non-family member at or before the age of 18, or sexual experiences involving physical contact with an individual 5 or more years older than the subject before the age of 18.
**Appendix E. Search Strategy** 

# **PSYCHINFO** search terms

- 1. Childhood Adversity/
- 2. Childhood adversit\*.mp.
- 3. Adverse childhood experience\*.mp.
- 4. Child abuse/
- 5. Child abuse.mp.
- 6. Childhood trauma\*.mp.
- 7. Childhood maltreatment.mp.
- 8. Adverse childhood event\*.mp.
- 9. 1or2or3or4or5or6or7or8
- 10. Exp Sexual abuse/
- 11. Child\* sex\* abuse.mp.
- 12. Exp Physical Abuse/
- 13. Child\* physical abuse.mp.
- 14. Emotional abuse
- 15. Child\* emotion\* abuse
- 16. Abuse.mp.
- 17. Exp Child Neglect/
- 18. Child\* neglect
- 19. Domestic Violence
- 20. Domestic violence.mp.
- 21. Exp Drug Abuse/
- 22. Exp Addiction/
- 23. Exp Drug Addiction/
- 24. Exp Alcohol addiction/
- 25. Substance abuse.mp.
- 26. Exp Mental Disorders/
- 27. Mental illness.mp.
- 28. Exp Divorce/
- 29. Exp Incarceration/
- 30. Exp Bullying/
- 31. Exp Teasing/
- 32. Exp School violence/
- 33. Bully\*.mp.
- 34. Exp Poverty/
- 35. Develop\* trauma.mp.
- 36. 10OR11OR12OR13OR14OR15OR16OR17OR18OR19OR20OR21OR22OR23O R24OR25 OR 26 OR 27 OR 28 OR 29 OR 30 OR 31 OR 32 OR 33 OR 34 OR 35
- 32. Exp Eating Disorder/
- 33. Anorexia nervosa/

- 34. Anorexia\*.mp.
- 35. Bulimia/
- 36. Bulimia\*.mp.
- 37. Binge eating disorder/
- 38. Binge eat\*.mp.
- 39. (Other specified feeding or eating disorder\*).mp.
- 40. OSFED.mp
- 41. 370R380R390R400R410R420R430R440R45
- 42. Exp Meta analysis/
- 43. meta-analy\*.mp.
- 44. meta analy.mp.
- 45. "systematic review"/
- 46. Systematic review.mp.
- 47. "literature review"/
- 48. 470R480R490R500R51

# **SCOPUS SEARCH**

"CHILDHOOD ADVERSIT\*" OR "ADVERSE CHILDHOOD EXPERIENCE\*" OR "CHILD ABUSE" OR "CHILD\* TRAUMA\*" OR "CHILD\* MALTREATMENT" OR "ADVERSE CHILD\* EVENT\*" OR "Sex\* abuse" OR "Child sex abuse" OR "Physical Abuse" OR "Child physical abuse" OR "Emotional abuse" OR "Child emotion abuse" OR "Abuse" OR "Child Neglect" OR "Child neglect" OR "Domestic Violence" OR "Drug Abuse" OR "Addiction" OR "Substance abuse" OR "Mental Disorder\*" OR "Mental illness\*" OR "Divorce" OR "Incarcerat\*" OR "Poverty" OR "Bully\*" OR "Teasing" OR "School violence" OR "Poverty" OR "Developmental trauma"

AND

"EATING DISORDER\*" OR "ANOREXIA" OR "BULIMIA" OR "BINGE EAT\*" OR "OTHER SPECIFIED FEEDING OR EATING DISORDER\*" OR "OSFED"

AND

"META ANALY\*" OR "SYSTEMATIC REVIEW\*" OR "LITERATURE REVIEW\*"

Review	ACE	Outcome Measure
Caslini et al. (2016)	CSA, CPA, CEA	Sexual Events Questionnaire (SEQ); Childhood
	, ,	Trauma Questionnaires (CTQ); Interview for
		Identifying Risk Factors for Eating Disorders
		(RFI, Version 2.0); Semi-structured interview on
		sexual and/or physical abuse; Life Events
		Questionnaire (LQE); Childhood Trauma
		Interview (CTI); Child Sexual Abuse
		Questionnaire (CSA); Trauma symptom Checklis
		40; Modified Finkelhor Questionnaire; Sexual
		Life Events Questionnaire (SLEQ); SAEQ
		Sexual Abuse Exposure Questionnaire (SAEQ);
		Maternal and Paternal psychological Abuse
		(PSY); Childhood Experience of Care and Abuse
		Measure Interview (CECA)
Chen et al. (2010)	CSA	Secure Record; Structured interview
		Sexual Life Events Questionnaire; Sexual abuse
Connors and Morse (1993)	CSA	Screening Checklist; Interview; unspecified self
		report measure; Life Events Questionnaire
Grogan et al. (2020)	Household dysfunction	Semi-structured interview; Adjusted version of
Grogan et al. (2020)	nousenoia aysiancion	Dan McAdams Life Story Interview; Shame
		Experiences Interview; Experience of Shame
		Scale; Family History Research Diagnostic
		Criteria interview; Parental Bonding Instrument;
		Measure of Parental Style; Oxford Risk Factor
		Interview; Sibling Inventory of Differential
		Experience; Essen Trauma Inventory
Lie Ro and Bang (2019)	Bullying	BIVES = body image victimization experiences
		scale; CECA = childhood experiences of care and
		abuse interview; CRQ = childhood risk factors
		questionnaire;
Kimber et al., (2017)		The Childhood Trauma Questionnaire; Childhood
		Trauma Interview; Child Abuse and Trauma
		Scale; Childhood Experiences of Violence
		Questionnaire; Parental Bonding Instrument;
		Psychological Maltreatment Inventory; PSY
		Scale; Trauma Antecedents Questionnaire;
		Author-Specific/Single Item Measures (e.g. "As a
		child, do you remember being verbally abused?"
		"While growing up, did you see or hear family
		violence-such as your gather hitting your mother,
		or any family member beating up or inflicting
		bruises, burns or cuts on another family
		member?")
Menzel et al. (2010)	Teasing	Perception of Teasing Scale (POTS; Thompson,
	2	Cattarin et al., 1995; Thompson, Coovert et al.,
		1995); Physical Appearance Related Teasing
		Scale (PARTS); Teasing measure created for
		study; Peer Inventory (PHI); Teasing Subscale of
		the Inventory of Peer Influence on Eating

# Appendix F. Table of Outcome Measures included in Reviews

		Concern; McKnight Risk Factor Survey-III (MRFS-III)
Molendjik et al. (2016)	CSA, CPA, CEA	No comprehensive list provided. Paper mentions interview, self report measures and Childhood
	Neglect	trauma questionnaire.
Norman, Byambaa, Butchart, Scott & Vos, (2012)	CPA, CSA,CEA, Neglectt	Face-to-face interviews using CTS; Face-to-face interviews, items adapted from ACE questionnaire; Self-administered ACE questionnaire; SCID for DSM-III-R; Self- administered questionnaire—own questions; Telephone survey —own questions; Official record; Self-administered questionnaire with
		items from CTQ and CTS; Maternal behaviour assessed by interviewer; Neglect assessed by teacher interviews (GFES); School medical service answered a questionnaire about the hygiene of the child;
Pope and Hudson (1992)		Finkelhor Sexual Life Events Questionnaire; Interview; Sexual Events Questionnaire derived from that of Russell; Yes/No questions developed by authors
Pigntatelli et al. (2017)	Neglect	CTQ-SF = Childhood Trauma Questionnaire– Short Form; QEWP-R = Questionnaire on Eating and Weight Patterns–Revised; NES = night eating disorder; CTQ = Childhood Trauma Questionnaire

# Appendix G – Table of Overlapping Articles

Replicated Articles	Number of	Reviews included
	occurrences	
Abramson and Lucido (1991)	2	Caslini et al. (2016)
		Smolak and Murnen (2002)
Allison et al. (2007)	3	Caslini et al. (2016)
		Pignatelli et al. (2017)
		Molendijk, Hoek, Brewerton and
		Elzinga (2017)
Bailey and Gibbons (1989)	2	Smolak and Murnen, 2002
		Connors, M. E., & Morse, W.
		(1993)
Bardone-Cone et al. 2008	2	Kimber, et al. (2017)
		Molendijk, Hoek, Brewerton and
		Elzinga (2017)
Becker & Grilo (2011)	3	Pignatelli et al. (2017)
		Molendijk, Hoek, Brewerton and
		Elzinga (2017)
		Kimber, et al. (2017)
Cachelin et al 2005	3	Chen et al. (2010)
		Caslini et al. (2016)
Calam and Slade (1989)	4	Conors and Morse (1993)
		Grogan et al. (2020)
		Smolak and Murnen (2002)
		Wonderlich et al. (1997)
Carter et al. (2006)	2	Molendijk, Hoek, Brewerton and
		Elzinga (2017)
Castellini et al. (2013)	2	Molendijk, Hoek, Brewerton and
		Elzinga (2017)
Corstorphine et al. (2007)	2	Molendijk, Hoek, Brewerton and
		Elzinga (2017)
Cumella & Kally (2008)	2	Molendijk, Hoek, Brewerton and
		Elzinga (2017)
Deep et al. (1999)	2	Smolak and Murnen (2002)
	-	Molendijk, Hoek, Brewerton and
		Elzinga (2017)
Duarte and Pinto- Gouveia (2017)	2	Lie, Rø, and Bang (2019)
	2	Grogan et al. (2020)
Fairburn et al. (1998)	2	Molendijk, Hoek, Brewerton and
		Elzinga (2017)
		Lie, Rø, and Bang (2019)
Favaro et al. (1998)	2	Caslini et al. (2016)
1 aval 0 (1 al. (1770)		

		Molendijk, Hoek, Brewerton and Elzinga (2017)
Feldman and Meyer (2007)	2	Caslini et al. (2016)
retuinan and wreyer (2007)	2	Molendijk, Hoek, Brewerton and
		Elzinga (2017)
Garfinkel et al. (1995)	3	Caslini et al. (2016)
Gai mikei et al. (1993)	5	Connors and Morse, W. (1993)
		Molendijk, Hoek, Brewerton and
		Elzinga (2017)
Gonçalves et al. (2016)	2	Lie, Rø, and Bang (2019)
Gonçaives et al. (2010)	2	Grogan et al. (2020)
Grilo & Masheb (2001;2002)	4	Caslini et al. (2016)
Griio & Washeb (2001;2002)	4	Pignatelli et al. (2017)
		e v v
		Molendijk, Hoek, Brewerton and Elzinga, 2017
Hall Tico Downford Wasley and Hall	3	Kimber, et al. (2017) Connors and Morse (1993)
Hall, Tice, Beresford, Wooley, and Hall	3	
(1989)		Smolak and Murnen (2002)
Hopp at al. (2007)	2	Pope and Hudson (1992)
Hepp et al. (2007)	2	Molendijk, Hoek, Brewerton and
Jackson and Chan 2007	2	Elzinga (2017)
Jackson and Chen 2007	2	Menzel et al. (2010)
T 1/ / 12012	4	Lie, Rø, and Bang (2019)
Jaite et al 2012	4	Caslini et al. (2016)
		Pignatelli et al. (2017)
		Molendijk, Hoek, Brewerton and
		Elzinga (2017)
Kugu et al. (2006)	2	Molendijk, Hoek, Brewerton and
		Elzinga (2017)
		Kimber, et al. (2017)
Lehoux & Howe (2007)	2	Grogan et al. (2020)
		Lie, Rø, and Bang (2019)
Léonard et al. (2003)	2	Caslini et al. (2016)
		Molendijk, Hoek, Brewerton and
		Elzinga (2017)
Machado et al. (2014)	3	Lie, Rø, and Bang, 2019
		Grogan et al. (2020)
		Molendijk, Hoek, Brewerton and
		Elzinga, 2017
Miller et al. 1993	2	Caslini et al. (2016)
		Smolak and Murnen (2002)
Moulton et al.	2	Kimber, et al. (2017)
		Caslini et al. (2016)

# Georgette Morrison - Large Scale Research Project (LSRP) - DClinPsy- July 2021

Nagata et al. (2001)	2	Molendijk, Hoek, Brewerton and
		Elzinga (2017)
		Caslini et al. (2016)
Olivardia et al. (1995)	2	Molendijk, Hoek, Brewerton and
		Elzinga (2017)
		Caslini et al. (2016)
Oppenheimer, Howells, Palmer and	3	Pope and Hudson (1992)
Chaloner (1985)		Molendijk, Hoek, Brewerton and
		Elzinga (2017)
		Connors and Morse (1993)
Palmer, Oppenheimer, Dignon, Chaloner	2	Molendijk, Hoek, Brewerton and
and Howells (1990)		Elzinga (2017)
		Connors and Morse (1993)
Pitts and Waller (1993)	2	Smolak and Murnen (2002)
		Molendijk, Hoek, Brewerton and
		Elzinga (2017)
Rayworth et al. (2004)	2	Molendijk, Hoek, Brewerton and
		Elzinga (2017)
Romans et al. (2001)	2	Caslini et al. (2016)
	2	Molendijk, Hoek, Brewerton and
		Elzinga (2017)
Root and Fallon (1988)	4	Connors and Morse (1993)
		Pope and Hudson (1992)
		Molendijk, Hoek, Brewerton and
		Elzinga (2017)
Rorty et al. (1994)	3	Kimber, et al. (2017)
	5	Caslini et al. (2016)
		Molendijk, Hoek, Brewerton and
		Elzinga (2017)
Sanci et al. (2008)	2	Molendijk, Hoek, Brewerton and
	2	Elzinga (2017)
Schmidt et al. (1993)	2	Grogan et al. (2020)
Schimut et al. (1995)	2	Molendijk, Hoek, Brewerton and
		Elzinga (2017)
Schoemaker et al.	2	6 ( )
Schoemaker et al.	2	Kimber, et al. (2017)
	2	Grogan et al. (2020)
Smolak, Levine, and Sullins (1990)	2	Connors and Morse (1993)
	4	Smolak and Murnen (2002)
Steiger and Zanko (1990)	4	Pope and Hudson (1992)
		Connors and Morse (1993)
		Caslini et al. (2016)
		Wonderlich et al. (1997)

Striegel-Moore, Dohm, Pike, Wilfley, and	5	Lie, Rø, and Bang (2019)
Fairburn (2002)		Grogan et al. (2020)
		Chen et al. (2010)
		Caslini et al. (2016)
		Molendijk, Hoek, Brewerton and
		Elzinga (2017)
Stuart et al. (1990)	4	Pope and Hudson (1992)
		Chen et al. (2010)
		Caslini et al. (2016)
		Molendijk, Hoek, Brewerton and
		Elzinga (2017)
Sweetingham and Waller (2008)	2	Menzel et al. (2010)
		Grogan et al. (2020)
Waller (1992)	2	Molendijk, Hoek, Brewerton and
		Elzinga (2017)
		Smolak and Murnen (2002)
Waller (1998)	2	Molendijk, Hoek, Brewerton and
		Elzinga (2017)
		Smolak and Murnen (2002)
Webster & Palmer (2000)	3	Grogan et al. (2020)
		Caslini et al. (2016)
		Molendijk, Hoek, Brewerton and
		Elzinga (2017)
Welch and Fairburn (1996)	3	Smolak and Murnen (2002)
		Chen et al. (2010)
		Caslini et al. (2016)
Wentz et al. (2005)	2	Molendijk, Hoek, Brewerton and
		Elzinga (2017)
		Caslini et al. (2016)
Wonderlich et al. (2007)	2	Molendijk, Hoek, Brewerton and
		Elzinga (2017)
		Kimber, et al. (2017)

# Appendix H. Operationalised plan of risk assessment and management



# <u>Negative Chhildhood experiences, Emotions and the Anorexic Voice– Operationalised</u> <u>Plan of Risk Assessment and Management (Version 1.0)</u>

# 1. Introduction

- There is a potential for disclosures of current and historical abuse, increased emotional distress and BMI lower than 14 in all participants recruited to the project. This document will detail the possible circumstances during which disclosures of risk may be made. This document will also describe how the researcher will respond to disclosures of risk.
- The project will ask participants to discuss their experiences of negative childhood experiences and diagnosis of anorexia nervosa. This may lead to disclosures of current or unreported historic abuse, low BMI and emotional distress. Therefore, the assessment and management of risk is an essential aspect of the project.
- The project will be advertised via social media namely Facebook, Instagram and Twitter. Individuals will self-select to take part in the research by following an online link which will take them to a Qualtrics survey designed by the researcher.
- We will only recruit individuals living within the United Kingdom to ensure that the research team are familiar with risk management services if needed e.g. emergency service, safeguarding.
- Whilst not an exhaustive list, the following are the most likely risks which the individual may report during the research:
  - o Current or unreported historic abuse
  - Current BMI under 14
  - Emotional distress
- The following are additional risks which may present during the research but are less likely and will be discussed generally with plans of how to manage them.
  - Threats to others.
  - Risk to under eighteens.
  - o Risk to self

# 2. <u>Terminology</u>

- Negative childhood experiences are stressful events occurring in childhood including (but not limited to):
  - witnessing domestic violence
  - parental abandonment through separation or divorce
  - $\circ$  a parent with a mental health condition
  - being the victim of abuse (physical, sexual and/or emotional)

- being the victim of neglect (physical and emotional)
- a member of the household being in prison
- growing up in a household in which there are adults experiencing alcohol and drug use problems.

# 3. Details taken to mediate risk factors

- Individuals will be informed that a number of personal details will be taken to mediate risk factors. This will be part of gaining informed consent to participate in the research. Declining to provide these details will mean the individual cannot be recruited to the study.
  - o Name
  - Date of Birth
  - Contact phone number and e-mail
- Individuals will be required to submit these details via a Qualtrics survey. The individual will be unable to proceed to expressing an interest in participating until all these details are provided.
- Individuals are given an option to decline consent to provide these details, however this will end the Qualtrics survey and inform the individual that they are unable to participate

# 4. Assessment of Risk

- There are multiple opportunities for the disclosure (and thereby assessment) of current or historic abuse, low BMI and/or heightened emotional distress hereby referred to as stages of the project:
  - Details provided on Qualtrics survey.
  - Initial contact between researcher and participant.
  - Informed consent process.
  - Qualitative Interview.
  - $\circ$  Debrief
- Experiences of negative childhood events and a diagnosis of anorexia nervosa are inclusion criterion for the project.
- 5. Ongoing factors to mediate risk
- The following will be included in the participant information sheet, and read to the prospective participant by the researcher during initial contact via phone/email and at the beginning of the interview:
  - During the interview we are going to be discussing potentially distressing topics such as negative childhood experiences, the anorexic voice, and your diagnosis of anorexia. Your participation is voluntary, and you can ask to stop the interview at any time. If you share identifiable information of current abuse or unreported historic abuse, I have a duty of care to act. At this point we will stop the interview and I will inform you of what the next steps will be.
  - This is standard practice in clinical settings following published guidance from the British Psychological Society (BPS, 2016) and The Care Act (2014).

- The Chief Investigators (CI) (Clinical Psychologists acting as supervisors for the project) will be made aware of all scheduled client contact.
- The Researcher is a third year Trainee Clinical Psychologist and will take part in fortnightly supervision with both the CIs.

The tables below summarise the operational and risk management plan of how disclosures of risk will be managed. In all situations the chief investigator will be updated.

Stage of Project	Possible Risk	Management Plan
Initial contact	Prospective participant	Individual not to be recruited.
between prospective	discloses current abuse or	
participant and	unreported historic	Individual signposted to appropriate
researcher (phone	abuse.	services including GP, police, local
call or email)		crisis team, BEAT UK.
		Update CI.
Informed Consent at	Individual discloses	Above plan followed. Inform CI.
the beginning of the	current abuse or	
interview	unreported historic	
	abuse.	This will equate to the individual
		declining consent to participate and
	Individual declines	will not be able to be recruited to
	consent	project. Inform CI.
		Inform individual that due to risk
		confidentiality will be broken and
	Individual declines	follow above plan. Inform CI.
	consent and then	
	discloses current abuse	
Qualitative Interview	Individual discloses current abuse or	Stop qualitative interview.
	unreported historic abuse	Researcher to give participant full
	(no identifiable	debrief.
	information)	
		Individual signposted to appropriate
		services including GP, local crisis team
		and BEAT UK.
		Undeta CL and request advise
		Update CI and request advice.
		Stop qualitative interview
		Stop qualitative interview.

## 6. Disclosures of current or unreported historic abuse

	Individual discloses current abuse or unreported historic abuse (identifiable information included)	Individual informed that the researcher will have to contact safeguarding officials, e.g. social services, police. Researcher to give participant full debrief. Individual signposted to appropriate services including GP, local crisis team and BEAT UK. Update CI and request advice.
Debrief	Individual discloses current abuse or unreported historic abuse (no identifiable information) Individual discloses current abuse or unreported historic abuse (identifiable information included)	Follow above plan.

# 7. Disclosures of current BMI below 14

- There is a low risk that individuals may disclose to the research that they currently have a BMI of 14 or below.

Stage of Project	Possible Risk	Management Plan
Qualtrics survey	When asked what their current BMI is, prospective participant discloses they have a BMI of 14 or under.	If answer is 14 or below individuals are taken to a page which informs them that the information they have provided indicates they are very severely underweight and advises them to contact medical services, either GP or emergency services. Individual also signposted to BEAT UK website. Qualtrics does not allow the prospective participant to continue with the project.

	Durant time and initial to the	T. 1': 11
Initial contact	Prospective participant	Individual not to be recruited.
between prospective	discloses they have a	
participant and	BMI of 14 or under.	Individual informed that their BMI is in
researcher (over		the severely underweight category and
phone or email).		advised to contact medical services,
		either GP or emergency services.
		Individual signposted to appropriate
		services including GP, local crisis team
		and BEAT UK.
		CI Updated.
Informed Consent at	Individual discloses BMI	Individual not to be recruited.
the beginning of the	14 or below during	
interview	consenting for research	Individual informed that their BMI is in
	project.	the severely underweight category and
		advised to contact medical services,
		either GP or emergency services.
		Individual signposted to appropriate
		services including GP, local crisis team
		and BEAT UK.
		CI Updated.
Qualitative Interview	Individual discloses BMI	Stop Qualitative Interview
	of 14 or under.	
		Researcher to give participant full
		debrief
		Individual informed that their BMI is in
		the severely underweight category and
		advised to contact medical services,
		either GP or emergency services.
		Individual signposted to appropriate
		services including GP, local crisis team
		and BEAT UK.
		CI Updated
Debrief	Individual discloses BMI	Researcher to give participant full
	14 or below	debrief
		Individual informed that their BMI is in
		the severely underweight category and
		advised to contact medical services,
		either GP or emergency services.
		Individual signposted to appropriate
		services including GP, local crisis team
		and BEAT UK.

	CI Updated

# 8. Disclosures of emotional distress

- There is a risk that individuals may become emotionally distressed as they discuss aspects of their experience of negative childhood events and diagnosis of anorexia nervosa.
- The potential risk of increased emotional distress of the research will be stipulated in the Participant information sheet.
- A message will appear on Qualtrics survey that informs the potential participant of the potential risk of increased emotional distress of the research.
- The researcher is a third year Trainee Clinical Psychologist with a wealth of experience in managing individuals' emotional distress.
- Supervision will also be given fortnightly by research Supervisors/Chief Investigators who are both highly experiences Clinical Psychologists.

Stage of Project	Possible Risk	Management Plan
Initial contact	Prospective participant	Individual will be asked if they wish to
between prospective	discloses increased	continue with the project and reminded
participant and	emotional distress.	of the voluntary nature of participation.
researcher (over		
phone or email).		Individual signposted to appropriate
		services including GP, local crisis team
		and BEAT UK.
		CLUE 1-4-1
		CI Updated.
Informed Consent at	Individual discloses	Individual will be asked if they wish to
the beginning of the	increased emotional	continue with the project and reminded
interview	distress.	of the voluntary nature of participation.
		Individual signposted to appropriate services including GP, local crisis team and BEAT UK.
		CI Updated.
Qualitative Interview	Individual discloses	Stop Qualitative Interview
	increased emotional	
	distress during interview	Researcher to give participant full
		debrief

		Individual signposted to appropriate services including GP, local crisis team and Beat UK.
		CI Updated
Debrief	Individual discloses increased emotional distress.	Researcher to give participant full debrief
		Individual signposted to appropriate services including GP, local crisis team and BEAT UK.
		CI Updated

# 9. <u>Risk- Threat to others, Risk to under eighteens. Risk to self</u>

- As part of gaining informed consent participants will be informed that any disclosures which indicate that others are at risk will result in them not being able to be part of the research.
- The research will follow legislative guidance outline in The Care Act (2014) and Children's Act (2004) and national policies.
- These will include reports that an adult may be at risk of neglect, physical abuse, domestic violence, sexual abuse, psychological/emotional abuse, financial/material abuse, modern slavery, discriminatory abuse and organisation/institutional abuse.
  - Interview will be stopped at any stage
  - If immediate risks are concerned police to be informed and CIs will be informed
  - Participants will be informed unless this poses an additional risk to the adult or others (decision made in discussion with the CI)
- If during the interview participants disclose information that the researcher assesses as posing a possible risk to children (this include risk of neglect, sexual abuse, physical abuse and emotional/psychological abuse), the following plan will be followed:
  - CI will be informed.
  - If immediate risks are identified, police to be contacted in discussion with CIs.
  - Participants will be informed unless this poses a risk to the child (decision made in discussion with the CIs)

Appendix I. Online Qualtrics questionnaire: Participant Information sheet, Consent Form, Demographic questions

# School of Psychology

Thank you for taking the time to consider participating in this research project.

My name is Georgette Morrison and I am a Trainee Clinical Psychologist on the South Wales Doctoral Programme in Clinical Psychology. I am carrying out this study as part my training.

The research is being supervised by Dr John Fox (Clinical Psychologist, South Wales Programme in Clinical Psychology) and Dr Marc Williams (Clinical Psychologist, South Wales Programme in Clinical Psychology).

#### What is the purpose of this research?

Many individuals diagnosed with anorexia nervosa describe their disorder as being represented by an internal 'voice', which has been called the anorexic voice. People who experience this voice often say that it negatively comments on their weight, shape and eating but it can also comment on any aspect of their life. This study aims to gain an understanding of the experiences of childhood negative events among those who identify with having an anorexic voice. It is hoped that this study will provide a greater understanding of the experience of childhood negative events and the anorexic voice so that treatments of anorexia nervosa can be tailored to the needs of people who have this experience.

Taking part in this research will involve being interviewed by a member of the research team about your experiences. Discussing negative childhood events and anorexia nervosa can be difficult and emotional; therefore, it is important that you understand what taking part may involve.

This survey will take about 20 minutes to complete. It aims to provide some details about what taking part will involve and will ask you some questions about yourself and your experience of anorexia nervosa. You will also be asked to complete the *Eating Disorder examination questionnaire (EDE-Q 6.0)*.

After answering certain questions the survey may inform you that it may not be appropriate for you to take part in the project. Please do not be offended if this occurs as it could be that taking part in an interview may not be helpful for you at this current moment in time.

This survey is related to the research project described above and it is not staffed 24 hours. Whilst responses will be checked regularly, you might find it useful to access the following resources:

- <u>https://www.mind.org.uk/information-support/types-of-mental-health-problems/mental-health-problems-introduction/self-care/</u>
- https://www.beateatingdisorders.org.uk/
- https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/eating-disorders/



## Do you have to take part?

You are under no obligation to take part in the research. Even if you do agree to take part you may change your mind until the end of the interview, without having to give a reason. Participation is entirely voluntary. You may wish to take this information and speak with somebody independent, such as a friend, family member, or trusted professional when deciding whether to take part in the research.

In order to take part in this research you will need to be eighteen years old or above and have been diagnosed with anorexia nervosa. Your safety is of the utmost importance to us and if your BMI is currently 14 or under, participating in this research may have the potential to be unhelpful. Therefore, we are unable to accept people whose BMI is currently 14 or under

#### Please indicate your current age:

- O Under 18 years old
- 18 years old or over





# School of Psychology



Thank you for continuing to express your interest in this research project.

If you agree to take part in the project a 90 minute interview will be arranged. During this interview you and the researcher will discuss questions such as what life was like for you when you were growing up, how you experience the anorexic voice, what your experience of having a diagnosis of anorexia is, and your opinions about how they influence each other. You will also be asked to complete The Childhood Trauma Questionnaire (CTQ) (Bernstein and Fink, 1998) with the researcher. You do not have to answer any questions that you do not want to. I will record the interview so that I can type up what we both said during the interview. After the interview you will have the opportunity to ask any questions or discuss any concerns that you may have about taking part in the research.

Previous research which has interviewed people about their childhood experiences and diagnosis reported that individuals have found participating in research as a helpful experience. However, the research team are mindful that we will be asking you questions of a highly emotional nature and there may be a risk that you may become upset as part of the interview process. You may experience a range of uncomfortable emotions during the interview, such as sadness, or experience negative thoughts about what happened. Every effort will be made to minimise any distress, for example stopping the interview if you wish, or taking breaks. There will also be a 20min debrief included at the end of the interview where we will discuss how you are feeling. There will be time at the end of the interview to ask me any questions or raise any concerns about the research interview.

Additionally, you always have the right to end the interview and withdraw your information.

In order to organise the interviews we will require you to submit the following information

- Name
- Date of Birth
- Contact phone number and e-mail

#### What will happen to this information?

After the interview I will type out what we both said so that I can think about the interview in more detail and develop an understanding of common themes between participants. All audio recordings and typed transcripts will remain anonymous; your name or details will not be linked to your interview transcript. All transcripts and audio recordings will be kept in a secure storage facility such as a lockable filing cabinet.

My supervisors will look at anonymised sections of the transcripts to support me in thinking about the interviews. As part of my training programme I need to write up my findings in a research report. I will include anonymised extracts from interviews within the report, and a full anonymised transcript will be included in an Appendix. Your demographic information will not be linked to the transcript in any way so that participants cannot be identified in any way.

In the future, I hope to publish my research in an academic journal and present my findings at relevant conferences. At the end of the research interview I will ask you if you would like a summary of the findings once I have written up the research. Alternatively, you are welcome to read my full research report.





#### What will happen if I don't want to carry on with the study?

If you decide you wish to withdraw from the study please let me know by contacting me on the email address or telephone number given below. Unfortunately, as your responses will be kept anonymously, you will not be able to withdraw your interview data once the interview has finished as the researcher will not be able to relate interviews to individuals

#### What if there is a problem?

If you have any concerns about any aspect of this research, you can contact me, and I will do my best to answer your questions. Alternatively, you can contact my research supervisor, Dr John Fox or Dr Marc Williams, whose contact details are below.

#### Will my taking part in this study be kept confidential?

All information gathered during the research will be kept strictly confidential. All identifiable information such as names and addresses will be removed. As with any meeting with a health professional there are some limits to confidentiality. I am obliged to breach confidentiality and inform another professional, (likely to be your GP), if you disclose any information that suggests that either you or anybody else is at risk of harm. If possible I will aim to discuss this with you first.

#### Who has reviewed the study?

This study has been reviewed and approved by the Research Ethics Committee for Cardiff University. This process is to protect your rights, safety and dignity

#### Contact Details:

Georgette Morrison (Trainee Clinical Psychologist) Morrisonga@cardiff.ac.uk

Dr John Fox (Clinical Psychologist) Associate Programme Director/ Clinical Director, South Wales Doctoral Programme in Clinical Psychology foxj10@cardiff.ac.uk

Dr Marc Williams (Clinical Psychologist) Senior Academic Tutor, South Wales Doctoral Programme in Clinical Psychology williamsm93@cardiff.ac.uk

School of Psychology Research Ethics Committee Secretary to the Research Ethics Committee School of Psychology Tower Building 70 Park Place , Cardiff, CF10 3AT Email: psychethics@cardiff.ac.uk

# School of Psychology



#### **Consent Form**

I understand that my participation in this project will involve a 90 minute interview about my experiences of negative childhood events and anorexia and completion of The Childhood Trauma Events Scale (CTES) with a Trainee Clinical Psychologist. This will be conducted over video conferencing and will be recorded.

I understand that participation in this study is entirely voluntary and that I can withdraw from the study a without giving a reason. I also understand that I can withdraw my data from the study up until the point the data is anonymised at the conclusion of the interview.

I understand that I am free to ask any questions at any time. I am free to withdraw or discuss my concerns with the researcher, Georgette Morrison, or the supervisors, Dr John Fox and Dr Marc Williams.

I understand that the research information provided by me will be assigned an anonymous identifier so that it is impossible to trace this information back to me individually. I understand that this information will be kept for 7 years and may be included in published work.

I understand that the research data being collected will include some sensitive information, such as personal experiences of negative events. I specifically consent to this information being processed for the purposes of research.

I understand that information I give may be published as part of the research, however, this will be fully anonymised and non-identifiable.

I understand that, to take part in the research, I will be required to provide my name, date of birth, contact phone number and email address.

I understand that the personal data will be processed in accordance with GDPR regulations (see privacy statement below).

I understand that at the end of the study I will be provided with additional information and feedback about the purpose of the study.

School of Psychology Research Ethics Committee Secretary to the Research Ethics Committee School of Psychology Tower Building 70 Park Place , Cardiff, CF10 3AT Email: psychethics@cardiff.ac.uk

I CONSENT to all of the above

O I DO NOT CONSENT to all of the above

Privacy Notice:

The information provided will be held in compliance with GDPR regulations. Cardiff University is the data controller and Matt Cooper is the data protection officer (inforequest@cardiff.ac.uk). The lawful basis for processing this information is public interest. This information is being collected by [name of researcher]. The information on the consent form will be held securely and separately from the research information. Only the researcher will have access to this form, and it will be destroyed after 7 years.

The research information you provide will be used for the purposes of research only and will be stored securely. Only [describe all people with permission to access non-anonymised data] will have access to this information. After [give length of time] the data will be anonymised (any identifying elements removed) and this anonymous information may be kept indefinitely or published. [If you are planning on doing anything unusual with the data (sharing it with people outside the EU or using it for teaching) then you will need to edit this notice].

School of Psychology
Please write your name in the box below
Please write your date of birth in the box below in the format dd/mm/yyyy
Please enter your contact telephone number in the box below
Please enter your contact email address in the box below
What is your gender?
O Female
O Male
O Non-binary
O Transman

- O Transwoman
- O Other
- O Prefer not to say

#### Which of these best describes your ethnicity?

- Black English/ Scottish/ Welsh/ Northern Irish/ British
- Black Irish
- Black African
- Black Caribbean
- Any other Black / African / Caribbean background
- White English / Welsh / Scottish / Northern Irish / British
- White Irish
- Gypsy or Irish Traveller
- Any other White background
- Black Caribbean and White
- Black African and White
- Black British and White
- Asian and Black Caribbean
- Asian and Black African
- Asian and Black British
- Asian and White
- Any other Mixed / Multiple ethnic background
- Asian / Asian British
- 🗌 Indian
- Pakistani
- Bangladeshi
- Chinese
- Any other Asian background
- Prefer not to say

What is the highest degree or level of school you have completed?

- O Primary School
- O High School
- O College
- O Undergraduate University
- O Postgraduate University



Please enter your current weight in either Kg or stone/pounds or pounds in the boxes below

(g		
Stone and pounds		
ounds		
Please enter your lowest v elow	weight in either Kg or stone/pounds or pounds in the boxes	
ζg		
stone and pounds		
pounds		





Thank you for taking the time to participate in this research project.

The researcher will review your responses and get in touch with you via the contact details you provided. If your responses on this survey meet the requirements for taking part, the researcher will discuss a date and time for you to take part in the 90 minute interview. If you have any questions in the meantime please contact myself or my supervisors on

Georgette Morrison (Trainee Clinical Psychologist) Morrisonga@cardiff.ac.uk

Dr John Fox (Clinical Psychologist) Associate Programme Director/ Clinical Director, South Wales Doctoral Programme in Clinical Psychology foxj10@cardiff.ac.uk

Dr Marc Williams (Clinical Psychologist) Senior Academic Tutor, South Wales Doctoral Programme in Clinical Psychology williamsm93@cardiff.ac.uk





We thank you for your time spent taking this survey. Your response has been recorded.

# Appendix J. Eating Disorder examination questionnaire (EDE-Q 6.0)



Eating Disorder examination questionnaire (EDE-Q 6.0)

Instructions: The following questions are concerned with the past four weeks (28 days) only.

Please read each question carefully. Please answer all the questions. Thank you.

Questions 1 to 12: Please circle the appropriate number on the right. Remember that the questions only refer to the past four weeks (28 days) only.

	ON HOW MANY OF THE PAST 28 DAYS	NO DAYS	1-5 DAYS	6-12 DAYS	13-15 DAYS	16-22 DAYS	23-27 DAYS	EVERY DAY
1	Have you been deliberately <b>trying</b> to limit the amount of food you eat to influence your shape or weight (whether or not you have succeeded)?	0	1	2	3	4	5	6
2	Have you gone for long periods of time (8 waking hours or more) without eating anything at all in order to influence your shape or weight?	0	1	2	3	4	5	6
3	Have you <b>tried</b> to exclude from your diet any foods that you like in order to influence your shape or weight (whether or not you have succeeded)?	0	1	2	3	4	5	6
4	Have you <b>tried</b> to follow definite rules regarding your eating (for example, a calorie limit) in order to influence your shape or weight (whether or not you have succeeded)?	0	1	2	3	4	5	6
5	Have you had a definite desire to have an <b>empty</b> stomach with the aim of influencing your shape or weight?	0	1	2	3	4	5	6
6	Have you had a definite desire to have a <b>totally fla</b> t stomach?	0	1	2	3	4	5	6
7	Has thinking about <b>food, eating or calories</b> made it very difficult to concentrate on things you are interested in (for example, working, following a conversation, or reading)?	0	1	2	3	4	5	6
8	Has thinking about <b>shape or weight</b> made it very difficult to concentrate on things you are interested in (for example, working, following a conversation, or reading)?	0	1	2	3	4	5	6
9	Have you had a definite fear of losing control over eating?	0	1	2	3	4	5	6
10	Have you had a definite fear that you might gain weight?	0	1	2	3	4	5	6
11	Have you felt fat?	0	1	2	3	4	5	6
12	Have you had a strong desire to lose weight?	0	1	2	3	4	5	6

PAGE 1/3 PLEASE GO TO THE NEXT PAGE

EDE-Q 6.0

© 2008 Christopher G Fairburn and Sarah Beglin



## Eating Disorder examination questionnaire (EDE-Q 6.0)

Questions 13-18: Please fill in the appropriate number in the boxes on the right. Remember that the questions only refer to th past four weeks (28 days).

Over the past four weeks (28 days)....

13	Over the past 28 days, how many <b>times</b> have you eaten what other people would regards as an <b>unusually large amount of food</b> (given the circumstances)?	
14	On how many of these times did you have a sense of having lost control over your eating (at the time you were eating)?	
15	Over the past 28 days, on how many <b>DAYS</b> have such episodes of overeating occurred (i.e. you have eaten an unusually large amount of food <b>and</b> have had a sense of loss of control at the time)?	
16	Over the past 28 days, how many <b>times</b> have you made yourself sick (vomit) as a means of controlling your shape or weight?	
17	Over the past 28 days, how many <b>times</b> have you taken laxatives as a means of controlling your shape or weight?	
18	Over the past 28 days, how many <b>times</b> have you exercised in a "driven" or "compulsive" way as a means of controlling your weight, shape or amount of fat, or to burn off calories?	

# Questions 19 to 21: Please circle the appropriate number. <u>Please note that for these questions the term "binge eating" means</u> eating what others would regard as an unusually large amount of food for the circumstances, accompanied by a sense of having lost control over eating.

		NO DAYS	1-5 DAYS	6-12 DAYS	13-15 DAYS	16-22 DAYS	23-27 DAYS	EVERY DAY
19	Over the past 28 days, on how many days have you eaten in secret (ie, furtively)? Do not count episodes of binge eating.	0	1	2	3	4	5	6
		None of the times	A FEW OF THE TIMES	LESS THAN HALF	HALF OF THE TIMES	More than Half	Most of the time	Every time
20	On what proportion of the times that you have eaten have you felt guilty (felt that you've done wrong) because of its effect on your shape or weight? Do not count episodes of binge eating.	0	1	2	3	4	5	6
	NOT AT ALL SLIGHTLY MODERATELY		ATELY	MARKEDLY				
21	Over the past 28 days, how concerned have you been about other people seeing you eat? Do not count episodes of binge eating.	0	1	2	3	4	5	6

#### PAGE 2/3 PLEASE GO TO THE NEXT PAGE

© 2008 Christopher G Fairburn and Sarah Beglin

EDE-Q 6.0



Eating Disorder examination questionnaire (EDE-Q 6.0)

Questions 22 to 28: Please circle the appropriate number on the right. Remember that the questions only refer to the past four weeks (28 days).

	ON HOW MANY OVER THE PAST 28 DAYS	NOT AT ALL	SLIGHTLY		MODERATELY		MARKEDLY	
22	Has your <b>weight</b> influenced how you think about (judge) yourself as a person?	0	1	2	3	4	5	6
23	Has your <b>shape</b> influenced how you think about (judge) yourself as a person?	0	1	2	3	4	5	6
24	How much would it have upset you if you had been asked to weigh yourself once a week (no more, or less, often) for the next four weeks?	0	1	2	3	4	5	6
25	How dissatisfied have you been with your <b>weight</b> ?	0	1	2	3	4	5	6
26	How dissatisfied have you been with your <b>shape</b> ?	0	1	2	3	4	5	6
27	How uncomfortable have you felt seeing your body (for example, seeing your shape in the mirror, in a shop window reflection, while undressing or taking a bath or shower)?	0	1	2	3	4	5	6
28	How uncomfortable have you felt about <b>others</b> seeing your shape or figure (for example, in communal changing rooms, when swimming, or wearing tight clothes)?	0	1	2	3	4	5	6

What is your weight at present? (Please give your best estimate.):

What is your height? (Please give your best estim	ate.):		
If female: Over the past three to four months hav	e you missed any menstrual periods?:	YES 🔘	N0 🔿
	If so, how many?:	$\bigcirc$	
	Have you been taking the "pill"?:	YES 🔘	N0 🔿
PAGE 3/3	THANKYOU		

EDE-Q 6.0

© 2008 Christopher G Fairburn and Sarah Beglin

## Appendix K – Childhood Traumatic Events Scale

#### Childhood Traumatic Events Scale

For the following questions, answer each item that is relevant. Be as honest as you can. Each question refers to any event that you may have experienced <u>prior to the age of 17</u>.

1. Prior to the age of 17, did you experience a death of a very close friend or family member? If yes, how old were you?

If yes, how traumatic was this? (using a 7-point scale, where 1 = not at all traumatic, 4 = somewhat traumatic, 7 = extremely traumatic)

If yes, how much did you confide in others about this traumatic experience at the time? (1 = not at all, 7 = a great deal)\_\_\_\_\_

Prior to the age of 17, was there a major upheaval between your parents (such as divorce, separation)?\_\_\_\_\_ If yes, how old were you?\_\_\_\_\_

If yes, how traumatic was this? (where 7 = extremely traumatic)

If yes, how much did you confide in others? (7 = a great deal)

3. Prior to the age of 17, did you have a traumatic sexual experience (raped, molested, etc.)?\_\_\_\_\_ If yes, how old were you?\_\_\_\_\_

If yes, how traumatic was this? (7 = extremely traumatic)

If yes, how much did you confide in others? (7 = a great deal)

4. Prior to the age of 17, were you the victim of violence (child abuse, mugged or assaulted -- other than sexual)?\_\_\_\_\_ If yes, how old were you?\_\_\_\_\_

If yes, how traumatic was this? (7 = extremely traumatic)

If yes, how much did you confide in others? (7 = a great deal)

5. Prior to the age of 17, were you extremely ill or injured?\_\_\_\_\_ If yes, how old were you?\_\_\_\_\_

If yes, how traumatic was this? (7 = extremely traumatic)

If yes, how much did you confide in others? (7 = a great deal)\_\_\_\_\_

6. Prior to the age of 17, did you experience any other major upheaval that you think may have shaped your life or personality significantly?\_\_\_\_\_ If yes, how old were you?\_\_\_\_\_

If yes, what was the event?\_\_\_\_

If yes, how traumatic was this? (7 = extremely traumatic)

If yes, how much did you confide in others? (7 = a great deal)\_\_\_\_\_

# Appendix L. Participant Debrief Form



# **Debrief**

Name of department: Doctorate of Clinical Psychology Title of the study: Negative Childhood Experiences, Emotions, and the "Anorexic Voice"

# The researchers

My name is Georgette Morrison and I am a Trainee Clinical Psychologist on the South Wales Doctoral Programme in Clinical Psychology. I am carrying out this study as part my training. The research is being supervised by Dr John Fox (Clinical Psychologist, South Wales Programme in Clinical Psychology) and Dr Marc Williams (Clinical Psychologist, South Wales Programme in Clinical Psychology).

This study is concerned with the relationship between negative childhood events, anorexia nervosa and the development of the anorexic voice. Previous studies have found that experiences of the anorexic voice may partly stem from early negative events in childhood (e.g. parental criticism).

# What were you asked to do?

In this study, you were asked to take part in an interview which asked you to discuss your experience of childhood negative event, diagnosis of anorexia nervosa and the anorexic voice. You were also asked to complete The Childhood Trauma Questionnaire (CTQ) (Bernstein and Fink, 1998). All participants engaged in a similar interview and questionnaire.

## **Background** information

Anorexia nervosa (AN) is a difficult disorder to treat. Many individuals diagnosed with anorexia nervosa describe their disorder as being represented by an internal 'voice'. Research suggests this might be a part of the development and maintenance of the illness. The anorexic voice (AV) is an internal dialogue which is different from more typical self- critical thoughts or auditory hallucinations. It is usually experienced as a second or third person commentary on thoughts and behaviours relating to weight and shape. The literature also suggests that there is a link between individuals who experience adverse childhood events and those who go on to develop an eating disorder. It has been suggested that this is due to early life events disrupting the learning of emotion regulation skills throughout childhood, which can leave the individual with a sense that their emotions are out of control and amplifies the poorly defined sense of self. There appears to be a link between the impact of adverse early childhood experiences and emotional regulation with the development of the AV.

Our aim is to investigate this by speaking to individuals with anorexia nervosa to understand their impression of the links between adverse childhood experiences, AN, and the anorexic voice.

## Why is this important to study?

By having a better understanding of peoples experiences we can better understand how to support individuals through to recovery. We hope that the findings from this research can aid the development of effective treatments for individuals diagnosed with anorexia nervosa.

## Helpful links

o https://www.mind.org.uk/information-support/types-of-mental-health-problems/mentalhealth-problems-introduction/self-care/

o https://www.beateatingdisorders.org.uk/

o https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/eating-disorders/

# Thank you again for your participation.

Contact Details:

Georgette Morrison (Trainee Clinical Psychologist) Morrisonga@cardiff.ac.uk Telephone number: 029 208 70582

Dr John Fox (Clinical Psychologist) Associate Programme Director/ Clinical Director, South Wales Doctoral Programme in Clinical Psychology foxj10@cardiff.ac.uk Telephone number: 029 208 70582

Dr Marc Williams (Clinical Psychologist) Senior Academic Tutor, South Wales Doctoral Programme in Clinical Psychology <u>williamsm93@cardiff.ac.uk</u> Telephone number: 029 208 70582

School of Psychology Research Ethics Committee Secretary to the Research Ethics Committee School of Psychology Tower Building 70 Park Place, Cardiff, CF10 3AT Email: psychethics@cardiff.ac.uk

## Appendix M. Cardiff University Ethical approval

psychethics Tue 15/09/2020 13:46

Ρ

To: Georgette Morrison Cc: John Fox; Marc Williams

Dear Georgette,

The Ethics Committee has considered your revised PG project proposal: NEGATIVE CHILDHOOD EXPERIENCES, EMOTIONS AND THE ANOREXIC VOICE (EC.20.08.11.6064R).

The project has been approved.

Please note that if any changes are made to the above project then you must notify the Ethics Committee.

Best wishes, Adam Hammond

#### School of Psychology Research Ethics Committee

Cardiff University Tower Building 70 Park Place Cardiff CF10 3AT Prifysgol Caerdydd Adeilad y Tŵr 70 Plas y Parc Caerdydd CF10 3AT

 Tel: +44(0)29 208 70360
 Ffôn: +44(0)29 208 70360

 Email: <u>psychethics@cardiff.ac.uk</u>
 E-bost:

 http://psych.cf.ac.uk/aboutus/ethics.html
 psychethics@caerdydd.ac.uk

Please note that I do not expect a response to this email outside of your normal working hours Nid wyf yn disgwyl ymateb i'r ebost hwn y tu allan i'ch oriau gwaith arferol

## **Appendix N. Three extracts of transcribed interviews**

Mandy

- Researcher Lots of people with a diagnosis of anorexia nervosa talk about experiencing an internal voice related to the anorexia – Is this something you have experienced?
- Participant Yes. Um, I was aware of the kind of, the concept of an anorexic voice quite early on, um, from reading a book – I can't remember who the doctor was now, but it was a doctor based at the Maudsley Hospital.

Um, and, um, I did actually have an assessment at the Maudsley Hospital when I was about 17. Um, because my GP at the time referred me there. So, that's when I first heard of it.

Um, yes, I can identify with it. So, um, it's kind of, I suppose, um, for me, it's what kind of perpetuated the illness. It kind of reinforced, um, thoughts I had around food and eating and sort of negative self-esteem. Um, in all aspects, not just in relation to sort of body image; in relation to, um, myself as a person, how I came across, um, to other people.

I think, so, yes, I can definitely, um, identify with that.

- Researcher Mm, yeah. So, you mentioned a couple of things there about what it was like for you and I wonder if you could tell me more about that? So, what was the experience of having the anorexic voice like for you?
- Participant Um, I suppose it it's, um, it's it's it's a bizarre thing in the sense that, in one way, it's quite toxic obviously. It – it – it perpetuates the illness. You get more and more unwell and kind of entrenched in that way of thinking.
But, on the other hand it's a comfort because, if – if, like I did at the time, felt that everything in my life was kind of spiralling out of my control, um, that was something that I could fall back on. And it was quite – it was quite comforting to know that, you know, by listening to that voice, by restricting food, um, then that was something within my control and it – it was, um, yeah, it's – I'd say now that kind of like old habits die hard. It was – it was a comforting thing to always have and then, subsequently in life, if, you know, when I was – so, I was 17/18 when my anorexia first sort of presented, um, but subsequently in my 20s, let's say, if I went through a difficult period in my life, then, not intentionally, inadvertently, I would fall back into those old habits, and – and that – that voice again would be a comforting – a comforting, reassuring, I know I can feel control in this aspect of my life.

- Researcher mmm okay.
- Participant Mm.
- Researcher Can you tell me a bit more about the entrenchment?
- Participant Um, I think, for me, um, being anorexic and kind of having having leading that way of life, it sort of became a way of life. So, it was kind I think I think um, I don't know what you think about this but I think, for me, and certainly other people that I've met with eating disorders, it becomes more like an obsessive compulsive disorder in a way. Er, because it's like, this is what I do and I can't deviate from that. And, to be honest with you, that continued for many years.

And so then, even loved ones and family, um, kind of they also kind of buy – buy in to that, or, um, you know like – say, my Mum was going to cook a meal, a family meal, um, and so – years ago this would have been. So, say she was cooking a joint with beef; oh no, Melody doesn't eat that kind of thing, so I'll have to make something separate for her.

So, it's – it's um, yeah, I think it becomes very much a way of life. It's an obsessive kind of, um, well it is an obsession with food quite often, I think, for people. Um, but there's no – there's no scope for deviation. Um, I think that that – that was the thing for me that continued for many years, even when I wasn't classed as clinically anorexic, yeah.

Mandy

- Researcher Yeah. And, I guess, in, if we are thinking about that where was the anorexic voice this time? Where does that fit in?
- Participant Um, I guess, er, after sort of like the text message and stuff, when I was younger, um, I guess it sort of started off, um, like sort of as a solution, I guess maybe. That it was sort of like, you feel like this? Okay, well, have you thought about like doing this? Or have you thought about like doing this?

Um, and it never felt like it was pushing me too far. It never felt like it was saying anything that was like super out there.

Researcher Yeah.

Participant It, um, it sort of started very, very gradually. Um, and, er, and stuff, so, you know, it – obviously, like it never starts with the most extreme behaviour, but it definitely felt like it was building up, I guess. But it never felt sort of outlandish. It never felt extreme or – or – or wrong or anything.

Um, and I think that also one of the main things that I remember thinking, or that I remember the voice kind of thinking and talking at that point, I still wasn't really differentiating, um, I guess, was more that it was like, if there was ever a time that I was sort of thinking, I'm not quite like sure about this. Like I'm not, you know, am I really sure that I want to do this particular behaviour or this particular action?

Um, it would just be like, it's okay. No one else has to know about it. It's absolutely fine. And, you know, we can do it one time. If you don't like it,

we don't have to do it again. It's, you know, it's absolutely fine. It's going to - but you need to do it.

Researcher Mm.

Participant Um, and er, you know, if you do it then you're just going to feel so much better and, you know, why don't we just try it? And if you try, you know, that sort of – just, I think very gentle like steps, um, at a time where it almost felt like it was sort of just like, it's not that bad. Don't worry about it. It's fine.

> That kind of, I guess, almost reassurance and that, if it did feel like something was wrong, or – or not right, um, that really that was something more to be like proud of, because you know, well, if it feels like it's not right, that's probably just because, you know, other people think it's not right. And, if other people think it's not right, they are probably saying that because they can't do it.

> But, you know, maybe you can and does that sort of make you, I guess, like special or – um, or, yeah, special in a particular way, I guess.

- Researcher Yeah. Yeah, that's interesting. And, can you tell me how that impacted on you as a person?
- Participant Yeah. Um, I guess for a long time I didn't really think about it because I was I was quite young. I don't think I really knew how to process it and I think, yeah, and, as I said, we never talked about it like as a family. Um, which is completely understandable, I mean, you know, um, there's no sort of guide on how to talk about that with your child, who is still very young.

Ellie

- Researcher Yeah. And would you be able to describe to me what is helpful and unhelpful about the anorexic voice?
- Participant Um, [pause] gosh, helpful is a tough one. I mean, if you were thinking as an anorexic it is helpful to lose weight [laughs] in that sense of, you know, it's the main, um, sort of – it's like the main thing that will beat you round the head when you've not done what you're meant to do as such. It's the – it's the negative reinforcement effectively, to put it in psyche terms of, of why you don't want to gain weight, because you're going to have this thing like screaming at you in your head.

Um, so, you know, I would say it's helpful to lose weight. [laughs] And I wouldn't say it's helpful for much else in that sense. Um, and, I suppose, again, it's helpful to be a distractor, or, you know, in – in the sense of that.

But, mostly the – the voices, from a – from a well person's point of view, the voice is wildly unhelpful, primarily because it is distracting. I think that's the thing that I find most now in my daily life, it's like, you're sitting here trying to write like, you know, a personal statement or something and all you can think of is like, or, all you can feel, because for me it is very sensation-based, it's just like all you can feel is that roll on your stomach that you are just disgusted by. And it's very sensation-based for me.

So, it may not even be a voice, but it is just like that, awful – [laughs] you know, and it's the intensity of it that I think. Because I think everybody has a degree of that, where they're just like, oh, I don't like that bit.

213

Georgette Morrison – Large Scale Research Project (LSRP) – DClinPsy– July 2021

But, I think it's the intensity and the level of distress. So, I think that that's the unhelpful part. It's unhelpful that it takes over your whole mind. It's unhelpful that it reinforces the negative feelings that you have about yourself.

Um, it's just – it's just a horrible thing to have to live with. And I think it's unhelpful that you're having that kind of like war in your head between the well and the unwell parts of your brain. So, it's mostly unhelpful. [laughs]

- Researcher Yeah. if you are able to, ask you a little bit more about? So, you mentioned about the war in your head.
- Participant Uh huh.
- Researcher Can you describe that a little bit more?
- Participant Yeah, like, that was just the worst, honestly, it really, from just the disorder point of view, maybe not including the treatment as such. But, um, it it was just so, oh, it just felt like your head was going to split in two. Because every hour, even if you were sort of half-asleep, you just couldn't get a respite from it.

And it's very much kind of similar to, you know, I've read people's experience of having compulsive thoughts where they just want a break from this, like, it's distressing and it – I think that's – that's the best way to describe it. It's just like you've got one side of your brain going, and the physical sensation as well of, you know, this is disgusting, this is awful and it really does feel like the end of the world, you know. It's – it really is that distressing.

214

Um, or verging on a panic attack sometimes if you want to, if you've gained weight. Like I remember very vividly in treatment, there was one week when I had decided, right, I'm going to recover, this is – this is my big go at it.

And the first week where I kind of really made a stab at it and I'd put on, like, you know, all the water weight and whatever else that week. And it was just that instant like terror, or panic. I had a full meltdown when I was weighed that week.

But then, instantly, while you are having the meltdown, your brain is going, but you need to do this you are going to die. You know, and then the other thing that my brain – my sort of like well brain would have done, would have sort of chipped in, sort of medical statistics [laughs] at the various times, which was really helpful.

Like, you know, like, if you hit this thing you are like 60% more likely to die, you know, if you hit this time, you know. So, it was kind of almost like, [laughs] to use a Brexit phrase, which is never welcome, you know, like project fear on both sides. Of like one side you are going to be so fat nobody wants to know you, and the other side, you're going to die, you know.

So, it's very – it's very, it's just a horrible thing to have to live with. And it drives you mad itself.

Appendix	O. Examples	s of Theoretical	Sampling
----------	-------------	------------------	----------

Commonalities and gaps identified	How Commonality and gap identified	Potential missing gaps in future data collection	Methods in line with theoretical sampling	Outcome
Participants are completing the Qualtrics form from countries outside of the UK	Supervision Reflective Journal	Participants from countries outside the UK present a potential confidentiality issue. If there is current/immediate risk I am unable to address this e.g. call 999	Discussion with research team. Change to Qualtrics form and exclusion criterion to exclude living outside of the UK	Participants were recruited from the UK only.
First six interviews are mentioning experiencing bullying in relation to the AV	Initial and focus codes Reflective Journal. Memo following early interviews.	Need to strengthen the understanding of this concept and process. Unsure if how the bullying is related to the AV and potentially the self? Does everyone experience bullying or do some have positive relationships with peers?	Added questions into interview schedule exploring relationships with peers in school, including type and how this may have contributed to AV if at all.	Participants spoke more in-depth about experiencing bullying in school and how this impacted on their self confidence and the links between the characteristics of the AV.

# Appendix P. Coding examples

Raw Interview extract (Mandy)	Initial Coding	Focus coding	Category	Theoretical
				concept
Yeah. Um, so, like I said, the	Becoming entrenched;	Experiencing	Voice is all	Feeling Trapped
thinking became entrenched and it	Becoming a habit	being entrenched in	consuming	
almost became habitual in a way	Describing being unable to escape voice	AN		
and it felt like I couldn't be free of	Explaining how others			
it. I did feel kind of trapped by it.	reinforcing voice rules		Predictability	Anorexic Voice
But, actually, family and friends	Not eating certain things	Expressing	of voice	'You're safe with me'
reinforced that by saying, oh,	Others knowing eating habits	rules of AV		
[Mandy] just doesn't eat that kind				
of thing. We know you wouldn't	Voice leading down a			
have that.	path Reiterating			
So, it kind of leads you on a path	Being unable to			
that you can't, I said this at the	deviate from AV Describing controlling	Seeing voice as controlling	Voice is all	
start, but like you can't deviate	AV		consuming	Feeling trapped
from. It's ultimately controlling.	Describing voice as	Seeing voice		
Um, and, as I say, in some ways	comforting	as comforting		
that was comforting. And,	Experiencing adversity in life	Seeing voice	Comforting	
certainly, at times in my life where		as reliable	Voice	Anorexic Voice 'You're safe
things weren't going so well, it was	Describing voice as			with me'
	comforting	Seeing voice as comforting		

really comforting to have that to				
fall back on.				
	Falling back on voice			
Raw Interview extract (Alice)	Initial Coding	Focus coding	Category	Theoretical
Kaw Interview extract (Anter)	Tintial County	rocus coung	Category	concept
I don't know you sort of 'you don't	Voice telling not	Negative	Disobeying	
need that' 'you don't deserve that'	needing	comments	the Voice	Conditional
'its your fault' you know always	Voice telling not deserving	from voice		Safety
kind of the blaming yourself type	Describing blaming			
situation kind of the more I think	self	Expressing	Self-identity	
about it the more a lot of the	Thinking about voice	self-blame		Internal unsafety
rhetoric comes from that voice its	Explaining voice			
perhaps like to the things my	linking to parents		Disobeying	
parents have said to me in the past	comments	Voice mimicking	the Voice	
and things that Ive experienced in		abuse		Conditional
the past and I think yeah				safety
particularly but its changed because	Describing changing voice			
a lot of that negativity but then	Voice becoming			
when you abide by what it says	negative			
there's that "oh you've done a really	Describing abiding by voice	Expressing changing		
good job at this you've only had X	Experiencing voice	voice		
calories today and you've done X	praising			
steps well done" there's that kind of	Describing rules of voice		Obeying the	
other reinforcement to when you	Explainging voice	Expressing	Voice	
abide by its rules its so warped I	reinforcing	voice giving		Conditional
guess	Describing abiding by voices rules	praise		safety
		Following voices rules		

Raw Interview extract (Hayley)	Initial Coding	Focus coding	Category	Theoretical
				concept
Participant - being bullied in high	Experiencing bullying		Bullying	Relational
school it was just bitchy girls so I was always just left out I think also I find it really hard to maintain relationships so I think that didn't help in the bullying because once Id be friends with someone and they would use all my insecurities against me cos I was like really vulnerable and an easy target <i>Researcher</i> – Can you give me	by peers Being left out Experiencing difficulty maintaining relationships Worsening bullying Experiencing insecurities being used against Feeling vulnerable Describing self as easy target	Experiencing Emotional bullying Bullying impacting self-identity	Self-identity	Unsafety Internal unsafety
some examples? <i>Participant</i> – they'd all laugh like there would be a group of boys and they'd all laugh at me and say oh you've got bucked teeth then at high school there'd be a group of girls in the canteen and they'd all turn round and start laughing and sniggering and stuff then like I've had people have a vote about whether I should be friends with them or not stuff like that <i>Researcher</i> – Okay	Describing characteristics of bullies Experiencing bullies laughing Experiencing bullies negative commenting on appearance Experiencing bullies laughing Experiencing bullies voting against them	Characteristics of bully Experiencing Emotional bullying Experiencing Appearance bullying Experiencing Emotional bullying	Bullying	Relational Unsafety

Participant – I just felt really	Feeling isolated at	Experiencing	Loneliness	Internal
isolated like and lonely at high school [pause]	school; Feeling lonely at school	isolation and loneliness		Unsafety

## Appendix Q. Memo examples

### Interview Memo - Rose, December 2020

Rose spoke about experiencing several 'difficulties' (Rose was cautious to use trauma because of comparing to others who might be worse) in her childhood – CTES – and more recently. Rose described physical and emotional abuse; bullying; noted sexual abuse; divorce; moving; close family members being chronically ill and dying. It was very hard to interview, transcribe and repeatedly listen to. I'm aware that her recent bereavement is very similar to my own so I am being continuously reflective and will discuss in supervision as to 'bracket' off my own feelings. She spoke eloquently and was able to describe her experiences in quite a lot of detail. Her childhood appeared very chaotic and unstable.

There appears to be a link between experiencing traumas/disruptions in childhood to the AV. Almost like the AV is mimicking some of the things she experienced. For example, 'you're worthless you can't even get this right'. This was highlighted in previous interviews – (Participant 2 and 3). Rose said that it doesn't link back to one single event – does this suggest the AV is the product of multiple traumas in childhood? Or a general sense of things not being okay?

There appear to be two parts to the AV – 'a guiding light' and 'punishment'. She described the AV as always being present yet it doesn't do this all of the time. It changes in volume? Intensity? Tone? Rose spoke about it being 'impossible to argue with' because of the feelings it invoked in her – 'guilt' 'disgust' 'very strong feelings of anxiety'. As well as 'it told me it told me what I needed to do to feel good and I did it' to be 'comfort zone' 'safety security' by the AV. It seems that to avoid horrible emotions Rose follows whatever the AV says then also to feel comfort (which is missing?) she also follows the AV. There is also a dichotomy between the AV making her feel good about herself and feel bad about herself. When she follows it, it still negatively comments BUT it doesn't make her feel bad – it makes her feel good about herself. Successful maybe?

The emotions the AV makes Rose feel in the bad times are like those she described in childhood. This could give further evidence for the linking. Maybe its not so much a memory or flashback but a feelings associated with that time that the AV taps into?

Im noting the impact on her life (and the others). Their world completely revolves around the AN - all of these rules restricting everything 'you can't have yogurt and cheese on the same day or like there's like those weird kind of food rules like those rules that are in place that you can't Y after like 7:00 PM'

Rose mentioned perfectionism its 'always in the background'. The AV makes it 'pipe up' when she doesn't reach a target (potentially set by the AV?). Such interesting nuance! It gave the sense that perfectionism is something Rose has used when things weren't stable in childhood then has been transferred? Used by? Attributed to? The AV.

Im going to have a spare half hour for myself following interviews. They are becoming quite emotionally draining and I don't want this to affect any data. Keeping them on days where I am not in placement is helpful.

# Conceptual category development memo - Overwhelming Emotions

This category has emerged after making constant comparisons between all the aspects of the data including codes, memos, reflective journal, and categories etc. What emerged is how emotions are experienced by the participants in relation to their external world. It was important that this category stayed grounded in the data, as there may have been some assumption that there would be difficulty with emotions. However, using the reflective journal, memors, supervision and peer reflecting team, there were descriptions of experiencing emotions as overwhelming across the data. These were reinforced by focused codes created – 'emotions are too big', 'never-ending emotions' 'unable to cope with emotions' 'viscera feelings' 'emotions taking over'. These were all describing emotions that were experienced when discussing childhood experiences.

The concept is described by Alice and Sarah below:

Alice "my dad used to do when we were growing up was he would sit me and my sister down when we were definitely too young for this and he would tell us about terrible his life was and like how horrible my mum was and all these deep emotions and stuff that was like way too much because we were literally like way too young em so I guess I feel like emotions are like too big or like I don't know"

Sarah "I think it just ties into the fact that feelings were quite scary to me and I think sometimes I didn't like trust myself or worry yeah I think just because like I would feel things so deeply I then it would just kind of like I didn't trust that like my body would be able to calm itself down I think I kind of just thought that it would stay at that point"

Alice refers to the emotional abuse she experienced at home. Sarah was discussing her own emotions following discussing her family dynamics. . Its not just that emotions themselves are overwhelming but there is something about how the participants feel unable to trust themselves to cope with them. Experiencing emotions appear to be related to other internal concepts such as feeling out of control (possible link to feeling out of control). Experiencing emotions as overwhelming appears to be an aspect of feeling unsafe within themselves as they want to rid themselves of these emotions – they feel unmanageable /uncontrollable ?'internal unsafety'? Alice described emotions being 'too big' which fits with ideas of emotional dysregulation were people find it hard to manage their emotional experiences. This is reflected by Sarah but it also draws a bit on DBT ideas of an invalidating environment.

A relational process is appearing in this model. They both refer not only to their own emotions but the situation around them at home where they were experiencing abuse or chaotic environments (Potential link to feeling unsafe at home). The Av was discussed as being helpful in relation to overwhelming emotions. The AV appeared to give participants a way to manage their emotions by supressing or numbing them though engaging with AN behviours. This was described as being comforting and safe (Link to AV providing safety)

### Appendix R. Interview schedule

Before commencing the interview, revisit confidentiality and ensure the consent form is signed and the participant has read the participant information sheet. Participants are reminded that the interview is being recorded and transcribed and that they have the right to withdraw.

#### Introduction:

At the start of the interview, begin with: Thank you for taking part in this interview. The questions will be looking at your personal experiences and understanding of the anorexic voice, your childhood, and your emotions. I understand that these topics can be potentially distressing such as negative childhood experiences. Your participation is voluntary, and you can ask to stop the interview at any time. Likewise, if you disclose information during conversations with the researcher indicating that you or someone else is currently at immediate risk, e.g. current abuse, the researcher will need to act. At this point we will stop the interview and I will inform you of what the next steps will be.

There will be time at the end of the interview to ask any questions.

1. Lots of people with a diagnosis of anorexia nervosa talk about experiencing an internal voice related to the anorexia –

Is this something you have experienced?

- 2. Can you tell me more about what your experience of the anorexic voice has been?
  - a. What is this like for you?
  - b. What does it say to you?
  - c. Does it remind you of anyone?
  - d. Does it comment on any aspects of your life?
- 3. Can you tell me about what life was like for you when you were growing up?
  - a. Who was at home?
  - b. Can you describe your relationship with ...?
  - c. Can you give me an example of...?
  - d. How has that impacted on you as a person?
  - e. How has this impacted your experience of the voice?
- 4. Could you please tell me a bit more about what school was like for you?
  - a. What did you like/dislike?
  - b. How long were you at school?
  - c. Who do you remember from school?
  - d. How did you get on with peers at school?
- 5. Could you please tell me about any negative events you might have experienced?
- 6. Could you described if the anorexic voice impacted on your childhood in any way? If so, how?

- a. Could you tell me more about what life was like for you at the time?
- 7. Could you please tell me about how people in your family experience emotions?
  - a. What do you think about that?
  - b. How has that impacted on you as a person?

c. How, if at all, has this impacted on your experiences of emotions?

- 8. Would you be able to tell me about how you experience emotions?
  - a. How do you know you are feeling X?
  - b. Who would you turn to when you were upset?
  - c. How would you let others know how you were feeling?
  - d. What do you do when you are feeling X?
- 9. How does this fit with your eating disorder?
- 10. Would you be able to tell me about any important people in the journey of your anorexia?
  - a. Could you tell me a bit more about how this was experienced as positive/negative?
- 11. In your opinion, what events/influences might have precipitated the onset of your disorder?
- 12. Would you be able to describe to me what is helpful/unhelpful about the anorexic voice?
- 13. Is there something that you might not have thought about before that occurred to you during this interview?
- 14. Is there something else you think I should know that maybe I haven't asked about?
- 15. Do you have any questions for me?

Close, thank for time and move to debrief.

#### **General Prompts**

So you've said X and Y – when did your eating disorder start?	In what way?
When we talk about X what comes to mind?	Can you tell me more?
Isn't that interesting, what was that like for you?	What did you do then?
How did that feel?	Can you explain a bit more about that?"
That sound like it's a particularly important (experience/memory/issue etc), I'd like to hear a bit more about that	can you explain what you mean?
What private thoughts and feelings did you have after this experience?	Is there anything else about?
What did you not want anybody else to know?	Are you able to give me an example?
What were you feeling then/now?	what thoughts were you having then/now?
What is it you are feeling?	What feelings are attached to these thoughts?
What is the	Can you tell me more about those feelings of
	What are those feelings of <u></u>
	Can you tell me in your own words?
	Can you tell me in your own words?

# Appendix S. Reflective journal excerpts

### Excerpt one: Supervision with Research Supervisors before interviews started

"I felt very nervous for this meeting. I'm worried that I am going to be doing everything wrong or they'll see I'm a fraud – thank you imposter syndrome! It was helpful to have John and Marcs thoughts and amendments on the Qualtrics survey. They were kind and acknowledge that it was almost ready.

John and Marc spoke about the likelihood of participants getting angry with me during interviews. They wanted me to think about how that would affect me? What would I do? What if they complain to the university or to them? I hadn't considered this before, so it took me a bit by surprise. Better now than later. We have agreed to exchange numbers in case anything does happen and we need to get in contact quicker than email.

We had an interesting discussion about BMI choosing an inclusion criterion of 14 or 15. John explained that at this BMI a participant should eb well enough to cognitively engage. He described the 'Goldilocks' window. This led us on to discuss risk and if someone is still very unwell with their eating disorder what would we do? I feel very frustrated at having to recruit through social media as we don't have the system to support us e.g. nurses care co-ordinators.

Im excited to get started with the interviews. Today felt a bit rushed, I wonder if a full hour more regularly would be helpful."

### Excerpt two: Following first interview

"It was so much harder than I expected trying to turn off my clinician brain and be a researcher. I found myself summarising and validating throughout the interview. I wonder if it will be helpful to conduct the interviews on a day that I am not in placement. This might help separate these different roles.

Transcribing this interview was a helpful way of reflecting on this and recognising when I made made assumptions about what she was meaning from the data. Im going to have to get used to hearing myself back. I need to stick to my interview questions and reframe from putting my own judgement onto the experience. This will help me to hold in mind that it is not a clinical conversation or interview, it is research. In research there is no 'sounds like'. Channel Charmaz and 'bracket' it off. Any assumptions I make will make it harder to analyse and stay grounded to the theory"

### Excerpt three: *Following the fourth interview*

"I am finding it very difficult to listen to participants recalling abuse in the context of research. Some of these women have had such horrible experiences. I am managing to control my urge to empathise and validate whilst remaining warm. I am able to bracket off my clinical brain a lot easier now but Im still left thinking about the women afterwards. Im blown away by the openness from the women I have interviewed so far. I wonder what it is that allows them to talk so freely about their experiences.

I am noting that sexual abuse has come up a few times and each time the women have said they don't want to talk about it any further. I am mindful of risk so have reminded them of confidentiality. I wonder if this has shut them down? I do give them opportunity to share by using open questions.. Its an interesting point and I wonder if any other women will decide to share their experience of sexual abuse. I will discuss it with John and Marc during supervision to see what their thoughts are.

How does sexual abuse fit in? Why is this harder to talk about than other forms of abuse? How does this experience link to the AV?"

Excerpt four: Peer review discussion

"I feel so much better after discussing my coding with peers. It was useful reminding myself of the initial coding process - to remain grounded to what the line is saying. I feel like Ive run out of gerunds! Someone pointed out that I sometimes tend to use 'psychology' language – it might be helpful to try to tease out the words of the participant to reflect the code. I am mindful that I am not imposing my clinical knowledge onto the data set.

This was followed by supervision with John and Marc, during which data and codes were explored. I always feel nervous showing them my coding! Although Marc and I have spent time verifying coding previously by each coding a section and comparing. John suggested that I can whittle my focus codes down a bit more.

Whilst this is an exciting next step I need to ensure I use constant comparison during the development of focused codes to ensure they are grounded within the data and I have sufficient quotes to back up any links I made."